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Resumo

O conflito do Sahara Ocidental continua a ser um dos conflitos mais longos do mundo,
uma vez que o povo saharaui continua a lutar pela sua autodeterminagdo sob a
ocupacdo marroquina. Esta dissertacdo analisa a missdo de Olof Rydbeck, o primeiro
representante especial do Secretdrio-Geral das Nag¢des Unidas, Kurt Waldheim,
nomeado em 1976 para avaliar a situacdo no Sahara Ocidental. A missdao de Rydbeck
teve lugar numa altura critica apds a retirada de Espanha e a invasdao marroquino-
mauritana, levantando questdes importantes sobre a interven¢do da ONU e a eficacia
diplomatica.

Este estudo reconstitui os esforcos diplomaticos de Rydbeck e analisa o conteldo e as
implicacdes dos seus relatérios, que permaneceram em grande parte inacessiveis
durante décadas. Examina as consequéncias da sua missdo e avalia se as suas conclusdes
influenciaram a politica subsequente da ONU. Ao examinar os arquivos diplomaticos e
os documentos desclassificados disponiveis, esta dissertacdo langa luz sobre o papel de
Rydbeck na defini¢ao do envolvimento inicial da ONU no conflito do Sahara Ocidental.
O estudo situa igualmente a missao de Rydbeck no quadro mais vasto dos enviados
pessoais e especiais da ONU e da sua eficacia na mediacao de conflitos. As comparacoes
com enviados posteriores, realcam as limitacdes praticas e politicas enfrentadas pelos
mediadores da ONU. A dissertacdao argumenta que a missdao de Rydbeck foi uma
iniciativa diplomatica precoce e estabeleceu um precedente para o futuro envolvimento
da ONU no Sahara Ocidental, mas acabou por ndao conseguir alterar o curso do conflito
devido a constrangimentos politicos, influéncias externas e resisténcia marroquina.

Ao reavaliar a missdao de Rydbeck, este estudo contribui para a compreensao do conflito
do Sahara Ocidental e do papel das Nacdes Unidas nos esfor¢cos de descolonizacdo
diplomatica. Também fornece informacdes sobre os desafios da mediacdo internacional
em conflitos prolongados em geral.

Palavras-chave: Sahara Ocidental, Olof Rydbeck, Na¢Ges Unidas, autodeterminacdo,

mediacao diplomatica
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Abstract

The Western Sahara conflict remains one of the world's longest running conflicts, as the
Sahrawi people continue their struggle for self-determination under Moroccan
occupation. This dissertation examines the mission of Olof Rydbeck, the first Special
Representative of United Nations Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim, who was appointed
in 1976 to assess the situation in Western Sahara. Rydbeck's mission took place at a
critical time following Spain's withdrawal and the Moroccan-Mauritanian invasion,

raising important questions about UN intervention and diplomatic effectiveness.

This study reconstructs Rydbeck's diplomatic efforts and analyses the content and
implications of his reports, which have remained largely inaccessible for decades. It
examines the consequences of his mission and assesses whether his findings influenced
subsequent UN policy. By examining diplomatic archives and available declassified
documents, this dissertation sheds light on Rydbeck's role in shaping the UN's early

involvement in the Western Sahara conflict.

The study also situates Rydbeck's mission within the broader framework of UN Personal
and Special Envoys and their effectiveness in conflict mediation. Comparisons with later
envoys, highlight the practical and political limitations faced by UN mediators. The
dissertation argues that Rydbeck's mission was an early diplomatic initiative and set a
precedent for future UN involvement in Western Sahara, but ultimately failed to change
the course of the conflict due to political constraints, external influences and Moroccan

resistance.

By reassessing Rydbeck's mission, this study contributes to the understanding of the
Western Sahara conflict and the role of the United Nations in diplomatic decolonisation
efforts. It also provides insights into the challenges of international mediation in

protracted conflicts in general.

Key-words: Western Sahara, Olof Rydbeck, United Nations, self-determination,

diplomatic mediation
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Introduction

Presentation of the Theme

The Western Sahara conflict has been one of the most prolonged and complex in
modern international relations. The region, located in North Africa, was colonized by
Spain until 1975. Shortly before Spain's withdrawal, Morocco and Mauritania invaded
the territory, despite the Sahrawi people's right to self-determination, as enshrined in
international law. The situation has led to decades of instability, with numerous
diplomatic initiatives attempting to resolve the conflict, albeit with limited success.
One of the key figures involved in the early diplomatic efforts was the Swedish
Ambassador Olof Rydbeck, appointed in 1976 by United Nations Secretary-General
(UNSG) Kurt Waldheim as his Special Representative to the region. Rydbeck's mission
came at a critical juncture, just after Morocco’s military action in Western Sahara in
October 1975 and the subsequent occupation and settler introduction called "Green
March" in November which saw tens of thousands of Moroccans move into the territory.
His task was to assess the situation on the ground and provide the UNSG and the United
Nations Security Council (UNSC) with an independent evaluation of the evolving political
and military dynamics.

Despite Rydbeck’s central role in the early stages of the United Nations (UN)
involvement in the Western Sahara conflict, his reports and conclusions have remained
largely classified for decades. This lack of transparency, resulting in and combined with
the scarce academic attention given to his mission, has raised important questions
regarding the reasons for such secrecy and the impact of his work on the subsequent
actions of the UN. Furthermore, the continuation of the occupation remains at the heart
of global debates on self-determination, territorial integrity, and human rights and
makes the study of Rydbeck’s role particularly relevant.

This dissertation seeks to explore Olof Rydbeck’s mission, retracing his diplomatic steps,
assessing his reports, and analyzing the reasons behind their classification, as well as the

difficulties he encountered. The study will also examine how his work influenced the
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UN'’s actions and how the lessons learned from his mission could be applied to current

efforts for conflict resolution in the region.

Justification for Choosing the Topic

The decision to explore the role of Olof Rydbeck in the Western Sahara conflict is
grounded in the apparent lack of comprehensive scholarly work addressing his mission.
While much has been written about the involvement of subsequent Personal Envoys to
the region, such as James Baker Ill, Christopher Ross, and Horst Kéhler, Rydbeck's efforts
remain under-explored. This gap in literature is particularly striking given the pivotal
moment in history during which Rydbeck was tasked with assessing the situation, just
as the invasion of Western Sahara had turned it into a focal point of international
diplomacy.

Additionally, the classification of Rydbeck’s reports and the limited access to key
documents have hindered a deeper understanding of his contribution. The classification
of these materials raises significant questions. Why was the work of the first Special
Representative of the UNSG to Western Sahara not available for public scrutiny,
especially when the efforts of subsequent envoys have been widely accessible?

The scarcity of information about Rydbeck’s mission stands in stark contrast to the
extensive documentation available on later UN efforts in Western Sahara. This
discrepancy highlights a critical gap in the study of the conflict and offers an opportunity
for a more nuanced understanding of the role those individual diplomats and envoys
played in shaping the UN's approach to the region. As a result, the need to investigate
Rydbeck’s mission, its outcomes, and its influence on subsequent diplomatic efforts is
both timely and necessary.

Furthermore, the ongoing nature of the Western Sahara conflict, particularly in light of
the resumption of armed hostilities in 2020 (A/31/59_S/12002), underscores the
continued relevance of Rydbeck’s work. Despite the passage of nearly five decades, the
conflict remains unresolved, with Morocco’s occupation of Western Sahara persisting
and the Sahrawi people continuing to call for their legitimate right to self-determination.

Understanding the early efforts to mediate the conflict, as represented by Rydbeck’s
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mission, can offer valuable insights into why the international community has struggled

to resolve the issue and what lessons can be drawn for future peace efforts.

Objectives of the Thesis

The central aim of this thesis is to explore the role of Olof Rydbeck as the Special
Representative of the UNSG to Western Sahara and to assess the impact of his mission
on the UN’s response to the conflict. This will be achieved by:

1. Retracing the key steps of Rydbeck’s mission, including his assessment of the
situation on the ground and the recommendations he made to the UNSG.

2. Investigating the reasons behind the classification of his reports and the lack of
scholarly attention to his work. What factors may have contributed to this
omission, and how did it affect the UN’s approach to Western Sahara?

3. Evaluating the influence of Rydbeck’s mission on the actions taken by the UNSG
and the UNSC regarding Western Sahara. Did his reports and conclusions play a
role in shaping subsequent diplomatic efforts, or were they disregarded?

4. Providing a comprehensive account of the first phase of the Western Sahara
conflict, from 1975 to the late 1976s, through the lens of Rydbeck’s diplomatic
efforts.

5. Reactions and Comments in Diplomatic Cables

The behind-the-scenes reactions of diplomats from various countries to Olof Rydbeck's
appointment reveal a complex web of political analysis and strategic positioning.
Through the diplomatic cables published by Julian Assange, we gain insight into how
different countries viewed Rydbeck's role and the broader implications for the Western
Sahara conflict. These comments often contrast sharply with the public actions or official
stances of their governments, highlighting the tension between diplomatic rhetoric and
political action in relation to the situation in Western Sahara. Such cables provide an
invaluable perspective on the interplay between international diplomacy and national
interests, especially regarding the country’s most directly involved in the conflict.

The thesis will also aim to fill in the gaps in literature concerning the early years of the

Western Sahara conflict, using previously classified and newly accessible documents to
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reassess the role of the UN and its representatives. By investigating Rydbeck’s mission,
this study will contribute to a better understanding of the complexities of international
diplomacy in Non-Self-Governing Territories and the challenges faced by international

mediators in entrenched conflicts.
Methodology

Given the complexity and historical nature of the subject, the study employed a multi-
disciplinary approach, drawing on insights from international relations, legal studies,
history, and political science. This allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the
Western Sahara conflict and the role of individual diplomats in shaping international

responses to the crisis.

This thesis adopted a historical research methodology, focusing on the analysis of
primary and secondary sources. The primary sources include official UN documents,
diplomatic correspondence, and the reports produced by Rydbeck during his mission.
These documents have been examined to assess the scope of Rydbeck’s findings and to

explore the hypothetical reasons for the classification of his reports.

To ensure a comprehensive analysis, this study also made use of archival research in
multiple countries, including the UN, Sweden’s Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Algerian
National Archives, the Public Library of US Diplomacy (PLUSD-Wikileaks) and various
French and Spanish institutions. These archives provided valuable primary materials,
such as news articles, diplomatic cables, memos, and classified documents that have

become accessible.

Secondary sources include academic literature on the Western Sahara conflict, on the
role of Personal Envoys in international diplomacy, and the broader context of UN
peacekeeping efforts in Non-Self-Governing Territories. This literature helped
contextualize Rydbeck’s mission within the larger framework of international conflict
resolution and provide insights into the broader political and legal implications of the

Western Sahara conflict.
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For the language verification and proofreading the following software were used:

QuillBot Al, Grammarly, DeeplWriter.

In summary, this research combines conceptual discussion, archival research and
theoretical analysis to explore the untold story of Olof Rydbeck’s mission to Western
Sahara. By doing so, it will hopefully provide a new perspective on the conflict and
contribute to the broader academic discourse on international diplomacy and conflict

resolution.

PART 1 — The Western Sahara Conflcit and the UN

1. Historical and Political Context

1.1. Historical framework of the Western Sahara Issue

Western Sahara, designated as a Non-Self-Governing Territory by the United Nations on
December 31, 1963, under Chapter XI of the UN Charter [A/5514], remained a Spanish
colony until 1976, who is still Administrator de Jure until now. Spain’s role as the colonial
power over the territory is pivotal in understanding the ongoing conflict and its

implications for international law and human rights.

1.1.1. Colonial History of Western Sahara (Spanish rule, decolonization

process)

The colonial history of Spain in Western Sahara began in the late 19th century when
Spain took control of what was then known as Spanish Sahara during the "Scramble for
Africa." Unlike other European colonial powers in Africa, Spain did not establish an
extensive settler presence in Western Sahara, and the area remained largely neglected.
Spain's colonial governance was focused on resource extraction, primarily phosphate
mining and fishing, with little attention given to the development or welfare of the
Sahrawi population. The Spanish administration faced constant resistance from local

tribes and nationalist movements, but these efforts were often suppressed.

Spain’s initial control over the territory was primarily nominal, as the vast Saharan

landscape posed challenges for effective governance. By the mid-20th century,
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however, the increasing international pressure for decolonization and the rise of
nationalist movements in other African territories forced Spain to reconsider its
position. Throughout the 1950s and 1960s, Spain maintained a relatively isolated
position regarding international discussions on decolonization, while nationalist groups
within Western Sahara, such as the POLISARIO Front, began organizing for self-

determination.

Following the Second World War, the rise of nationalist sentiment had a destabilizing
effect on the European colonial powers. The UN eventually responded to the growing
demands for self-determination by adopting a resolution on decolonization in 1960

(UNGA, 1960).

In 1966, as part of the UN's broader push for decolonization, the General Assembly
passed Resolution 2229 (XXI), calling for a referendum on self-determination for the
people of Western Sahara. Spain, however, resisted this process, citing Morocco's
territorial claims over the region. This refusal would set the stage for further tensions

and negotiations, which would escalate in the coming decade (Hodges, 1983).
1.1.2. Emergence of the POLISARIO Front and Saharawi resistance

To avoid portraying the emergence of the POLISARIO Front as a sudden or ahistorical
reaction, it i1s essential to situate its formation within two interconnected historical
processes. First, Morocco’s internal political trajectory in the post-independence era set
the stage for regional conflict. The failure of the Istiqlal Party to seize power and push
the country toward a bourgeois-democratic transformation left a political vacuum that
was filled by King Hassan II, whose consolidation of power relied heavily on French
support. As Vermeren (2016) notes, this reorientation of Morocco’s domestic and foreign
policy culminated in the monarchy’s increasing dependence on phosphate revenues and
geopolitical expansionism. The defeat of the ALN (Armée de Libération Nationale) in
the Western Sahara in 1958 during joint Franco-Spanish operations, and Morocco’s
subsequent withdrawal from the radical Casablanca Group by 1961, reflect this
pragmatic, authoritarian turn. Rather than a revolutionary liberation agenda, Rabat

pursued territorial claims driven by state survival and rent-seeking logic.
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Second, profound socio-economic changes within Western Sahara itself, largely induced
by the development of the phosphate industry, catalyzed a generational rupture and the
politicization of Sahrawi society. The Fosfatos de Bu-Craa S.A. mining project, while
providing few jobs and institutionalizing labor discrimination, generated considerable
foreign investment, urbanization, and state-driven modernization. According to Santos
(2024), this abrupt shift from a nomadic to a wage-dependent and urbanized society
created a class of educated, underemployed youth increasingly disillusioned with both
colonial rule and the Sahrawi notables. These dynamics gave rise to a new political
subjectivity among Sahrawi—students, workers, and former nomads—who found in
Frente Popular para la Liberacion de Saguia el Hamra y Rio de Oro (POLISARIO Front),
not only a vehicle of anti-colonial resistance but also an expression of their demand for

sovereignty, autonomy and dignity in the face of Moroccan colonial ambitions.

By the early 1970s, as anti-colonial movements gained momentum across Africa, the
Sahrawi people, under the leadership of the POLISARIO Front, began organizing their
own struggle for self-determination. POLISARIO was founded in 1973 and quickly
became the leading force advocating for the independence of Western Sahara.
POLISARIO’s founding mission was to oppose both Spanish colonial rule and the
encroachment of Morocco, which had long considered the region a part of its historical

territory (Hodges, 1984).

POLISARIO’s resistance was characterized by guerrilla warfare, and it increasingly
gained the support of the Sahrawi population, who were disillusioned with Spain’s
neglect of their rights. The Spanish government, in turn, found itself embroiled in internal
confrontations with the growing liberation movement, and by the mid-1970s, it was clear

that the situation was untenable (Cobo & Menéndez, 2006).

Spain’s decision to withdraw was complicated by the fact that Morocco, along with
Mauritania, laid claim to the region. Morocco’s territorial ambitions, particularly under
King Hassan II, who sought to regain what he called "historically Moroccan" lands,
created an international diplomatic crisis. After two years of guerrilla warfare, Spain
agreed to undertake a U.N.-sponsored referendum, scheduled to be held in the territory in
1975. In preparation for the process, Spain conducted a census in 1974 of the population

present in the territory.
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Meanwhile, Morocco had asserted its own claims to sovereignty over the Western Sahara.
In response to the ongoing territorial conflict, on December 13, 1974, the United Nations
General Assembly formally requested an advisory opinion from the International Court
of Justice (ICJ). The court was asked to determine whether, at the time of Spain’s
colonization, the Western Sahara was considered ferra nullius—a legal term meaning "no
man's land," indicating a territory that belonged to no sovereign state. Additionally, if the
territory was not terra nullius, the ICJ was asked to assess the nature of the legal ties that

existed between the Western Sahara and both the Kingdom of Morocco and Mauritania.

On October 16, 1975, the ICJ issued its advisory opinion. The court found no evidence to
suggest that Western Sahara was territorially sovereign under either Morocco or
Mauritania. However, it did recognize the presence of certain legal ties between the
Moroccan sultan and some of the tribes residing within the territory, although these ties
did not extend to all of the indigenous groups. Similarly, the court acknowledged the
existence of specific rights, including some related to land use, which constituted legal

links between the Western Sahara and a distinct Mauritanian entity.

Despite these findings, the ICJ ultimately determined that none of the legal ties identified
were sufficient to override the application of United Nations General Assembly
Resolution 1514 (XV), which pertains to decolonization. Specifically, the court
emphasized that these ties did not negate the principle of self-determination, which

remains fundamental to the process of decolonizing the Western Sahara.

Despite the ICJ’s support for the principle of self-determination, King Hassan II of
Morocco chose to interpret the opinion as an affirmation of Morocco’s claims to the
territory. Thus, King Hassan launched what has come to be known as the “Green March,”
during which an estimated 350,000 Moroccan citizens marched across the border into the
Western Sahara; at the same time, the government began to build up its troops on the
territory. The United Nations Security Council and General Assembly passed resolutions
denouncing the Green March and calling for the withdrawal of all the participants in the
march (HRW, 1995). However, on October 31, 1975, additional Moroccan forces
entered the Western Sahara, and armed conflict broke out between the POLISARIO Front
and the Moroccan Royal Armed Forces (FAR).
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...The symbolism and advance publicity of the Green March suggest that it was
an orchestrated event, designed to deflect attention away from the armed
invasion of Western Sahara, which actually began a week earlier, on 31 October

1975 (Teresa, 1991).

POLISARIO, meanwhile, continued to push for decolonization and self-determination
through both military and diplomatic channels. The Sahrawi liberation movement
attracted significant international attention, and despite Spain’s refusal to accept the
demands for a referendum, the movement gained recognition among African nations,
culminating in the eventual proclamation of the Sahrawi Arab Democratic Republic

(SADR) in 1976 (Ferreira, 2018).

1.1.3. Invasion and occupation by Morocco and Mauritania in 1975

King Hassan Il of Morocco, undeterred by the ICJ’s ruling, started the armed invasion of
Western Sahara, on 31 October 1975 and launched the “Green March” on November 6,
1975, sending about 350,000 Moroccan civilians into Western Sahara. This mass
mobilization was framed as a peaceful demonstration of Morocco’s territorial claim, but
in reality, it was a calculated act of occupation with the immediate transfer of settlers
to change the demographics and occupy houses and land. In the weeks that followed,
part of the Sahrawi population fled the region in fear, seeking refuge in neighboring
Algeria. The POLISARIO Front moved to defend the Sahrawi people's right to self-

determination, escalating the situation into open warfare (Zoubir, 1996 ).

On November 14, 1975, pressured by Morocco and ready to wash its hands from the
Western Sahara issue, Spain signed the Madrid Accords, a tripartite agreement between
Spain, Morocco, and Mauritania. This agreement marked Spain's official withdrawal
from the territory, but it was deeply controversial and not legal. Under the terms of the
Madrid Accords, Spain ceded administrative control of Western Sahara to Morocco and
Mauritania, in exchange for economic concessions, including a 35% stake in the Bou-
Craa phosphate mines and fishing rights. The Accords did not, however, take into
account the wishes of the Sahrawi people, who had long been advocating for self-

determination nor were they recognized by the United Nations (Barata, 2012)
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The Madrid Accords were criticized by many in the international community, particularly
because they ignored the Sahrawi people’s right to self-determination, enshrined in
international law. While Morocco and Mauritania were content with the arrangement,
the POLISARIO Front immediately rejected it, viewing it as a violation of their

independence struggle.

In response to the escalating crisis in Western Sahara, then UNSG Kurt Waldheim (1972-
1981) proposed a plan aimed at resolving the situation. His initiative built upon
recommendations from the UN Visiting Mission Report, which had been published
shortly before. Waldheim noted that Spain was open to UN involvement, including the
possibility of the organization assuming temporary administration of the territory until
a mechanism could be established to gauge the will of the Sahrawi population. He
engaged in diplomatic consultations, expressing optimism that the involved parties

would acknowledge the UN’s pivotal role in facilitating a solution.

Although never formally documented by the United Nations, the Waldheim Plan’s
details became publicly known in 2005, thanks to André Lewin, who had served as
Waldheim’s spokesperson and special envoy. In late October 1975, Lewin was
dispatched to present the “Waldheim Plan” ("WESTERN SAHARA: THE REFERENDUM
THAT WASN'T AND THE ONE THAT STILL MIGHT BE," 1998) and from 3 to 6 of November

he visited Morocco and Algeria to brief on Spain’s position.

20. The Secretary-General undertook a mission to the area, between 25 and 28
October 1975. During the mission, he met with King Hassan 11 at Marrakesh,
President Moktar Ould Daddah at Nouakchott, President Houari Boumediene at
Algiers and President Arias Navarro of Spain at Madrid. The Secretary-General
subsequently sent Mr. Andre Lewin, his Special Envoy, to Marrakesh and Algiers,
from 3 to 6 November, to brief both Morocco and Algeria on the position of Spain.

(UNGA, 1977)

The initial draft suggested appointing a UN High Commissioner, sending a small team of
30 UN officials, and deploying a peacekeeping force of around 700 personnel. A later

revision proposed that the UN would temporarily govern the territory, manage Spain’s
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withdrawal, oversee the return of displaced Sahrawi, and facilitate negotiations among
stakeholders to determine how a consultation process should be conducted—including
voter identification and the framing of referendum questions. Additionally, the UN
would be responsible for ensuring a political climate conducive to free expression,
allowing the people of Western Sahara to voice their aspirations without external

coercion (Ruiz Miguel, 2020).

Despite its ambitions, the plan never materialized. Morocco strongly opposed it, having
already secured a covert agreement with Spain’s interim head of state, Prince Juan
Carlos, who governed between 30 October and 22 November 1975, just before his
coronation. This behind-the-scenes diplomacy undermined the UN's efforts, rendering
the Waldheim Plan ineffective and reinforcing Morocco’s push to consolidate control

over the region (Ruiz Miguel, 2020).
1.1.4. The UN's Role: Mediation, Peace Efforts, and the Stalemate

The United Nations played a significant, though ultimately ineffective, role in trying to
resolve the conflict. From 1976 onwards, the international community recognized the
SADR and acknowledged the rights of the Sahrawi people to self-determination.
However, international interventions, especially from France and the United States,
often tilted in favor of Morocco, reflecting strategic interests in the region (Ferreira,

2018).

In 1991, after years of failed diplomatic efforts, the UN brokered a ceasefire agreement
between Morocco and the POLISARIO Front, known as Military Agreement No. 1
(MINURSO, n.d.). This agreement created the United Nations Mission for the
Referendum in Western Sahara (MINURSQO), which was tasked with overseeing the voter
registration process and preparing for a referendum on the region’s future status.
Despite these efforts, the referendum has never taken place due to disagreements over
voter eligibility, primarily driven by Morocco’s efforts to alter the demographic makeup

of the territory (Barata, 2012).

The role of MINURSO has been fraught with difficulties from the beginning. Morocco

imposed barriers to the free and fair implementation of the referendum, including

28



restrictions on the movement of MINURSO personnel and journalists, as well as
surveillance and control measures. Additionally, Morocco engaged in a strategy of
demographic engineering, encouraging the settlement of Moroccan civilians in the
occupied territory and thus skewing the voter roll in its favor (Barata, 2012; Ferreira,

2018).

Despite these challenges, the UN and various mediators, including Morocco’s traditional
allies USA and France, continued to advocate for a peaceful solution. However, by the
early 2000s, it became clear that the situation had reached a diplomatic impasse. The
failure of successive UN peace initiatives, coupled with Morocco’s increasing
militarization of the territory, has left the Sahrawi people with few options but to

continue their struggle for self-determination.

In 2020, after decades of stagnation, the conflict was reignited when Moroccan forces
attacked peaceful Sahrawi protesting for over two weeks in the Guergarat Buffer Zone,
an area under the supervision of MINURSO ("The end of the ceasefire in Western
Sahara," 2021; UNSG, 2021). This attack, on November 13, 2020, marked the end of the
ceasefire and the resumption of active hostilities, highlighting the continued volatility of
the region and the failure of the international community to broker a lasting peace

(Teixeira, 2022).

The role of Spain in the ongoing conflict cannot be understated. Its colonial legacy,
marked by an extractive relationship with the territory, laid the foundation for the
subsequent occupation and resource exploitation by Morocco. Despite its formal
withdrawal from Western Sahara in 1976, Spain’s involvement in the Madrid Accords
and its subsequent economic interests in the region make it complicit in the ongoing
occupation. The failure to support the Sahrawi people’s quest for independence —
coupled with its ongoing economic relations with Morocco — reflects Spain’s refusal to

confront its colonial past and present and its responsibilities under international law.

Spain’s actions, or lack thereof, during the decolonization process that was never
implemented, and the subsequent period of Moroccan occupation have had long-lasting

consequences for the people of Western Sahara. While Spain was quick to abandon its
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colonial responsibilities, the political and economic arrangements it made with Morocco
in the 1970s continue to affect the region's geopolitical dynamics, ensuring that the

Sahrawi struggle for self-determination remains unresolved.

Spain remains to this day administrator de iure and therefore part of the conflict

responsible for the decolonization of the territory.

2. Who are the Personal Envoys of the UN Secretaries-General

and how did they come about?

The UN tried unsuccessfully to frame the decolonization of Western Sahara, as seen
above. Independently of its outcomes, its role followed the standard procedures the
organization adopted for similar contexts, which included mandates for Special Envoys.
The role of Personal Envoys within the UN has evolved as a strategic response to the
complexities of international diplomacy and conflict resolution. These envoys are
appointed by the UN Secretary-General to address specific issues or conflicts, leveraging
their expertise and diplomatic acumen to facilitate dialogue and propose solutions.

Personal Envoy of the Secretary-General Definition:

A Personal Envoy is assigned to undertake a mission in pursuance of an initiative
of the Secretary-General, without a specific mandate of the Security Council or

the General Assembly (UNTER, 2006).
2.1. Creation and Evolution of the Personal Envoy Role

The concept of appointing special representatives or envoys has deep historical roots,
originating from the early days of diplomacy when individuals were assigned temporary
mandates to represent states or international organizations in sensitive matters. Within
the United Nations framework, the first significant instance occurred in 1948, when the
General Assembly appointed Swedish diplomat Folke Bernadotte as the UN Mediator in
Palestine. This established an important precedent for using special envoys to navigate

complex international conflicts (llan & College, 1989).

Over time, the role of Personal Envoys has evolved to encompass a wide range of

mandates, including conflict prevention, peace negotiations, and responses to global
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challenges such as climate change and health crises. These envoys enable the UN to
engage with pressing international issues in a flexible and dynamic manner, often
focusing on specialized diplomatic efforts that supplement broader multilateral

strategies.

A pivotal analysis of the role of special representatives and envoys is found in Preventing
Deadly Conflict by Cyrus R. Vance and David A. Hamburg (1997). Commissioned by the
Carnegie Corporation of New York as part of the Carnegie Commission on Preventing
Deadly Conflict, the report examines the function of UN special representatives and
Personal Envoys, emphasizing their role in early warning, fact-finding, and mediation
efforts. It highlights how the UN Secretary-General deploys Personal Envoys to facilitate
diplomatic dialogue and oversee peacekeeping missions, particularly in post-Cold War
conflict resolution settings. Unlike traditional diplomats, these envoys often operate
under challenging conditions with limited resources, yet their contributions remain vital
in brokering peace negotiations, maintaining diplomatic channels, and ensuring the

implementation of international agreements (Vance, 1997).

The role of UN Special Representatives has expanded significantly, moving beyond fact-
finding missions to include mediating crises and overseeing peacekeeping operations.
By the mid-1990s, the use of Special Envoys had quadrupled under the UN Secretary-
General, illustrating the increasing demand for preventive diplomacy. However, the
deployment of such envoys remains a contentious issue, with some UN member states
favoring a more restrained approach while others advocate for a proactive and engaged
UN presence. The Preventing Deadly Conflict report also highlighted the need for greater
regional cooperation, emphasizing collaboration with organizations such as the
Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) and the Organization of

African Unity (OAU) to address regional conflicts effectively.

To enhance the UN's diplomatic effectiveness, Vance and Hamburg recommended the
establishment of a dedicated Fund for Preventive Action to support envoy missions.
They argued that increasing financial resources, refining recruitment procedures, and
implementing more structured training programs would improve the overall efficacy of

Special Representatives. The report further stressed the importance of granting the UN
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Secretary-General greater flexibility in deploying envoys, describing their work as a cost-
effective and low-risk strategy for preventing conflicts before they escalate into

widespread violence.

Beyond the UN, regional organizations have also strengthened their reliance on Special
Envoys. The African Union (AU) has progressively adopted a more active mediation role,
appointing approximately twenty Special Envoys, representatives, and mediators to
manage conflicts across the continent. The AU’s Peace and Security Council (PSC)
Protocol (Protocol Relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security Counsil of the
African Union, 2002) outlines the responsibilities of its bodies in conflict prevention,
mediation, and post-conflict reconstruction, ensuring a structured approach to

peacemaking efforts.

Most AU envoys and representatives are appointed by the AU Commission, which
oversees conflict resolution initiatives. However, the appointment of the Special Envoy
for Western Sahara was an exception, as it required formal approval from the AU Peace
and Security Council rather than being solely decided by the Commission. This
structured method allows the AU to deploy experienced diplomats and mediators to
volatile regions, ensuring a coordinated and strategic response to conflicts throughout
Africa (Morini, 2018). The increasing use of Special Envoys by both the UN and the AU
highlights their critical role in global diplomacy, reinforcing the necessity for strong

institutional backing and strategic coordination in conflict resolution efforts.

The role of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG), who serves as
the head of MINURSO, should not be confused with that of the Personal Envoy of the
Secretary-General (PESG) for Western Sahara. The distinction between these roles
evolved over time. In 1976, Olof Rydbeck was appointed as the first Special
Representative for Western Sahara, tasked with mediating the conflict between
Morocco and the POLISARIO Front before the formal establishment of a UN

peacekeeping mission.

Following the 1991 ceasefire agreement, the United Nations introduced two separate

roles: the SRSG, responsible for overseeing MINURSO's operations, and the PESG,
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created in 1997 to focus specifically on political negotiations. Unlike the SRSG, the PESG
does not operate within MINURSQ's structure but instead engages in diplomatic efforts

to find a lasting resolution to the conflict.

This distinction is not exclusive to Western Sahara, as the UN has appointed Special
Envoys and Personal Envoys in other conflicts, including Syria and Myanmar. However,
in the case of Western Sahara, the simultaneous existence of both roles is particularly
significant, reflecting the UN’s dual approach of maintaining a peacekeeping mission

while actively seeking a diplomatic solution through high-level mediation.

Given the similarities between Olof Rydbeck’s mandate and that of the PESG in the Case
of Western Sahara, this study will compare his role to that of the Personal Envoys rather
than the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Western Sahara. Although
Rydbeck was officially designated as a Special Representative, his primary function—
mediating between the parties in search of a political solution—aligns more closely with
the mandate of the PESG than with that of the SRSG, whose role is focused on

overseeing MINURSO rather than direct negotiations.

The role of Special Envoys extends beyond Western Sahara, demonstrating the UN’s
adaptability in addressing diverse global conflicts. By examining cases of success and
failure, we can assess their relevance and the challenges of conflict resolution through

these appointments.

Alvaro de Soto was appointed Personal Envoy of the UN Secretary-General Javier Pérez
de Cuéllar in 1990 to mediate El Salvador’s civil war, a 12-year-long conflict between the
government and the Farabundo Marti National Liberation Front (FMLN). Despite deep
political and ideological divisions, de Soto successfully led negotiations that culminated
in the Chapultepec Peace Accords, sighed on January 16™, 1992, in Mexico City. His
success was based on his ability to maintain impartiality, build trust among the
conflicting parties, and leverage international pressure to ensure compliance with the
agreement (UN, 2015). A key factor in de Soto’s success was his insistence on
institutional reforms rather than just a ceasefire. The Chapultepec Peace Accords (UNSC,

1992) included reductions in military power, the creation of a new civilian police force,
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and the transformation of FMLN from a movement into a legal political party. Unlike
many peace agreements that failed due to weak implementation, de Soto helped secure
UN-backed mechanisms to oversee the transition, ensuring that both sides adhered to
their commitments. His role in bringing international legitimacy to the process and
maintaining a strict negotiation framework was instrumental in ending the war and
preventing a return to large-scale conflict. De Soto’s mediation in El Salvador is widely
considered a success, as it resulted in a relatively stable democratic transition. While the
country later faced issues of crime and gang violence, the political settlement was held,
marking one of the most effective UN peace interventions in Latin America. His
approach—focusing on structural reforms, power-sharing, and long-term
implementation—became a model for future UN peace processes (Holiday & Stanley,

1993).

Matthew Nimetz was appointed Personal Envoy of the UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan
in 1999 to resolve the long-standing name dispute between Greece and North
Macedonia (UNSG, 1999). The conflict, which began after Macedonia declared
independence from Yugoslavia in 1991, revolved around Greece’s objection to the use
of the name “Macedonia”, which it claimed implied territorial ambitions over its
northern province of the same name. For nearly two decades, Nimetz engaged in
continuous mediation, maintaining dialogue between the two sides despite repeated
setbacks. His persistence and ability to balance diplomatic sensitivities ultimately led to
the Prespa Agreement, signed on June 17, 2018, which officially changed the country’s

name to North Macedonia and ended the dispute (Ker-Lindsay, 2019).

Nimetz’s success was due to his patience, impartiality, and deep legal expertise, which
allowed him to craft compromises that satisfied both parties. Unlike many failed
negotiations, where mediators are changed frequently, Nimetz remained in his role for
20 years, ensuring continuity and trust-building with Greek and Macedonian leaders
(UNDPPA, 2019). The Prespa Agreement not only resolved the name issue but
apparently unlocked North Macedonia’s path to NATO and EU membership. While the
country is a full member of NATO since 2020 (NATO, 2024) the European Union

membership is still not a reality (Milchevski, 2013). His approach—focusing on
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incremental progress, diplomatic engagement, and strategic timing—proved essential

in breaking one of Europe’s most enduring deadlocks.

Nimetz’'s mediation is widely seen as one of the most successful UN diplomatic efforts
in Europe, as it resulted in a peaceful resolution to a complex historical dispute without
military conflict. His work demonstrated the importance of sustained engagement,
neutrality, and strong international backing, making him one of the most effective UN

Personal Envoys in recent history.

The United Nations Secretary-General (UNSG) has frequently appointed envoys to
mediate in global conflicts, yet many of these missions have struggled to achieve lasting
peace. One recent example is the failed mission of Maria Angela Holguin in Cyprus.
Appointed by UNSG Antdnio Guterres in 2023, her mandate was to reignite reunification
talks between Greek and Turkish Cypriots. However, her efforts collapsed as political
divisions and entrenched positions blocked any meaningful negotiations ("Our View:

The puzzle of UN envoy’s failed mission to restart talks," 2024).

Myanmar has also seen repeated failures of UN envoys. Over the years, various
representatives, including Noeleen Heyzer, appointed by UNSG Anténio Guterres in
2022, have been unable to facilitate dialogue between the military junta and opposition
forces. The deep-rooted political crisis, intensified by the 2021 coup, rendered her

mission ineffective, mirroring past unsuccessful UN interventions (Thelrrawaddy, 2022).

In Libya, multiple UN envoys have resigned amid worsening instability. Ghassan Salamé,
appointed by UNSG Anténio Guterres in 2017, stepped down in 2020 after failing to
prevent escalating violence and foreign interference (Wintour, 2020). His successor, Jan
Kubis, faced similar challenges before leaving his post in 2021. Despite the UN Security
Council later approving Abdoulaye Bathily as a new envoy, peace efforts in Libya remain

fragile ("UN Security Council approves new Libya envoy," 2021).

Syria’s long-standing conflict also proved insurmountable for UN envoys. Staffan de
Mistura, appointed by UNSG Ban Ki-moon in 2014, struggled to broker a political
transition amid continued fighting and international disagreements. He resigned in

2018, citing frustration with the lack of progress in peace negotiations ("UN Syria envoy

35



Staffan de Mistura to step down next month," 2018). His departure echoed the fate of
previous envoys, highlighting the broader challenges the UN faces in resolving

entrenched conflicts.

These cases demonstrate the persistent difficulties faced by UN envoys, often due to
intractable political divisions, foreign interference, and lack of enforcement
mechanisms. While their missions are intended to foster dialogue and peace, the failure
to secure lasting solutions underscores the limitations of diplomatic efforts in deeply

polarized conflicts.

2.2. Personal Envoys of the Secretary-General for Western Sahara

THE SITUATION CONCERNING WESTERN SAHARA”?
Decision

At its 2826th meeting, on 20 September 1988, the Council proceeded with the

discussion of the item entitled "The situation concerning Western Sahara".
Resolution 621 (1988) of 20 September 1988
The Security Council,

Having heard a report by the Secretary-General of the United Nations on his
mission of good offices,”® pursued jointly with the current Chairman of the
Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the Organization of African Unity,
in conformity with General Assembly resolution 40/50 of 2 December 1985, with

a view to settling the question of Western Sahara,

Taking note of the agreement in principle given by the Kingdom of Morocco and
the Frente Popular para la Liberacién de Saguia el-Harnra y de Rio de Oro on 30
August 1988 to the joint proposals of the Secretary-General and the current

Chairman of the Organization of African Unity,
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Anxious to support these efforts with a view to the holding of a referendum for
self-determination of the people of Western Sahara, organized and supervised by

the United Nations in co-operation with the Organization of African Unity,

I. Decides to authorize the Secretary-General to appoint a Special representative

for Western Sahara;

2. Requests the Secretary-General to transmit to it as soon as possible a report
on the holding of a referendum for self-determination of the people of Western
Sahara and on ways and means to ensure the organization and supervision of
such a referendum by the United Nations in co-operation with the Organization

of African Unity.

Adopted unanimously at the 2826th meeting

72 Resolutions or decisions on this question were also adopted by the Council in
1975.

73 See Official Records of the Security Council, Forty-third Year, 2826th meeting
(UNSC, 1988)

The excerpt from Seddon’s(1987) book reproduces a 1988 UN Chronicle article
detailing Héctor Gros Espiell’s appointment as the UN Special Representative for
Western Sahara. Tasked by Secretary-General Javier Pérez de Cuéllar, Gros Espiell was
to implement a UN-OAU peace plan featuring a ceasefire and a self-determination
referendum. The plan, agreed to by Morocco and the Polisario Front in Geneva (August
1988), granted him exclusive authority to oversee troop withdrawals, prisoner

exchanges, and referendum preparations, with UN observers ensuring compliance.

Though Gros Espiell's mission (1988-1990) established the framework
for MINURSO (launched in 1991), the referendum was thwarted due to Morocco’s
oppositions on voter eligibility criteria and reluctance to withdraw its troops. Seddon’s

citation of the UN Chronicle underscores the gap between the UN’s initial diplomatic
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efforts and the conflict’s unresolved status today—highlighting how Gros Espiell’s work,

while foundational, ultimately failed to break the political deadlock.

After the cease-fire agreement the United Nations has appointed various Personal
Envoys to facilitate negotiations and resolve the Western Sahara conflict and to address
the lack of implementation of the referendum due to Morocco’s opposition. Below is a
list of these envoys, the Secretaries-General who appointed them, their achievements,

and the challenges they faced.
2.2.1. James Baker’s Appointment and Mediation

On March 18, 1997, James Baker was appointed as the Personal Envoy of the UN
Secretary-General by Kofi Annan, tasked with facilitating negotiations between
Morocco and the POLISARIO Front to resolve the ongoing Western Sahara conflict. His
mandate was to break the deadlock in the implementation of the 1988 UN Settlement
Plan, which had remained stalled due to disputes over voter eligibility for the long-
promised referendum on self-determination (Zoubir, 1996 ).

Baker led four rounds of direct negotiations in 1997, marking the most significant
mediation efforts in years. The first and second rounds, held in London (June and July)
resulted in a compromise proposal concerning the identification process for eligible
voters. The third round, in Lisbon (August), focused on humanitarian issues,
particularly the fate of prisoners of war and political detainees. The fourth round, held
in Houston (September), produced what became known as the Houston Agreements,
which reinitiated the voter identification process in December 1997 and established a
framework for further negotiations (Zoubir, 1996 ).

Despite initial progress, the conflict remained unresolved. In 2000, Baker resumed
mediation with three more rounds of talks in London (May and June) and Berlin
(September), involving Morocco, POLISARIO, and neighboring Algeria and Mauritania.
However, no substantive progress was made. Morocco resisted any referendum that
included independence as an option, while POLISARIO insisted that self-determination
through a fair vote was non-negotiable. Frustrated with the lack of movement, Baker
suggested that alternative solutions be explored, but neither party agreed to shift

their stance (Bell, 2019).
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In 2001, Baker drafted a Personal Envoy’s Draft Framework Agreement, also known as
Baker Plan I. The plan proposed granting Western Sahara limited autonomy under
Moroccan sovereignty. POLISARIO rejected the proposal outright, condemning it as an
attempt to integrate the territory into Morocco without true self-determination (Bell,
2019). No formal negotiations took place in 2001 or 2002, as tensions persisted over
the plan.

Baker presented a revised proposal, known as Baker Plan Il, in January 2003. This plan
included provisions for an autonomous Western Sahara Authority during a transition
period, leading to a referendum within four to five years. The final referendum would
offer three options: full independence, autonomy under Moroccan sovereignty, or
complete integration into Morocco. While POLISARIO accepted the plan, Morocco
rejected it outright, unwilling to accept the possibility of independence appearing on
the ballot (Bell, 2019). This impasse ultimately led Baker to resign as Personal Envoy
in June 2004, marking the end of his seven-year effort to mediate a lasting solution to
the conflict.

Baker’s mediation efforts were considered a partial success in fostering dialogue but
ultimately failed to achieve a definitive resolution due to Morocco’s firm opposition
to a genuine self-determination referendum and POLISARIO’s unwillingness to
relinquish the legitimate right to self-determination of the Sahrawi People. His
resignation signaled a shift in UN strategy, with subsequent envoys facing similar

obstacles in efforts to resolve one of the world’s longest-running conflicts.
2.2.2. Alvaro de Soto (2004-2005)

After James Baker's resignation as Personal Envoy in 2004, there was an attempt to
merge the responsibilities of the Personal Envoy with those of the Special
Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG). At the time, Alvaro de Soto was serving
as the SRSG for Western Sahara, and the UN Secretary-General sought to expand his
mandate to include the diplomatic role of the Personal Envoy. In Report S/2004/827,

paragraph 3, the Secretary-General stated:

3. Following my Personal Envoy’s resignation, | requested my Special

Representative for Western Sahara, Alvaro de Soto, to continue to work with the

39



parties and the neighboring States towards a just, lasting and mutually
acceptable political solution, which would provide for the self-determination of

the people of Western Sahara. (UNSG, 2004)

However, the Polisario Front refused to recognize de Soto as Personal Envoy, only
accepting himin his existing capacity as Special Representative. This rejection reaffirmed
the distinction between the two roles, preventing the UN from consolidating the
responsibilities of mediation and peacekeeping under a single official. As a result, the
position of Personal Envoy remained vacant until the appointment of Peter van Walsum
in 2005, restoring the traditional separation between MINURSO's leadership and the

diplomatic mediation process(Ruiz Miguel, 2020).
2.2.3. Peter van Walsum’s Appointment and Mediation

On 29 July 2005, UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan appointed Peter van Walsum as the
Personal Envoy for Western Sahara, tasking him with reviving negotiations between
Morocco and the POLISARIO Front. His mandate focused on facilitating direct dialogue
between the parties, who remained entrenched in their opposing positions on the long-

standing territorial conflict.
2.2.4. Challenges in Negotiations (2006-2007)

In 2006, Van Walsum struggled to initiate direct talks, despite encouragement from both
the UN Security Council and Kofi Annan. POLISARIO refused to engage in new
negotiations unless they focused on the previously promised referendum on self-
determination. In April 2006, King Mohammed VI of Morocco proposed granting
autonomy to Western Sahara under Moroccan sovereignty, but POLISARIO rejected this,
insisting that a referendum including full independence was the only acceptable

resolution (Mundy, 2009).

By 2007, the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 1754 (30 April 2007), calling on the
parties to resume negotiations. Under Van Walsum’s mediation, a first round of direct
talks took place in June 2007, followed by a second round in August 2007. However, no
significant progress was made, as Morocco remained firm on its autonomy plan, while

POLISARIO insisted on full independence. By the end of the year, POLISARIO began
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considering a return to armed conflict, expressing frustration over the lack of progress

(Mundy, 2009).
2.2.5. Manhasset Negotiations and Controversy (2008)

Between 7-9 January 2008, Van Walsum mediated another round of negotiations in
Manhasset, New York. The discussions failed to bridge the fundamental disagreements,
leading to another session on 18-19 March 2008, again without results. Growing
frustrated, POLISARIO accused Van Walsum of bias after he publicly stated that
independence for Western Sahara was unrealistic, given the political and geopolitical
dynamics of the conflict. In May 2008, POLISARIO officially demanded his replacement,

citing a loss of confidence in his mediation (Mundy, 2009).

2.2.6. End of Van Walsum’s Tenure (2009)

The UN did not record any armed clashes in 2009, but the negotiations remained at an
impasse. On 14 January 2009, Peter van Walsum was formally replaced. His time as
mediator was marked by stalled negotiations, growing frustration from POLISARIO, and
the ongoing Moroccan insistence on autonomy rather than full self-determination.
Despite multiple rounds of talks, Van Walsum’s mediation failed to produce a lasting

resolution to the conflict.

His tenure exemplifies the complexities of UN diplomacy in protracted conflicts, where
entrenched positions and regional power dynamics make negotiations exceptionally
difficult. While he attempted to move the process forward, his statements regarding the
unlikelihood of independence ultimately undermined his credibility with POLISARIO,

contributing to his eventual replacement.

2.2.7. Christopher Ross’s Appointment and Mediation

Christopher Ross was appointed as the UN Secretary-General's Personal Envoy for
Western Sahara on 14 January 2009 by SG Ban Ki Moon, replacing Peter van Walsum. In
February 2009, Ross initiated a series of separate meetings with the conflicting parties

to mediate the long-standing conflict between Morocco and POLISARIO (Zoubir, 2010).
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Ross facilitated direct negotiations between the two parties in Duernstein, Austria, on
10 and 11 August 2009. While both sides expressed satisfaction with the discussions and
committed to future negotiations, substantive progress remained elusive, as Morocco
maintained its autonomy proposal while POLISARIO insisted on a referendum with the

option of independence (Mundy, 2009; Zunes & Mundy, 2010).

Throughout 2010, Ross continued his mediation efforts, leading three rounds of
negotiations between Morocco and POLISARIO. The first set of informal talks took place
near New York in February 2010 but ended without progress (Zunes & Mundy, 2010).
Subsequent meetings in New York on 8-9 November 2010 were overshadowed by the
Moroccan military’s intervention and dismantling of Gdeim lzik, the peaceful Sahrawi
protest camp near El Aaiun, leading to fatalities, arbitrary arrests and torture cases
(Lourengo, 2017). Despite these tensions, additional negotiations were held between 16
and 18 December 2010, though no consensus was reached. The parties agreed to

continue talks in 2011 (Zunes & Mundy, 2010).

In 2011, Ross mediated further negotiations, beginning with a round of talks in Malta in
March, followed by three additional rounds in New York in May, June, and July.
However, these meetings did not yield a breakthrough, as both parties continued to

reject each other’s proposals (Western Sahara, 2022).

Mediation efforts persisted into 2012, with Ross overseeing negotiations outside of New
York in March. This round of talks included participation from Mauritania and Algeria,

expanding the diplomatic scope of the discussions (Besenyd et al., 2022).

In 2016, Ross continued shuttle diplomacy, facilitating negotiations between Morocco
and POLISARIO in February, September, and again from late November to early
December. However, no resolution was achieved. He faced Moroccan accusations of
bias, limited progress, and growing Moroccan hostility toward his mandate. Morocco
severed relations with the UN in 2016 after Ban Ki-moon referred to Morocco’s presence

in Western Sahara as an "occupation."(Mohsen-Finan, 2016)

By 2017, mediation efforts had ceased, and no further negotiations were recorded. In

October 2017, Ross was succeeded by Horst Koéhler as the UN Secretary-General's
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Personal Envoy for Western Sahara Conflict and Peace in Western Sahara: The Role of
the UN's Peacekeeping Mission (MINURSO). (n.d.). Reino Unido: Taylor & Francis
(Besenyd et al., 2022).

2.2.8. Horst Kohler’s Appointment and Mediation

Horst Kohler was appointed as the UN Secretary-General's Personal Envoy for Western
Sahara in October 2017 by SG Antdnio Guterres, succeeding Christopher Ross (Western
Sahara, 2022). Unlike his predecessor, who struggled with prolonged deadlocks in
negotiations, Kdhler sought to revive the peace process by bringing the parties back to

the negotiating table.

In December 2018, Kdhler successfully organized the first direct negotiations between
Morocco and the POLISARIO Front in six years. The Geneva talks, held on 5 and 6
December, were attended by representatives from Morocco, the POLISARIO Front,
Algeria, and Mauritania. Although no concrete agreements were reached, the meeting
was significant in re-establishing diplomatic engagement between the conflicting parties

(Miles, 2018).

In June 2018, Kohler undertook a significant visit to the occupied territories of Western
Sahara. From 28 June to 1 July, he visited El Aaiun, Smara, and Dakhla, where he met
with local authorities, civil society organizations, and business representatives. During
these meetings, Kéhler was briefed on the social, economic, and human rights situation
in the region. He also engaged in discussions on the use of natural resources, a key point
of contention in the conflict. Kéhler emphasized the importance of progress toward a
just and lasting political solution that would ensure the right of self-determination for

the Sahrawi people (MINURSO, 2018).

Koéhler continued his mediation efforts in 2019, leading another round of negotiations
in Geneva on 21 and 22 March. The discussions aimed at finding a mutually acceptable
political solution to the conflict but once again resulted in limited progress, as both
parties remained firm in their positions—Morocco insisting on autonomy under its
sovereignty and the POLISARIO Front advocating for a referendum on self-

determination (Besenyd et al., 2022; USDS, 2019).
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Despite his efforts, Kbhler resigned from his position in May 2019, citing health reasons.
However, a senior POLISARIO official claimed that his resignation was also due to
political pressure from France and Morocco, particularly at the United Nations Security
Council. Reports suggest that Kohler faced challenges in maintaining neutrality and
resisted efforts to be pressured into endorsing Morocco’s autonomy plan (Thomas-
Johnson, 2019) His departure was seen as a setback to the UN-led peace process, as he
had managed to rekindle dialogue between the disputing parties after years of

diplomatic stagnation.

Following his resignation, the post remained vacant for over two years, further stalling
negotiations on the Western Sahara issue. The International NGO Oxfam expressed
deep concern that during this prolonged vacancy, all political negotiations—revitalized
by Kohler after six years of stagnation—had completely stalled, contributing to the
collapse of the 29-year ceasefire between the Polisario Front and Morocco. Oxfam also
warned that the diplomatic void left by the absence of a new Envoy played a role in the
worsening security situation, threatening regional stability and the safety of Sahrawi

refugees (OXFAM, 21-05-2021).
2.2.9. Staffan de Mistura’s Appointment and Actions

Staffan de Mistura was officially appointed as the UN Secretary-General’s Personal
Envoy for Western Sahara on 6 October 2021, by SG Antdnio Guterres, filling a position
that had remained vacant for over two years following Horst Kéhler's resignation in 2019
(UN, 2021). His appointment was met with mixed reactions. While the POLISARIO Front
welcomed his designation, Morocco emphasized its commitment to maintaining its
sovereignty over Western Sahara and insisted that negotiations should focus on its

autonomy plan.

Morocco’s Permanent Representative to the UN, Hilal, stated that Morocco “has
solemnly reaffirmed” its constant position for “autonomy, nothing but autonomy” as a

solution for the conflict.” (Toutate, 2021).

In January 2022, de Mistura embarked on his first regional tour, visiting Rabat in

Morocco, the Sahrawi refugee camps in Tindouf, Algeria, Nouakchott in Mauritania, and
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Algiers in Algeria to discuss possible paths for negotiations (Western Sahara, 2022).
During his visit to Sahrawi refugee camps, he was met with demonstrations from
Sahrawi activists demanding a referendum on self-determination, reinforcing the deep

divisions between the parties involved (Ouabou, 2022).

Throughout 2023, de Mistura faced significant challenges in reviving direct talks
between Morocco and the POLISARIO Front. In June, he visited Rabat and Algiers again

in an attempt to resume negotiations without any success (UNSG, 2023).

During a visit to the occupied territories of Western Sahara in September 2023, de
Mistura met with members of the Association for Surveillance of Wealth and
Environmental Protection in Western Sahara, who presented a report detailing human
rights violations and the plundering of Sahrawi natural resources by the Moroccan
occupation. The report cited figures and statistics on resource exploitation, referencing
rulings from the European Court of Justice affirming that Morocco has no legal right to
Western Sahara's resources and that the POLISARIO Front is the legitimate
representative of the Sahrawi people. The association also criticized the United Nations
for its inaction in enforcing international legal rulings and addressing the worsening
human rights situation in the occupied territories. They highlighted the military and
security blockade imposed on Sahrawi cities, the suppression of peaceful protests during
de Mistura’s visit, and the deteriorating socio-economic conditions leading to Sahrawi

youth migrating to the Guerguerate buffer zone despite the risks involved (SPS, 2023).

Despite his difficulties in initiating direct negotiations, de Mistura held diplomatic
consultations with key UN Security Council members, including Russia, the United
States, and France. Russia has historically taken a neutral stance but has been critical of
Western intervention in African conflicts. His meeting aimed to secure broader
international backing for renewed peace talks. Similar discussions took place with
the United States, where the Biden administration reaffirmed its support for Morocco’s

autonomy plan, and France, which also backs Rabat’s position (UNSG, 2023).

In February 2024, de Mistura’s visit to South Africa sparked further controversy. The

Moroccan government expressed outrage, viewing the visit as interference in its
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internal affairs and an attempt to garner international support for the POLISARIO Front’s
position. Morocco argued that the visit risked undermining the UN-led negotiation
framework and further polarizing the conflict (Kasraoui, 2024). South Africa has long
supported the POLISARIO Front, and Morocco perceived de Mistura’s engagement with
South African officials as siding with their stance rather than maintaining a neutral
mediating role. The controversy surrounding this visit added another layer of diplomatic
tension ("Hilale: Marruecos no permitird nunca que su Sdhara se convierta en un terreno

de maniobra diplomatica de Sudafrica," 2024).

In March 2024, de Mistura attempted to organize another round of informal discussions,
but no concrete steps towards negotiations materialized. Meanwhile, tensions
escalated as the POLISARIO Front accused Morocco of increasing military operations
near the buffer zone. In April, the UN released a statement reaffirming de Mistura’s
commitment to finding a just and lasting solution for Western Sahara, but skepticism

remained high among analysts and regional actors.

Sergey Lavrov met with Staffan de Mistura, on March 11, 2024, in Moscow to discuss
the Western Sahara settlement, MINURSO’s role, and regional stability, emphasizing

a UN-backed, fair resolution (MFARF, 2024).

A major controversy arose in October 2024, when Mistura was exploring a territorial
partition of Western Sahara as a possible solution. Neither Morocco nor the Polisario
Front accepted the proposal (REUTERS, 2024). POLISARIO Front, viewed the partition as
a violation of the Sahrawi people’s right to self-determination and refused it
categorically (FRANCE24, 2024). While Morocco’s official stance remained centered on
an autonomy framework rather than partition. “The sovereignty and territorial integrity
of Morocco concerning Western Sahara will never be part of any negotiation or

agreement,” Moroccan Foreign Minister Nasser Bourita stressed (Newsroom, 2024).

Staffan de Mistura’s tenure as UN Personal Envoy for Western Sahara has been marked
by diplomatic deadlock, political pressures, and increased regional instability. While he
has made efforts to revive negotiations, the stark divide between Morocco’s insistence

on autonomy and the Polisario Front’s demand for a referendum continues to prevent
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meaningful progress. His future in the role remains uncertain amid growing criticisms

and geopolitical challenges.
2.2.10. Summary Assessment of Personal Envoys

The role of the Personal Envoys has been crucial in keeping the Western Sahara issue on
the international agenda, but their efforts have often been undermined by the
conflicting positions of Morocco and the POLISARIO Front. While some, such as James
Baker, proposed plans for resolution, their inability to gain acceptance from both sides
underscores the limitations of their mandates. Ban Ki-moon’s tenure as Secretary-
General highlighted these challenges, with Morocco’s expulsion of UN staff following his

"occupation” comment illustrating the political sensitivities surrounding the issue.

The history of Personal Envoys in Western Sahara highlights the persistent diplomatic
deadlock caused by Morocco’s refusal to include independence as an option and the
Polisario Front’s insistence on a self-determination referendum. Despite efforts by
figures such as James Baker, Peter van Walsum, Christopher Ross, and Horst Kéhler, no
UN envoy has successfully bridged the fundamental divide between the two parties.
Baker’s mediation produced the most structured proposals, but Morocco rejected any
referendum that included independence. Subsequent envoys faced similar roadblocks,
with Morocco maintaining its autonomy framework while Polisario and its allies pressed
for a legal and internationally recognized referendum as had been initial agreed by the
parties. Kohler's resignation in 2019, reportedly due to political pressure, left the

negotiation process in complete stagnation for over two years.

Since his appointment, Staffan de Mistura has struggled to restart direct negotiations,
encountering geopolitical pressures, diplomatic challenges, and regional tensions. His
tenure has seen failed attempts at informal consultations, accusations of bias, and the
controversial proposal of partition, which was widely rejected. Additionally, his visit to
South Africa in 2024 angered Morocco, which saw it as interference favoring Polisario’s
position. The collapse of the 29-year ceasefire in 2020 and the continued diplomatic

impasse raise concerns about a potential return to armed conflict, making it evident that
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without significant international pressure or a change in strategy, Western Sahara’s

status will remain unresolved for the foreseeable future.

Despite these challenges, the continued appointment of Personal Envoys demonstrates
the international community’s recognition of the need for a resolution, even if tangible

progress remains elusive.

Part 2- Rydbeck and Western Sahara

1. The Rydbeck missions: the 1975-1976 Conjunture and review

of his mission and parallel events during his visits

« Pendant la premiere phase de sa mission. Mr. Rydbeck a vu le territoire - sans
la population. Pendant la deuxiéme phase, il a vu la population - sans le
territoire. » Ambassador Rahal of Algeria (Meeting between SG and Ambassador

Rahal of Algeria on 15 April 1976 at 6 p.m.)
1.1. Olof Rydbeck's appointment

Before his appointment, Olof Rydbeck was no stranger to the Western Sahara issue and
Morocco's strategy of invading the territory. In 1975, he represented Sweden as
President of the Security Council. As mentioned in a US diplomatic cable of 17 October
1975 (USMUN, 1975d), Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim called de Piniés, the Spanish
ambassador to the UN, concerned about the Western Sahara issue. De Piniés discussed
the issue with the US representative to the UN, Moynihan, advising a dual approach and
immediate action by the Fourth Committee so that the decolonization process could be
dealt with in the General Assembly. In the same cable, de Piniés told the US ambassador
that he would consult the President of the Security Council, who at the time was none
other than Olof Rydbeck, on the issue. In de Piniés opinion the Security Council should
become seized since the planned Moroccan invasion represented a threat to security

and peace under articles 34, 35 and 73 of the UN Charter.?

! https://www.un.org/en/about-us/un-charter/full-text
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Just one day later, in another US diplomatic cable (USMUN, 1975c), de Piniés informed
the US Political Counsellor that Security Council President Rydbeck had stated that the
Security Council would take no action on the Spanish Sahara issue unless a formal
meeting was requested. In the same cable, de Piniés said that Morocco's "irrational
plans" were a threat to peace and that the Security Council would tell the Moroccans

"not to commit an idiocy". De Piniés did not say which countries he had consulted.

According to the US cable, De Piniés had prepared a letter asking the Security Council to
take action, although it was not certain that he had Madrid's permission to do so. He
also consulted with members of the Security Council and the 24th and 4th Committees.
Morocco's Permanent Representative to the UN, Slaoui, also consulted widely with
members of these UN mechanisms. Rydbeck confirmed that he had met with de Piniés

on 17 October.

The security council had a meeting on 20 October to discuss the situation in Spanish
Sahara (USMUN, 1975b) following a meeting on the 18 October between Piniés and
Rydbeck and another meeting between SG Waldheim and Rydbeck. (USMUN, 1975a).

On the same day and the following ones, the Security Council addressed Spain's
complaint about Morocco's plan for a 350,000-person march into Western Sahara, a
Spanish-administered territory, which Spain claimed threatened international peace.
The Council heard statements from Spain, Morocco, and Mauritania, followed by Spain’s

reply.

In the discussion of the Security Council on October 21, 1975, Spain raised serious
concerns regarding Morocco’s actions in Western Sahara, revealing that a powerful
Moroccan army was stationed at the border, indicating preparations for an imminent
invasion. Additionally, Spain provided evidence that Moroccan operatives, referred to
as “terrorists,” were systematically laying mines across the territory, as confirmed by
the destruction of Spanish military vehicles. Spain insisted that the UN Security Council
urgently send a mission to investigate Morocco’s true intentions and appealed for
immediate action to prevent a military escalation. Despite these warnings, Morocco

continued to justify its actions by claiming that the Moroccan people were merely “going
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back home,” dismissing accusations of an invasion. However, the presence of a military
force at the border and preemptive mine warfare directly contradicted this assertion.
Spain also made it clear that it bore no responsibility for the consequences of Morocco’s
march and reaffirmed its duty to protect the Sahrawi people against external aggression.

(USMUN, 1975e)

Morocco’s historical justification for its claim over Western Sahara was equally dubious,
as it asserted that the region had been part of Morocco for “thousands of years.”
(USMUN, 1975e). This claim, however, is historically indefensible, given that no modern
nation-state has existed in its current form for such a duration, particularly not the
Moroccan kingdom, which was only formally consolidated in the 20th century. Prior to
colonial rule, Western Sahara was inhabited by independent Sahrawi tribes with cultural
ties to both Morocco and Mauritania but was never legally part of either state. The
International Court of Justice (ICJ) had already ruled on October 16, 1975, that while
historical links existed, Morocco had no sovereignty over the territory and that the
Sahrawi people had the right to self-determination(ICJ, 1975). If Morocco’s argument
were accepted, it would set a dangerous precedent where any nation could claim vast
territories based on vague historical affiliations. The discussion at the UN demonstrated
the growing tension between Spain’s insistence on decolonization under international
law and Morocco’s aggressive expansionist approach, which combined both diplomatic

maneuvering and military coercion to secure control over Western Sahara.

Mauritania’s stance during the UN Security Council discussions reflected its own
territorial ambitions while also aligning with Morocco to an extent. Mauritania's
representative, El Hassen, stated that Western Sahara was an "integral part" of
Mauritania and that its reunification with his country was necessary. He also
acknowledged Morocco’s claim over northern areas of the territory and did not oppose
the planned Moroccan march. While advocating for a solution under the UN framework,
Mauritania emphasized its historical and cultural connections with the Sahrawi people.
However, Spain and other members of the Security Council viewed Mauritania’s position
as an attempt to divide the region between Morocco and Mauritania rather than

supporting the Sahrawi people's right to self-determination. This dual claim complicated
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the situation further and demonstrated that the contest over Western Sahara was not
merely a bilateral conflict between Spain and Morocco but a broader struggle involving

regional actors with competing interests (USMUN, 1975e).

Costa Rica then introduced a draft resolution (UNSC, 1975b) which was withdrawn
approving resolution 377 on the 22 October 1975 requesting the Secretary-General to
enter into consultations with the parties concerned on the Western Sahara

question.(UNSC, 1975a).

None of the UN committees visited the Spanish Sahara after the Security Council
meeting, nor did they do anything to prevent the Moroccan military action of 31 October
1975, when itinvaded the Sahrawi territory from the north in preparation for the "Green

March" of 6 November. (Hodges, 1983).

In November 1975, Ambassador Andrés Cérdova of Ecuador assumed the presidency of

the Security Council.

Morocco had not yet confirmed its agreement with the proposal of Rydbeck as UNSG

Special Representative on the 30th of January? .

On the 31st of January 1976, UNSG Kurt Waldheim appointed ambassador Olof Rydbeck
as his Special Representative for the Spanish Sahara (UNSG, 1976) being his mandate in
accordance with General Assembly Resolution 3458(1975-1976), 1975) entrusting him
with an exploratory mission to find out the opinions of the parties involved - the States
as well as the populations -, how they viewed this act of self-determination and also how
they viewed the question of self-determination and the involvement of the United
Nations ("UN Archives Series-0904 Box-50 File 5-Transcription de la Conférence de

presse par S.E. L'Ambassador Olof Rydbeck," 1976).

Eighty-six days had passed since the “Green March” and no assistance nor protection
had been extended by the UN to the Sahrawi population that had been forced to flee
and establish refugee camps in neighboring Algeria. During December 1975 and January

1976 over 40.000 Sahrawi, mostly women, children and elderly had to flee from the

2 See annex SFM DOC 5
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Moroccan bombings that included napalm, white phosphorous and fragmentation

bombs (Beristain et al., 2012; Cobo & Menéndez, 2006; Reviejo, 2021).

Humanitarian aid was provided by the Algerian Red Crescent and the Office of the UN
High Commissioner for Refugees, through the supply of supplementary aid consisting of

medicines, tents, clothing, powdered milk, flour and food for children (ICRC, 1976).

As we can see from the documents? provided by the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs
the preparation of Ambassador Rydbeck’s mission had been the subject of a situation

analysis by Swedish diplomats in the countries concerned.
1.2, Rydbeck’S first mission to Western Sahara

Ambassador Olof Rydbeck commenced his exploratory mission to Western Sahara on
February 4, 1976, departing New York with a team provided by the United Nations. The
mission aimed to assess the conditions for self-determination in the region, as mandated

by General Assembly Resolution A/RES/3458(XXX)[B](UNGA, 1975)

r to arrive in El Asidn oa 6 February.

departure, ized that at this
sl m#unplmmymncw-mmtbﬂ
Y ral on his return.

Figure 1- UN Archives Series 0904, BOX 49, File 5 ACC. DAG 1/5.3.2.8
On the same day (February 4th) Egyptian Vice President Hosni Mubarak was in his fourth
visit to Algeria where he met with Algerian President Houari Boumediene. Algerian

media coverage of the visit was minimal, omitting details such as Mubarak's subsequent

3 See the documents in the Appendix section
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travel to Fes and his return to Cairo. Notably, they did not report on Mubarak’s
statement that his mediation efforts had opened the door to direct contacts among the
parties involved in the Western Sahara conflict (Morocco, Mauritania, and the Saharan
people), or that leaders like Boumediene, King Hassan Il of Morocco, and President Ould
Daddah of Mauritania were found to be “supple.” The media continued to portray
Morocco and Mauritania as aggressors and emphasized that the only issue requiring

mediation was between them and the Saharan people (USEA, 1976c).

Upon arrival in Madrid on February 5, Rydbeck held consultations with Spanish officials,
including José Maria de Areilza, the Minister for Foreign Affairs, and Alfonso Osorio, the
Minister of the Presidency, along with senior officials from their respective ministries.
These discussions centered on Spain’s decolonization policies and the practical
challenges of implementing the resolution ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG
1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden),
Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Appointed on the Basis of General

Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning the Question of Western Sahara," 1976)*.

On February 7, Rydbeck traveled to El Aaiun in Western Sahara, where he met
representatives of the tripartite administration. This included Rafael de Valdés (Spain),
Driss Bensouda (Morocco), and Abdallahi Ould Cheikh (Mauritania), alongside Driss
Basri, the Moroccan Secretary of State for the Interior, and Driss Slaoui, Morocco's
Permanent Representative to the United Nations. He also engaged with the Djema’a,
the local representative assembly established by Spain, including its president and
members (Hultman, 1977; "Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG 1/5.312.8-Report to
the Secretary-General by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden), Special Representative
of the Secretary-General, Appointed on the Basis of General Assembly Resolution 3458

(XXX) Concerning the Question of Western Sahara," 1976; USEM, 1976).

According to information from the U.S. Embassy in Madrid, Moroccan authorities

reportedly suppressed a small Polisario demonstration in El Aaiun during UN envoy

4 See also annex 30
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Rydbeck’s visit, while simultaneously orchestrating a pro-Moroccan rally involving
approximately 3,000 Sahrawi, allegedly coerced into participation. The Saharan issue
had become a rallying point for Spanish political opposition, which has added it to its list
of grievances against the government. The recent dismissal of Colonel de Viguri, the
acting Spanish military governor in the Sahara—due to his disagreement with official
policy—was seen by both the U.S. Embassy and defense attachés as a sign of growing
dissatisfaction within the Spanish military over the nature of Spain’s withdrawal from

the territory.(USEM, 1976)

Between February 8 and 9, Rydbeck conducted further meetings in El Aaiun with
representatives from Spain, Morocco, and Mauritania, as well as various Saharawi
community groups. These included representatives of the Front for Liberation and Unity
(FLU) and the National Union Party of the Sahara (PUNS), as well as individuals who
claimed to have defected from the POLISARIO Front. Notably, during these meetings,
Mohamad Saddah, a phosphate worker at Bu-Craa handed Rydbeck a letter supporting
the POLISARIO Front and sought his protection, highlighting the tension in the region
("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG 1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General by
Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden), Special Representative of the Secretary-General,
Appointed on the Basis of General Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning the
Question of Western Sahara," 1976).

The other incident, more serious, occurred in El Aaiun when a member of a
delegation of workers of from the phosphate mining enterprise at Bucra’a,
handed me surreptitiously a letter supporting the Polisario Front. His action was
observed by other members of the group and led to his seeking my protection,
asserting that his life was in danger. Since it was evident that the man was in a
state of acute fear, | acceded to his request and arranged for him to be placed

under the protection of the Spanish authorities. At his insistence, he was later
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escorted to the airport and flown out of the Territory by the Spanish authorities.

Olof Rydbeck in his report> (USEA, 1976b)

In a February 9 meeting with the U.S. Embassy in Algiers, Moroccan Chargé d’Affaires
Mouline reaffirmed Morocco’s fait accompli position by insisting that the Western
Sahara issue was closed and that the sole purpose of mediation was to facilitate Algeria’s
withdrawal; however, the embassy remained cautious, noting the absence of tangible
evidence supporting Mouline’s hints at flexibility and observing that other Moroccan

diplomats continued to adopt a rigid, uncompromising line (USEA, 1976a).

During diplomatic exchanges with the US embassy on the same day in Rabat, Moroccan
officials made clear that recognition of Moroccan sovereignty over Western Sahara was
a non-negotiable precondition for talks with Algeria. In return, Morocco hinted at the
possibility of joint exploitation of the region’s natural resources, notably the phosphate
deposits in Western Sahara (Bu-Craa) and iron reserves in Algeria’s Gara Djebilet region.
As noted in a U.S. Embassy cable from Rabat, Morocco explicit framing of the conflict in
economic terms, suggesting that control over resource wealth was a central strategic
objective behind its uncompromising stance on sovereignty. It was marked that it was
the first time that the Moroccans raised the possibility of sharing Sahara wealth. The
question of formal border ratification remained notably absent from Moroccan

statements, reflecting domestic resistance to any concession.

The Moroccan Government announced that Bu Craa Phosphate excavation had
resumed on February 9. (USER, 1976d). Parallel diplomatic efforts were made by
Abdallahi Ould Boye, Mauritania’s Minister of State for Human Resources and Islam,
who returned to Nouakchott on February 9 after visiting several Arab countries,
including Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, the United Arab Emirates, Qatar, and Jordan.
The discussions were centered on the Western Sahara issue, and Ould Boye reported
strong support among Arab leaders for the Mauritanian and Moroccan positions. These

leaders reportedly affirmed that Mauritania had fulfilled its duty by asserting

5> See Appendix 33 e
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sovereignty over Wadi Dhehab and that lasting peace in the region hinged on the
international recognition of the Mauritanian-Moroccan agreement on the division of the

territory.(USEN, 1976b).

On February 10, Rydbeck visited Dakhla (formerly Villa Cisneros), where he met Colonel
Enrique Balenilla, the local Spanish representative; Hamoud Ould Abdel Wedoud, the
Mauritanian Governor; and Taibbel Arbi, a local Moroccan representative. Meetings also
included fourteen members of the Djema’a, among them three deputies to the Spanish
Cortes ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG 1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General
by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden), Special Representative of the Secretary-
General, Appointed on the Basis of General Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning
the Question of Western Sahara," 1976).

Meanwhile on the same day in an interview with La Stampa, in Paris, Moroccan
Information Minister Benhima reaffirmed that Morocco would not tolerate any
discussion of self-determination or territorial changes, insisting that sovereignty over
Western Sahara was non-negotiable. He emphasized that while Morocco was open to
economic cooperation with Algeria, including sharing the region’s riches, it would not
indefinitely accept what he termed the “illegal occupation” of its territory by Algerian

and Polisario forces concentrated in Mahbes (USER, 1976c).

According to Mauritanian press accounts, Rydbeck was received in Dakhla by a crowd of
local Sahrawi who, in a display interpreted as political endorsement, expressed their

willingness to "rejoin the mother country, Mauritania."(USEN, 1976b).

The U.S. Embassy Cable from Nouakchott on the Mauritanian Administration in Western
Sahara outlines statements made by Hamoud Ould Abdel Wedoud, the Mauritanian
governor overseeing the provisional administration of Wadi Dhehab (Rio de Oro), as
reported in a government-controlled newspaper. Wedoud asserted that Mauritania had
assumed full administrative control over Dakhla, including police, security, education,
and essential public services, with Spanish and Moroccan personnel withdrawing. Health
services, telecommunications, and utility infrastructure were in the process of

transitioning to Mauritanian control.
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Wedoud emphasized efforts to address logistical challenges, notably the provisioning of
food and basic goods to the local population, citing shipments organized by the
Mauritanian government and humanitarian aid from the Red Crescent. The state import

agency, SONIMEX, had also established a branch in Dakhla to ensure regular supplies.

Regarding the visit by Rydbeck to Dakhla, Wedoud described it as productive, stating
that the Sahrawi population had expressed clear support for integration with their
respective "mother countries"—Mauritania for Wadi Dhehab and Morocco for Saguia
el-Hamra—reflecting the post-Madrid Accords understanding between Morocco and

Mauritania (USEN, 1976a).

On the following day, February 11, Rydbeck visited Smara, Western Sahara’s second-
largest town where he also met local authorities and nine members of the Djema’a and
other representatives of Sahrawi societal sectors ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG
1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden),
Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Appointed on the Basis of General

Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning the Question of Western Sahara," 1976).

In parallel, on February 11, the Secretary-General of the OAU, William Eteki Mboumoua,
arrived in Rabat as part of a fact-finding mission concerning regional tensions over
Western Sahara. In his arrival statement, Eteki expressed the OAU’s intent to gather
information that might support peace efforts. However, during his February 12 meeting
with Moroccan Foreign Minister Ahmed Laraki, the Moroccan government reaffirmed
its refusal to reconsider the status of Western Sahara or accept external pressure,
asserting that its issue with Algeria stemmed from Algerian interference rather than a
bilateral conflict. The Moroccan communiqué emphasized Morocco's surprise at reports
of Eteki's encounter with Polisario representatives in Algiers. Eteki allegedly claimed he
had been misled by Algerian hosts into believing he would meet the press, and upon
unexpectedly meeting Polisario members, he declined to engage with them. In a
February 13 editorial in Maroc Soir, the semi-official daily’s editor, Ahmed Alaoui,
offered a detailed rebuttal to Algeria’s communiqué of February 11 concerning Eteki’s
visit. He claimed Arab mediators uniformly supported Morocco’s position and accused

Algeria of attempting to shift the narrative from aggression to a legal dispute. Alaoui
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concluded that arbitration was unfeasible, affirming Morocco's sole right to set terms

for negotiations (USER, 1976e).
1.3. Impact of Rydbeck’s first mission

On February 12, Rydbeck concluded his fieldwork in Western Sahara with a
comprehensive inspection of El Aaiun before returning to Madrid. According to
Moroccan press, Rydbeck’s final act involved a walk through El Aaiun, reportedly
arranged to demonstrate public support for Moroccan sovereignty. He declined to
comment publicly on the outcome of his mission, stating he would report directly to

Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim.(USER, 1976e).

In Madrid, he held further discussions with José Maria de Areilza and other senior
officials of the Ministry of the Presidency ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG
1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden),
Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Appointed on the Basis of General
Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning the Question of Western Sahara," 1976). In
this meeting he highlighted the importance of the help and information he received
form the Spanish Military representatives in the occupied territories “especially as the
testimony of others had been carefully orchestrated and was evidently part of a well-

planned scheme organized by the Moroccans.” ©

On February 12, Moroccan newspaper Al Alam accepted the notion of joint exploitation
of Tindouf region, contingent upon its return to “Moroccan sovereignty”, and rejected
foreign involvement in Moroccan phosphate or Algerian Tindouf iron ore ventures,

calling on Algeria to annul its Soviet agreement for the development of Gara Djebilet.

In anticipation of the upcoming European Community Political Directors’ Meeting
scheduled for February 16—17 in Luxembourg, Ambassador Meisch of Luxembourg—
representing the EC Presidency—met with U.S. Assistant Secretary of State for European

Affairs, Richard Hartman. This meeting formed part of a broader series of general

6 Appendix: see Meeting with H.E. Mr. Jose Maria Areilza (Minister of Foreign Affairs held at the Foreign
Ministry, Madrid on 13 February 1976 at 11.30 a.m.
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consultations between the United States and the European Community the Western
Sahara conflict and related diplomatic initiatives have featured prominently given the

timing and focus of the subsequent EC meeting.

Hartman conveyed to Ambassador Meisch that the situation was reported to have
stabilized somewhat after intense clashes in late January, during which Morocco
captured the Polisario base at Amgala and subsequently advanced to Tifariti, Bir Lahlu,
and Mahbes without apparent resistance by February 10. Despite continued

propaganda efforts from Algiers, Polisario had yet to declare a provisional government.

Diplomatic mediation attempts had intensified. Arab states, particularly Egypt and Syria,
dispatched senior envoys to Algiers, Rabat, and Nouakchott in an effort to broker peace.
However, these efforts had yielded no tangible results. Discussions of a joint Arab
League—OAU mediation initiative were also emerging. Meanwhile, the United Nations
Secretary-General had appointed Swedish diplomat Ambassador Rydbeck as Special

Envoy for Saharan affairs; his fact-finding mission to the region had recently concluded.

The central unresolved issue remained whether Algeria would accept a compromise on
the principle of self-determination—possibly through a face-saving arrangement—or
whether it would persist in supporting insurgent activity as part of its broader rivalry

with King Hassan II’'s Moroccan regime, despite weak support in the Arab world.

On the ground, both Morocco and Mauritania continued to entrench their civil and
military control over their respective zones of Western Sahara. Mauritania, militarily
weaker than the other actors, remained vulnerable to sporadic Polisario guerrilla

attacks.

The United States government reaffirmed its preference for a diplomatic resolution to
the conflict, reiterating its support for the Madrid Accords of 14 November as a
legitimate basis for a settlement. In line with this position, the US voted in favour of a
'pro-Moroccan' resolution at the United Nations that recognised the accords, while
abstaining on a competing 'pro-Algerian' resolution. While the U.S. maintained a desire

for stable relations with Algeria, it also acknowledged Soviet and Libyan military support
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for Algiers, and indicated that it would continue to provide limited assistance to help

Morocco modernise its military.(USMUN, 1976b).

1.4. Rydbeck’s action between misions and further international

reactions

Following his field visits, Rydbeck traveled to Vienna on February 14 to provide an oral
report to Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim. His first mission officially concluded on
February 17 when he returned to New York ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG
1/5.312.8-Report to the Secretary-General by Ambassador Olof Rydbeck (Sweden),
Special Representative of the Secretary-General, Appointed on the Basis of General
Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) Concerning the Question of Western Sahara," 1976).

On February 14 a non-disclosed meeting took place between Amb. Rydbeck and the ICRC

in Geneva.
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Figure 2-Note about ICRC. Source: ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG 1/5.312.8-Cable

informing about Rydbeck meeting in Geneva with ICRC," 1976)
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Having returned to the UN headquarters, Rydbeck intended to brief the Chairman of the
Special Committee on Decolonization (Committee of 24), Salim Ahmed Salim, to
determine that committee's potential role in future discussions concerning the territory.
During a press briefing on February 18, he reiterated his findings and disclosed that he
was preparing afactual, non-recommendatory reportfor Secretary-General Kurt
Waldheim. In response to press inquiries, Rydbeck admitted that the military situation
on the ground precluded any realistic path toward self-determination for the Saharan
people at that time. Although he did encounter arepresentative of the Polisario
Front during his mission, his report would refrain from policy suggestions, instead
focusing solely on the observed facts (USMUN, 1976d).

Ambassador Rydbeck, in discussions with U.S. officials, conveyed his assessment of the
Western Sahara conflict, later documented in a cable from the U.S. Mission to the United
Nations on March 4, 1976 (USMUN, 1976c). He noted that Algeria remained firmly
opposed to Morocco’s claims, advocating for Sahrawi self-determination, while
Mauritania took a passive stance, avoiding strong alignment. Morocco, in contrast,
dismissed further UN involvement, seeking to solidify its control.

Rydbeck was skeptical about his mission’s success, believing a visit to Algiers would
achieve little. He saw Morocco aiming to prevent outside interference while Algeria
sought to counter its occupation of the territory. Mauritania’s hesitation added to the
diplomatic stalemate, leaving the conflict primarily between Morocco and Algeria.
Despite doubts, Rydbeck continued his work with UN Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim,
recognizing the limited prospects for a resolution.

Annex Il of the A/31/23/Rev.1[Vol.ll], distributed on February 17, 1976, contains a
formal letter from Algerian Foreign Minister Abdelaziz Bouteflika (formerly known as
A/AC.109/514), transmitted via Algeria’s Permanent Representative to the United
Nations, Abdellatif Rahal, to the Chairman of the Committee of 24 (UNGA, 1977).

In the letter, Algeria expresses grave concern over the worsening situation in Western
Sahara, warning of the dangers of further regional escalation. Bouteflika condemns
Moroccan military actions, particularly the attack on an Algerian convoy carrying

humanitarian aid to Sahrawi civilians onJanuary 27, 1976, characterizing it as

61



unprovoked aggression. He notes that Algeria chose to de-escalate to avoid broader

conflict.

The letter accuses Morocco of pursuing a deliberate policy of provocation and territorial
aggression, and of attempting to shift blame onto Algeria following Polisario’s successful
attack on Moroccan forces on February 15, 1976. Morocco's efforts to portray Algeria
as a belligerent party, Bouteflika argues, serve to distract from its own responsibilities

in the conflict.

Bouteflika references the UN Secretary-General’s Special Representative, Ambassador
Olof Rydbeck, asserting that Rydbeck “undoubtedly observed” the deteriorating

conditions on the ground. He urges urgent international action to stop the escalation.

The letter reaffirms Algeria’s support for the UN's decolonization framework, and
its unwavering backing of the Sahrawi people’s right to self-determination, to be
exercised through a free and genuine referendum, in line with established UN principles

and resolutions.

On February 18 in a confidential communication, US Ambassador Moynihan reports on
a debrief from Spanish Mission Officer Villar, who had recently returned to New York
following his service as liaison officer during Rydbeck’s mission to the Spanish Sahara

(USMUN, 1976e).

According to Villar, Rydbeck is described as "extremely depressed" over the situation in
Western Sahara. This emotional reaction reflects his disillusionment following
observations made during the fact-finding mission, particularly regarding the severe
depopulation of key Saharan towns. El Aaiun and Villa Cisneros retained only one-fifth
to one-quarter of their original populations, while Smara had been almost entirely
emptied of its civilian inhabitants. The visible presence was dominated by Moroccan
military forces, with no civilian youth in sight, contributing to a bleak picture that likely

deepened Rydbeck’s sense of pessimism.

The British role emerges indirectly through Villar's account. He notes having spoken
with British diplomats in New York, who relayed two proposed courses of action under

consideration, though both were seen as impractical or unappealing:
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e Thefirst option suggested reconvening the Djema’ato reaffirm the Saharan
people's will. However, Morocco opposed this, arguing the Djema’a had already
done so previously.

e The second option involved Spain transferring its remaining jurisdiction over
Western Sahara to the United Nations by February 28. However, according to
the British, as relayed by Villar, it was very unlikely the UN would agree to assume

such responsibility.

This cable reflects growing frustration and gridlock within international diplomatic
channels. The UN's limited appetite for further involvement, Spain's potential
withdrawal of legal responsibility, and Morocco’s resistance to renewed expressions of
Sahrawi self-determination illustrate a situation in which no viable diplomatic
mechanisms remained in play. The overall tone suggests deepening institutional
fatigue, diplomatic paralysis, and moral unease within the UN apparatus, embodied

most starkly in Rydbeck’s personal despair.

Swedish official Rolf Ekéus provided a detailed account of Ambassador Rydbeck’s
reflections following his recent mission to the Spanish Sahara to an officer of the US
Mission to the United Nations on the 18th of February. According to Ekéus, Rydbeck’s
engagement was primarily limited to Spanish authorities, and it remained uncertain
whether he would return to the region to engage other actors, including the Polisario

Front. This decision, Rydbeck believed, was for the UN Secretary-General to make.

Ekéus reiterated the deeply troubling conditions previously reported by other observers,
noting the near-total disappearance of the original Sahrawi population from key towns
such as El Aaiun and Smara. Many civilians were reportedly relocated to “reorientation
camps.” According to Rydbeck, the entire societal structure of the Sahrawi that existed
under Spanish colonial rule had collapsed, the local economy was in ruins, and most of
the region’s camels — a central part of Sahrawi livelihood — had died. The territory was
now dominated by Moroccan military forces, with only a token or negligible presence of

Mauritanian officials (USMUN, 1976d).
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On February 19, the USA decided to sell 24 F-E jet fighters to Morocco in public act of

support of King Hassan Il in the occupation of Western Sahara.

WASHINGTON, Feb. 21—The United States has decided to sell a squadron of up-
to-data F-5E jet fighter planes to Morocco as a sign of continuing American
support for King Hassan Il, whose kingdom is locked in a bitter dispute with
Algeria and Algerian backed insurgents over the phosphate-rich Western Sahara,

Administration and Congressional sources said today.

The proposed $120 million sale of the 24 jets was divulged on a classified basis
to Congress on Wednesday and made known today. New York Times

(Gwertzman, 1976)

Between the 19 and 21st of February 1976, the Sahrawi civilian population was
subjected to intense and indiscriminate bombings with napalm and white phosphorus

by Moroccan forces (Beristain et al., 2012).

El problema, a juicio de este asesor en Comisiones de la Verdad y consultor de la
Corte Penal Internacional, es que a pesar de haber testigos de lo ocurrido, entre
ellos dos enfermeras espanolas que atendieron a los heridos, a pesar de todo el
trabajo de documentacidon que se hizo desde El oasis de la memoria, ningln
organismo oficial ha investigado todavia lo ocurrido. "El Sahara es el conflicto
mas olvidado del mundo", subraya Beristain, que alude al gran poder de
Marruecos, a sus alianzas con Francia y EEUU y a su coaccidn sobre Espafia para
explicar esa inaccion absoluta, tratandose de unos delitos muy graves contra la
humanidad y de unos ciudadanos que, en el momento de producirse la masacre,

eran espanoles y hasta llevaban el DNI en la cartera. (Reviejo, 2021)

These attacks occurred shortly after Ambassador Olof Rydbeck concluded the first phase
of his mission as the UN Secretary-General’s Special Representative for Western Sahara,
and just before the second part of his mandate began. During this interlude, daily
briefings and diplomatic consultations on the Western Sahara question were ongoing in
New York. Yet, these brutal aerial bombings—which constitute grave breaches of

international humanitarian law—were never mentioned or addressed in any formal
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setting. This silence is even more disturbing considering that the Spanish forces had not
yet completed their withdrawal from the territory, and that the attacks were already
known and denounced internationally. The Polisario Front issued urgent appeals,
including a formal call to the OAU to intervene and halt the Moroccan bombings, as
documented in contemporary media such as the 1976 British Pathé report”. Declassified
UN records and U.S. diplomatic cables released by Wikileaks in the Public Library of
Diplomacy® further confirm that the international community was aware of the
bombings yet chose to ignore them. This inaction raises enduring questions about the
complicity, selectivity, and silence of global powers during a critical moment in the

Sahrawi people’s pursuit of self-determination.

On February 24, 1976, U.S. Ambassador Daniel Patrick Moynihan and Ambassador
Bennett met with UN Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim to discuss the rapidly evolving
situation in Western Sahara, ahead of Spain's formal withdrawal on February 28 and the
dissolution of the tripartite administration established under the Madrid

Accords.(USMUN, 1976a).

According to the cable concerning this discussion Waldheim conveyed that, during a
meeting with the Spanish Foreign Minister in Zurich (February 23), Spain confirmed
its imminent and complete withdrawal from the territory. The Spanish government
provided a draft of the letter they intended to present to the UN, stating that Article 3
of the Madrid Agreement had not been fulfilled — notably, that consultations with the
Sahrawi assembly (Djema’a)had not taken place. Spain accused Morocco of
obstructing the self-determination process and of lacking any real interest in fulfilling

that obligation.

Waldheim reported that Morocco refused a Spanish proposal to reconvene the Djema’a
under UN auspices to decide the territory’s future. King Hassan had declared the matter

“closed,” affirming Morocco’s claim to the territory. Morocco continued to maintain

7 https://www.britishpathe.com/asset/148140/
8 See: https://www.wikileaks.org/plusd/cables/1976/RABAT 01850 50b.html
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that self-determination had already occurred, referencing the oath of allegiance taken

by the head of the Djema’a to the Moroccan monarch.

Morocco’s UN representative Slaoui requested that the UN send an observer to a
scheduled Djema’a meeting on February 26, offering safe conduct to Sahrawi members
in exile. However, Waldheim expressed skepticism that the Committee of 24 would
agree, given the preordained outcome in favor of annexation. He emphasized that “the
rump Djema’a will vote for absorption and those members in exile will not return — for

fear of being killed.”

Slaoui also voiced Morocco’s dissatisfaction with Ambassador Olof Rydbeck, particularly
over his remarks about military conditions preventing a referendum and the mass
departure of Sahrawi youth. Waldheim responded by reminding Slaoui that Morocco
had not objected to Rydbeck’s appointment when it was first proposed, and therefore,

their current objections were unfounded.

Waldheim expected to receive Rydbeck’s full written report later that day. He
mentioned that while Morocco opposed Rydbeck meeting with Polisario
representatives, the UN had not yet ruled out a visit to Algeria for this purpose. Rydbeck

had already met one Polisario representative during his mission, despite

Waldheim closed the meeting by candidly expressing his belief that the situation in the
Sahara was a “fait accompli”. “Nothing could be done,” he told the U.S. representatives.
He relayed that Slaoui had spoken directly with King Hassan, who reaffirmed

that Western Sahara was, in his view, “Moroccan territory, pure and simple.”

During an informal Security Council lunch® on February 25, 1976, Amb. Rydbeck, shared

reflections on his recent mission, noting that his formal report would be ready within

3 A Security Council lunch is aninformal and off-the-record gathering of the United Nations Security
Council members, typically hosted by the monthly rotating president of the Council or, on occasion, by
the UN Secretary-General. These lunches serve as a space for non-binding discussions among
ambassadors, allowing them to exchange views, test ideas, or seek consensus on sensitive issues without
the constraints of formal procedure or public record. While not part of the Council’s official decision-
making process, these meetings can shape diplomatic tone and influence behind-the-scenes negotiations,
particularly in times of stalemate or political complexity.
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the following days. Rydbeck’s tone was marked by deep pessimism: he stated that the
opportunity for a just solution based on self-determination had likely passed two or
three years earlier, and that the current situation no longer allowed for even an

approximate realization of that principle, it “was too late”.(USMUN, 1976g).

Rydbeck observed that the traditional Saharan social structure had been irreparably
dismantled. The Djema’a as such had effectively ceased to exist, and the major towns—
El-Aaiun, Villa Cisneros (Dakhla), and Smara—were largely depopulated (referring to the
Sahrawi population). In El Aaiun, only women, children, and elderly men remained, while
Smara counted as few as a thousand residents. Rydbeck estimated that more than half
of the original population, roughly 40,000 Sahrawi, had fled to refugee camps in Algeria
and the eastern borderlands. The absence of young men of military age, he suggested,

implied their mobilization into the armed struggle against Morocco.

He added that this demographic and political collapse had been worsened by severe
drought, which decimated the local economy—most starkly evidenced by the reduction

of the region’s camel population from half a million to fewer than 100,000.

From Rydbeck’s perspective, the Moroccan-Mauritanian occupation was a fait accompli,
and unlikely to be reversed. The primary challenge for the United Nations now, he
suggested, was how to present or “gloss over” the de facto situation. He repeatedly
lamented that Morocco and Mauritania had not taken the basic diplomatic step of
providing even a “fig leaf” to cover their actions—a gesture that might have spared the

United Nations the embarrassment.

“Problem for UN is what kind of gloss to put on the de facto situation. Several
times he expressed regret that moroccans-mauritanians had not "at least covered

their actions with some kind of "fig leaf." (USER, 1976f)

Significantly, Rydbeck made no reference to Algerian military involvement, even when
it was raised by others during the lunch. He concluded with the remark that he was not

aware of any plans for a second mission.

At a press briefing on 26 February 1976, UN Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim stated

that the mission of Ambassador Olof Rydbeck had not ended, though no immediate
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plans were in place for its continuation. Addressing Morocco’s request for a UN observer
to attend the Djema’a meeting, Waldheim firmly declined, emphasizing that
the Djema’a did not constitute a popular consultation and could not substitute for a
genuine act of self-determination. He underscored that what was in the UN texts
envolvement through supervision, not mere observation, and only under UN auspices.
Waldheim also confirmed that Spain would formally withdraw from Western Sahara on
28 February, leaving unresolved the requirement under the Madrid Accords to consult

the Sahrawi people—a step that had not been fulfilled (USER, 1976f).
1.5. Rydbeck's 2ND Mission to Western Sahara (1976)

Following the first phase of his mission, during which he had been able to visit the
Western Sahara territory but not engage meaningfully with its displaced population,
Olof Rydbeck undertook a second phase of exploratory work. This time, his focus was
on meeting Sahrawi representatives and other stakeholders outside the occupied
territory. However, diplomatic obstacles soon emerged that would significantly affect
the trajectory of his mission ("Series 0904; Box 50; File 5; ACC. DAG 1/5.312.8-Second
report on the exploratory mission concerning the question of Western Sahara by Olof
Rydbeck, special Special Representative of the Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim,"

1976).

After receiving further instructions from the UN Secretary-General, Rydbeck departed
for Algeria, a key regional actor supporting the self-determination of Western Sahara.
Upon arrival in Algiers on 30 March 1976, he was welcomed by Mr. Abdelmalek
Benhabyles, Secretary-General of the Algerian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and Mr.
Abdellatif Rahal, Algeria’s Permanent Representative to the United Nations. During an
informal discussion, Ambassador Rahal outlined the Algerian government's planned
itinerary for the visit, which included direct interactions with Sahrawi refugees near

Tindouf.

That afternoon, Rydbeck held an official meeting with H.E. Mr. Abdelaziz Bouteflika,
Minister of Foreign Affairs of Algeria. Also present at the meeting were Mr. Benhabyles

and Mr. Rahal. The discussions centered on Algeria’s stance regarding the Western
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Sahara issue. Bouteflika reaffirmed his government’s commitment to a resolution based
on UN General Assembly Resolution 3458 (XXX) and expressed strong support for a
referendum on self-determination. The Algerian authorities insisted that Rydbeck
should visit Tindouf to hear the perspectives of Sahrawi living outside the occupied

territory.

Senegalese Foreign Minister Assane Seck, arrived in Rabat on March 30, as part of a tour
of countries involved in the Sahara conflict. The following day, March 31, Seck had an
audience with King Hassan Il, during which he delivered a personal message from
President Léopold Sédar Senghor. The leaders of Istiglal and USFP were concurrently

in Dakar at Senghor’s invitation(USER, 1976b)

On March 31, 1976, King Hassan Il received leaders from Moroccan “opposition”
parties—including Istiglal, USFP, MPCD, and MP—and tasked them with diplomatic
missions abroad to explain Morocco’s position on the Sahara. These efforts, reminiscent
of similar campaigns in 1974, were officially presented as informational visits to heads
of state, yet they reveal a broader attempt to demonstrate national unity under the
crown. The April 1, 1976, edition of the semi-official Le Matin framed this initiative as

the launch of a “new Moroccan diplomatic campaign.”

Among those involved was Ali Yata, leader of the PPS, who was attending a communist
conference in Bulgaria and was expected to visit additional socialist states on behalf of
the government—an effort to sway leftist parties in Eastern Europe. According to a
regional diplomat, Morocco anticipates favorable responses regarding the recognition
of the SADR. In contrast, Abdallah Ibrahim of the UNFP abstained from participating in

these missions, maintaining his critical distance, as in 1974.(USER, 1976b).
1.6. Visit to Tindouf and Meetings with Sahrawi Representatives

On the morning of 31 March 1976, Rydbeck traveled by air to Tindouf, where he stayed

overnight before returning to Algiers the following day. Shortly after his arrival, he was
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escorted to the Camp Robinet?? refugee settlement, located 25 kilometers from Tindouf.
The visit provided an opportunity to witness the humanitarian conditions of the Sahrawi

refugees who had fled the conflict.

Following his brief tour of the camp?'!, Rydbeck convened with six different groups of

Sahrawis, including:

e Eighteen members of the Djema’a (Western Sahara’s former governing body under
Spanish colonial rule), accompanied by five additional sheikhs and elders who were
now members of the Provisional National Council of Western Sahara.

e Representatives from the National Union of Sahrawi Women.

e A delegation of recently arrived Sahrawi refugees from Western Sahara.

e Thirteen Sahrawi administrators overseeing the refugee camps.

e Mr. El Ouali, Secretary-General of POLISARIO Front, along with seven other high-

ranking members of the movement.

In each meeting, the representatives expressed strong opposition to what they
described as the "forceful occupation" of Western Sahara by Morocco and Mauritania.
They unanimously supported Polisario’s position and called for the withdrawal of
Moroccan and Mauritanian forces before any genuine referendum on self-

determination could take place.

On the first of April the Moroccan “opposition party chiefs” began their “Sahara
Explaining Mission” going to several African , Asian, eastern and western European

States

1.7. Final Meetings in Algiers and Diplomatic Repercussions

10 "Camp Robinet, now known as Rabuni, was originally named after a faucet (robinet in French) located
at a water well in the area. This faucet distinguished the well from others that lacked such a feature,
making it a key geographic reference used by the Sahrawi to identify the location."

1 https://www.britishpathe.com/asset/204110/ video by Reuters - United Nations special envoy Olof
Rydbeck toured camps of refugees from the disputed Western Sahara on Wednesday (31 March) and
Thursday (1 April) in the Tindouf region of southwest Algeria.
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Rydbeck returned to Algiers on 2 April 1976 for a high-level meeting with H.E. President
Houari Boumediene of Algeria. The discussion reaffirmed Algeria’s view that any
resolution to the Western Sahara question must respect the Sahrawi people's right to
self-determination. Boumediene emphasized that Algeria had no economic or strategic
interests in Western Sahara but supported the cause purely as a matter of principle.
Questioned by President Boumediene if Rydbeck had been told in the camps about the
atrocities committed by the occupying forces and their use of napalm against the

Sahrawi population, Rydbeck answered that

“these were matters for the international Red Cross and the United Nations High
Commissioner for Refugees to investigate. He had heard reports about such
things, but it was not within his mandate from the Secretary-General to

investigate them.” 12

Later that day, Rydbeck departed Algiers for Geneva, where he was scheduled to brief

the UN Secretary-General.

Upon his arrival in Geneva on 6 April 1976, Rydbeck delivered an oral report to the
Secretary-General detailing the findings of his mission. However, diplomatic tensions
had already begun to escalate. The governments of Morocco and Mauritania formally
communicated to the UN that, as a consequence of Rydbeck’s meetings with POLISARIO

Front representatives in Tindouf, they refused to receive him in their respective capitals.

“But of course, the tour aroused anger in Rabat and Nouakchott since both
countries consider the Saharan issue as finished and no longer a question for
debate. The fact that the UN met representatives of the Polisario Front while in
Algiers prompted the Moroccans and Mauritanians to announce that Rydbeck
was persona non grata and refused him entry.” ("Sahara seeking recognition,"

1976)

This development effectively brought the second phase of his mission to an abrupt and

premature end. Given the diplomatic blockade imposed by Morocco and Mauritania,

12 5ee annex 41 a); b), c)
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Rydbeck’s conclusions were necessarily limited to the insights gained from his visits to
Spain, Algeria, and Sahrawi refugee camps in Tindouf. Key takeaways from his report

included:

- Both Spain and Algeria agreed that, under current conditions, a fair and credible

self-determination process for the Sahrawi people was not feasible.

Further Moroccan reactions to the Rydbeck mission revealed an ongoing strategy to
contain the Western Sahara question avoiding substantive engagement with the
underlying issue of Sahrawi self-determination. During a call on April 29, 1976,
Moroccan Foreign Ministry Secretary-General Abdelhakim El-lIraqui acknowledged to
U.S. officials that, although Morocco considered the Sahara issue “closed,” the
government remained in constant contact with UN Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim,
seeking ways to manage the legal implications of the UN General Assembly resolutions
of December 4, 1975. Moroccan jurists, he indicated, were exploring mechanisms to
escape what he described as a “legal impasse” stemming from those resolutions. Of
particular relevance was Spain’s position regarding the unfulfilled provisions of the
November 14, 1975, Madrid Accords, notably the required consultation with the
Sahrawi population. El-lraqui suggested that a modification of Spain’s position on this
issue could provide Waldheim with diplomatic leverage. Significantly, he also noted the
upcoming May 5 visit of Spanish Foreign Minister José Maria de Areilza, which followed
intensified bilateral activity, including agreements on phosphate exploitation at Bu-

Craa (signed April 24) and resumed talks over offshore fishing rights.

This exchange underscores how Spanish-Moroccan diplomacy had increasingly turned
toward consolidating economic interests in the territory, with little regard for the
Sahrawi population, whose displacement and suffering were already being compounded
by Moroccan military actions, including the use of napalm against civilian areas. While
Moroccan officials privately admitted to a tactical need to prevent the Sahara issue from
resurfacing as a contentious item at the next UN General Assembly, their emphasis
remained fixed on legal maneuvering and geopolitical control. For Spain’s part, its
continued participation in the economic exploitation of Western Sahara’s resources—

particularly in the phosphate-rich Bu-Craa region—despite its formal withdrawal in
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1975, shows its intended refusal to uphold its ongoing legal responsibilities as the de
jure administering power, a status that UN envoy Olof Rydbeck reportedly reaffirmed.
Under international law, particularly Article 73 of the UN Charter and established norms
concerning Non-Self-Governing Territories, administering powers are obligated to
protect the interests and rights of the local population until a genuine act of self-
determination has taken place. Spain’s actions during this period, far from fulfilling these
obligations, appear to prioritize bilateral economic arrangements over the legal and

moral imperatives of decolonization and the protection of Sahrawi rights.(USER, 1976a).

- The Sahrawi Rydbeck met in Tindouf overwhelmingly rejected Moroccan and
Mauritanian claims over Western Sahara and called for a referendum under UN

supervision.

- The POLISARIO Front leadership, despite proclaiming the SADR, remained open

to an UN-sponsored referendum to determine the territory’s final status.

Ultimately, this second phase of Rydbeck’s mission confirmed the findings of his earlier
visit to Western Sahara, reinforcing the conclusion that a genuine self-determination
process could not take place under the prevailing conditions. With Morocco and
Mauritania obstructing further diplomatic engagements, Rydbeck’s mission was

effectively stalled, and his role as Special Representative came to an uncertain end.

The mission's failure to gain traction in Morocco and Mauritania underscored the
geopolitical constraints surrounding UN efforts to mediate the Western Sahara

dispute—an impasse that would persist in the years and decades to follow.

“When the Swedish UN ambassador, Olof Rydbeck, visited the Western Sahara
to examine how the UN might proceed, he was so struck by the scale of the
Moroccan military presence, the repressive political atmosphere, the developing
guerrilla war and the exodus of refugees that he advised Secretary-General Kurt

Waldheim that a genuine consultation of local views was impossible.

Consequently, the UN decided that the essential conditions for the exercise of

self-determination were not fulfilled.” (Seddon, 1987)
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2. The reaction to Olof Rydbeck's reports — A Balance

2.1. UN and international reaction to the Rydbeck’s MISSIONS

e Reception or lack thereof of the Rydbeck reports by the UN and Member States
e Political and diplomatic implications of Rydbeck's conclusions

e Assessment of the impact of your actions on the ground

According to Eric Jensen “Olof Rydbeck’s report was not published; it may have been
thought to be too sensitive. “ (Jensen, 2005) In fact there is no report to be found from
the SG Waldheim neither to the Security Council nor the General Assembly with the
report of Amb. Rydbeck. The spokesman of SG Waldheim also informed on February 25
1976 that Rydbeck’s report would not be circulated as UN document (USMUN, 1976f).

Hence there were no official reactions on the part of the United Nations.

The war, occupation and massive settler introduction continued without any kind of
impediment from the international community except the steadfast support from the
Algerian Government to the Sahrawi refugees that to this date live in the refugee camps

near Tindouf in Algeria.

The UNGA adopted a resolution “Cuestion del Sahara Occidental A/RES/31/45”*3 (in
December 1976) but not mentioning the mission, the UNSG never addressed the issue
of Rydbeck’s mission either. This complete silence is a strong indication of the

intentional stalemate the issue was victim of.

Indeed, two letters from Algeria and one from Spain to the UNSG Waldheim are the

documents that can be found during the timespan of Rydbeck’s appointment mentioned

the Western Sahara Issue (UNSC, 1977).

13 A/RES/31/45
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the contention that the
decolonization of Western Sahara was deliberately derailed through a series of
unilateral and coercive measures by Morocco and Mauritania, in violation of the

inalienable right of the Sahrawi people to self-determination.

A focal point of the letter is the Moroccan-organized "Green March" of November 1975,
which Algeria characterizes not as a peaceful expression of popular will, but rather as a
strategic deception. According to the Algerian account, the Green March served as a
pretext to justify the presence of Moroccan regular forces in the territory and to
facilitate covert negotiations with Spain and Mauritania. Algeria contends that this
action was undertaken in direct contravention of Security Council resolutions and

represented a deliberate circumvention of the decolonization process established by the
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United Nations. The ultimate result was the Madrid Agreement of 14 November 1975,
through which Spain transferred administrative control over Western Sahara to
Morocco and Mauritania without consulting the Sahrawi people, whom Algeria

describes as the only legitimate holders of sovereignty in the territory.

The letter further argues that both Morocco and Mauritania, through their coordinated
military invasion, assumed the status of aggressor states under international law. Citing
the United Nations Charter, General Assembly resolution 2625 (XXV) on Friendly
Relations, and resolution 3314 (XXIX) on the Definition of Aggression, Algeria asserts
that these states violated the principle prohibiting the use of force to deny a people its
right to self-determination. The letter recalls that Article 7 of the annex to resolution
3314 explicitly affirms the right of peoples under colonial or foreign domination to resist
occupation and to seek and receive support in their struggle, thereby justifying

international solidarity with the Sahrawi resistance.

Algeria also references the 16 October 1975 advisory opinion of the International Court
of Justice (ICJ), which concluded that there existed no legal ties of territorial sovereignty
between Western Sahara and either Morocco or the Mauritanian entity that would
affect the application of General Assembly resolution 1514 (XV). The ICJ, in rejecting
Morocco’s claims, reinforced the centrality of self-determination through the free and
genuine expression of the will of the Sahrawi people. This legal interpretation was
echoed by the United Nations Visiting Mission to Western Sahara, which recommended
that any credible popular consultation would require, among other conditions, the
withdrawal of foreign military forces, the return of exiled Sahrawi, and a transitional

period under United Nations administration.

In Algeria’s view, the process initiated by the Madrid Agreement is not only illegal but
also constitutes a regression from the international consensus that had developed over
a decade through multiple UN resolutions, decisions of the OAU, and positions of the
Non-Aligned Movement. The memorandum declares the agreement null and void and
argues that Spain, as the administering power, remains bound by its obligations under

Chapter Xl of the UN Charter and by General Assembly resolution 3458 A (XXX), adopted
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on 10 December 1975, which reaffirmed the right of the people of Western Sahara to

self-determination under UN supervision.

Furthermore, the Algerian government raised grave concerns regarding the
humanitarian and security consequences of the invasion. It asserts that the aggression
is “now virtually assuming the proportions of genocide” and that the situation poses a
serious threat to peace and stability in the region. In this context, Algeria calls upon the
international community to urgently restore legality by ensuring that the Sahrawi people
are afforded the opportunity to exercise their inalienable rights through a free and

genuine referendum.

In sum, Algeria’s memorandum to the UN (A/31/48 S/11971) presents a legal, political,
and moral indictment of the actions taken by Morocco and Mauritania in Western
Sahara. It underscores the failure of the Madrid Agreement to meet international legal
standards and calls for renewed international engagement to uphold the principle of
self-determination and to halt what Algeria characterizes as an illegal occupation with

severe humanitarian implications.

In a ketter from Spain to the UN Secretary-General, 26 February 1976
(A/31/56_S/11997), the Government of Spain formally communicates its intention
to terminate its presence and responsibilities in the Territory of Western Sahara as of 28
February 1976. This declaration marks a pivotal moment in the region’s decolonization
process and the culmination of Spain's disengagement following the Madrid Accords

signed in November 1975 with Morocco and Mauritania.

The letter acknowledges that, despite the tripartite agreement, the terms of Article 3 of
the Madrid Accords—specifically concerning the organization of consultations with the
Sahrawi population—have not been fulfilled. In particular, Spain notes the absence
of "appropriate consultations" with the Djema’a, the colonial-era assembly used by
Spain as a representative body. This admission highlights internal tensions within the
Spanish administration about the legal and moral limitations of the transition

agreement.
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Crucially, the letter asserts that Spain does not intend to assume any international
responsibility for the administration of Western Sahara after 28 February 1976. This
stance implicitly challenges the prevailing interpretation of Spain’s obligations
under Chapter XI of the UN Charter, which defines the duties of administering powers
in Non-Self-Governing Territories. By unilaterally declaring the end of its role, Spain
attempts to offload its obligations without formally transferring sovereignty to the
Sahrawi people or to the United Nations, as required by international decolonization

principles.

This document confirms a key legal and diplomatic rupture: Spain's exit did not result in
the recognized completion of decolonization but rather left alegal vacuum,
subsequently exploited by Morocco and Mauritania. The letter also reaffirms that
Spain’s decision occurs without a referendum and without the consent of the
indigenous Sahrawi population, in contradiction with General Assembly resolutions, the

1975 ICJ Advisory Opinion, and the findings of the UN Visiting Mission.

In the Letter from Algeria to the Secretary-General on 8 March 1976 (A/31/59_5/12002),
Algeria reiterates its firm position regarding the illegitimacy of the Moroccan and
Mauritanian military presence in Western Sahara and its rejection of the Madrid
Accords of November 1975. The letter reflects Algeria’s mounting diplomatic campaign
following Spain's formal withdrawal from the territory on 28 February 1976 and

the unilateral declaration of the SADR by the Polisario Front on 27 February 1976.

Algeria addresses the Secretary-General in the immediate aftermath of these critical
events, asserting that the decolonization process has been hijacked by external actors—
namely Morocco and Mauritania—through military occupation and political
manipulation, in contravention of UN resolutions and the principles of international law.
Algeria stresses that any transfer of authority over Western Sahara must involve the
Sahrawi people themselves, as the only legitimate holders of sovereignty, and must take
place under United Nations supervision, in accordance with General Assembly

resolution 1514 (XV) on the granting of independence to colonial territories.
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The letter reaffirms Algeria’s support for agenuine process of self-
determination through an UN-organized referendum, denouncing the Madrid tripartite
agreement as null and void. Algeria warns of the implications of continued aggression,
emphasizing that the regional peace and security are at stake and urging the
international community to act to halt the illegal occupation and restore the rule of

international legality.

The timing and tone of the letter underscore Algeria’s increasing support for
the Polisario Front as the representative of the Sahrawi people, and its broader
geopolitical objective to block Moroccan consolidation of territorial control while
galvanizing international solidarity around the principle of decolonization through self-

determination.

Throughout the critical years of 1976 and 1977, France played a pivotal yet publicly
understated role in shaping the trajectory of the Western Sahara conflict, despite not
being formally designated a party to the dispute by the United Nations or involved in
Olof Rydbeck’s mediation efforts. France’s position was marked by an ambivalent
neutrality that masked a clear strategic alignment with Morocco, underpinned by
overlapping geopolitical, military, and economic interests. As Tony Naylor (Naylor, 1987)
argues, French policy during this period consistently deferred to Morocco’s regional
ambitions, viewing a stable Moroccan administration in the Western Sahara as a
guarantor of Western-aligned order in North Africa, while showing little interest in
multilateral approaches or the principle of Sahrawi self-determination. France never
engaged with Rydbeck’s mission, nor did it support a broader UN debate on the findings,
effectively sidestepping its responsibility as a former colonial power and permanent
member of the Security Council. This silence, however, belied France’s active role on the
ground. In late 1977, Paris launched Opération Lamantin, a clandestine military
campaign involving air strikes against Polisario units, carried out by French Jaguars
operating from the Oukam base near Dakar. As Didi Sidemhamed (Sidemhamed, 2024)
has documented through both French and Sahrawi testimonies, the intervention was

framed as a response to Polisario attacks on the Mauritanian railway infrastructure, but
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in practice served to bolster the Mauritanian regime and indirectly reinforce Morocco’s

military occupation of the Western Sahara.

Carried out under conditions of extreme secrecy, the operation reveals the continuity of
French military doctrine in former colonial territories, drawing explicitly on lessons from
earlier counter-insurgency campaigns, including Opération Ecouvillon (1958). The use of
elite units, advanced airpower, and counter-guerrilla tactics further underscores
the depth of French involvement, which contrasted starkly with its public posture of
disengagement. France’s refusal to recognize the POLISARIO Front, combined with its
material support for Morocco and silence in international fora, reflects a broader
pattern of selective adherence to international norms, where strategic interests
eclipsed legal commitments. In doing so, France—like the United States—helped
entrench the occupation of Western Sahara while circumventing the institutional

responsibilities associated with decolonization and self-determination.

2.2. Difficulty in declassifying documentation relating to

Rydbeck's mission

The process of declassifying and accessing documentation related to Olof Rydbeck’s
mission presented numerous challenges, beginning with the difficulty of identifying him
as the first special representative to the region. Scholarly references to his mission are
remarkably scarce, with only a handful of academic works—such as those by Hodges,
Ruiz Miguel, and Zundy & Mundy—briefly mentioning it. However, these sources
provide minimal detail on the scope of his activities, focusing instead on the conclusion
that a genuine consultation of the Sahrawi people was rendered impracticable due to
the prevailing military situation, as stated in UN resolutions. The absence of substantive

analysis on the mission’s extent necessitated a more in-depth archival investigation.

Initial research efforts were hindered by the fact that many relevant United Nations
documents remained classified. A formal request for their declassification was
submitted, and shortly thereafter, access was granted. However, further difficulties
arose due to the limited availability of contemporary press coverage online, which made

it challenging to determine specific points of inquiry beyond the general timeframe of
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the mission. The lack of readily accessible primary sources necessitated extensive

archival consultation across multiple countries.

In Algeria, accessing relevant newspaper archives required traveling to Algiers, where
the National Archives facilitated research with the support of a team of staff members
who assisted with both document retrieval and translation from the Arabic when
necessary. The investigation also required physical consultations at the Bibliotheque
Nationale de France in Paris, the Hemeroteca in Santiago de Compostela, and the SADR
archives located in the Sahrawi refugee camps. Despite the extensive documentation
available in some of these archives, significant limitations emerged: none of the
POLISARIO members who had engaged directly with Ambassador Rydbeck during his
mission were still alive, making it impossible to conduct interviews to supplement the

documentary record.

Further archival research extended to Swedish diplomatic sources, including
consultations with the Swedish Embassy in New York and the archives of the Swedish
Foreign Ministry. Despite multiple requests, the International Committee of the Red
Cross (ICRC) in Geneva refused to declassify documents related to Rydbeck’s February
1976 meeting with their representatives or other possibly existing documents related to
his mission, despite prolonged correspondence on the matter. Efforts to obtain
documentation from Moroccan national archives and newspaper records were similarly
unsuccessful, as no response was received and no relevant materials were accessible

online.

A significant breakthrough, however, came from an alternative source—Wikileaks. The
platform provided access to extensive diplomatic communications from the United
States Mission to the United Nations, which contained detailed exchanges on Rydbeck’s
mission. These documents proved essential in bridging the gaps left by inaccessible
institutional archives, offering crucial insights into the mission’s context and the

diplomatic discussions surrounding it.

The challenges encountered in accessing and declassifying documentation on Rydbeck’s

mission underscore the broader difficulties of conducting historical research on
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politically sensitive topics. The necessity of cross-referencing archival materials from
multiple countries, the inaccessibility of key institutional records, and the absence of
surviving firsthand witnesses illustrate the complexities involved in reconstructing
historical events. Nevertheless, the combination of official archives, press records, and
alternative sources such as Wikileaks ultimately allowed for the development of a more

comprehensive understanding of the mission and its historical significance.
Conclusion

Exposing the structural limitations of United Nations diplomacy, Olof Rydbeck’s mission
allows for acritical re-examination of the commonly accepted narrative of
contingency that often shapes accounts of the failure to decolonize Western Sahara.
Events such as the death of Franco in 1975, the institutional fragility of the United States
following the Watergate scandal, or the apparent hesitation of the UN are frequently
invoked to explain the international community’s inaction as the product of unforeseen
disruptions or external instability. However, the content of Rydbeck’s reports—and the
diplomatic context surrounding them—suggest quite the opposite: that the collapse of
the Saharan decolonization process was not accidental, but the result of deliberate
political choices, coordinated interests, and a clearly articulated set of strategic priorities
by key state actors. Far from a failure brought on by historical misfortune, the
derailment of self-determination was part of a preexisting logic of normalization,
wherein occupation was gradually rendered acceptable through diplomatic recognition,
economic agreements, and the careful management of international silence. In this
sense, Rydbeck’s mission does not simply document a moment of failure—it helps
reveal the architecture of that failure, showing how what may appear as contingency

was in fact deeply predetermined by forces already in motion.

In revisiting Olof Rydbeck’s mission, this study has uncovered not only the constraints
faced by a single diplomat operating within the UN system, but also a broader pattern
of international abdication. Rydbeck’s experience must be read as symptomatic of
a larger structural failure: the inability—or unwillingness—of the United Nations and its

most powerful member states to uphold their legal and moral commitments to
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decolonization and self-determination. While his reports highlighted fundamental
violations, including forced displacement, military occupation, and demographic
manipulation, the Security Council remained silent, and his findings were never debated
in multilateral fora. This silence was not merely procedural—it represented the effective
sidelining of international law in favor of geopolitical pragmatism. France’s military
intervention, Spain’s abdication of its legal responsibilities, and the United States’
diplomatic endorsement of Moroccan control all point to a pattern in which state

interests overrode legal obligations.

Rydbeck’s mission, therefore, serves as a crucial early warning of the limitations of UN
mediation in settler-colonial contexts, particularly when major powers are complicit in
the outcome. As such, it remains an essential case study for understanding not only the
Western Sahara conflict, but also the erosion of the decolonization mandate in
international relations. The continuing failure to resolve the status of Western Sahara—
and the protracted suffering of the Sahrawi people—should not be seen as a policy

impasse, but as the legacy of a diplomatic failure whose roots lie in this very period.

The analysis of diplomatic exchanges and meetings before and during Amb. Rydbeck’s
mission as Special Envoy for Western Sahara reveals a profound and persistent disregard
for the Sahrawi civilian population by the principal actors involved — Spain, Morocco,
and Mauritania. These actors overwhelmingly focused on strategic, territorial, and
economic objectives, while the fundamental rights, safety, and survival of the Sahrawi

people were conspicuously ignored.

Crucial humanitarian concerns — such as forced displacement, the destruction of
homes, the interruption of education, the absence of health infrastructure, and the
bombing of civilian populations and of water wells— were systematically excluded from
the agenda. The fact that Sahrawi civilians were subjected to aerial bombardment, in
violation of international humanitarian law, was never raised in any substantial way in
the meetings or diplomatic correspondence. This silence must be understood not as a

diplomatic oversight, but as a deliberate manifestation of dehumanization.
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Algeria alone raised concerns for the well-being of the Sahrawi population and provided
refuge to those fleeing the violence, particularly in the Tindouf region. Meanwhile, Spain
— the colonial power in retreat — continued to assert its interests over fisheries and
phosphate mines, as illustrated in Foreign Minister Areilza’s 5 February 1976 statement

to Special Envoy Olof Rydbeck, in which

“he (minister Areilza) explained that Spain was very interested to know what
steps the United Nations might take because, although Spain was withdrawing
from the Territory, it had continuing interests there such as the fishing facilities

and the phosphate mines” .

This remark encapsulates the prevailing logic of the negotiations — one in which the
material wealth of the territory was given precedence over the rights and lives of its

indigenous population.

This erasure of the Sahrawi from international negotiations reflects a broader colonial
logic, one that renders indigenous populations invisible and dispensable. As postcolonial
theorists such as Edward Said, Frantz Fanon, and Achille Mbembe have demonstrated,
this process of dehumanization is central to both colonial and postcolonial structures of
power. It allows the dispossession, repression, and silencing of populations to occur
under the guise of political pragmatism or territorial administration. As Edward Said
argued in Orientalism (Said, 1995), imperial discourse depends on the silencing and
objectification of colonized peoples, reducing them to passive subjects over whom
history is written. Frantz Fanon similarly described the colonial subject as the colonized
thing, denied agency, voice, and recognition(Philcox et al., 2004). Achille Mbembe’s
analysis in “necropolitics” (Mbembe, 2019) further illuminates how postcolonial regimes
may inherit and reproduce colonial modes of power, determining who is allowed to live

and who can be left to die.

To this day, the Sahrawi people continue to live under Moroccan colonial rule —
Morocco acting as the de facto administrator of Western Sahara — while Spain remains
the de jure administering power under international law, having never completed the

decolonization process. The Sahrawi people’s right to self-determination although
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enshrined in International Law and in accordance with the UN remains denied.
POLISARIO Front emerged and asserted — through persistent armed resistance, political
organization, and diplomatic engagement — it’s role as legitimate representative of the

Sahrawi people, a status recognized by the United Nations.

Olof Rydbeck, as Special Representative of the Secretary-General, played a significant
role in documenting the situation on the ground. However, his reports and meetings
largely failed to center the human cost of the conflict — namely, the violations of human
rights and humanitarian law. Despite having personally witnessed the aftermath of
bombings in the refugee camps, and despite facilitating the safe escape of a Sahrawi
man targeted for repression, Rydbeck’s mission remained constrained within a
framework of political observation rather than human rights advocacy. One is left to ask:
could a stronger focus on civilian suffering, war crimes, and systemic repression have
altered the trajectory of international engagement? Could it have brought the Sahrawi

plight onto the United Nations’ agenda with greater urgency and moral clarity?

The massive Moroccan military presence observed during Rydbeck’s visit to the
occupied territory further underscores the coercive nature of the so-called "integration"
process. The exclusion of these realities from the official diplomatic discourse reflects
not only a historical injustice but an enduring failure of international accountability. The
Sahrawi people were rendered invisible at the very moment when their future was being
decided — a pattern that continues to this day. A critical reckoning with this history is
essential, not only to understand the roots of the ongoing conflict, but to confront the
structures of dehumanization that still shape international responses to colonial legacies

and territorial occupation.

The United States as a permanent member of the United Nations Security Council, and
its intimate knowledge of the situation on the ground particularly during the mission
of Olof Rydbeck— gave the United States ample opportunity to uphold international
law and advance the principle of self-determination through multilateral mechanisms.
Internal U.S. diplomatic cables revealed that Washington was fully aware of the scope
and nature of Morocco’s actions: the military occupation, the use of napalm against

Sahrawi civilians, the forced displacement of the local population into exile and desert
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hinterlands, the imposition of Moroccan civil servants with minimal Sahrawi input, and
the beginning of a deliberate process of demographic engineering aimed at permanently
altering the ethnic and political character of the territory. All of these measures, taken
together, constitute violations of international humanitarian law and amount to war
crimes under the Geneva Conventions—particularly the prohibitions against collective
punishment, the targeting of civilians, and forced population transfers in occupied

territories.

Despite this knowledge, the United States chose not to pursue any formal discussion of
Rydbeck’s findings in the Security Council, nor did it raise the question of Morocco’s
conduct as an occupying power, or the implications of Spain’s continued de jure status
as the administering authority, which Rydbeck himself reportedly affirmed.
This strategic silence reflects not merely a failure of moral leadership, but an active
abdication of legal responsibility under the UN Charter and international law. Rather
than leveraging its privileged position to uphold the rights of the Sahrawi people, the
United States facilitated the normalization of occupation through tacit endorsement
and the suppression of debate. Its policy, aimed at preserving regional alliances and
limiting Algerian or Soviet influence, effectively marginalized the UN’s legal and
normative frameworks, transforming a question of decolonization into one of

geopolitical expediency.

In doing so, the United States played a central role in rendering invisible the suffering
and resistance of the Sahrawi people, whose plight was reframed not as the result of
state violence or territorial conquest, but as a temporary disruption in the path toward
regional “stability.” The absence of any Security Council deliberation on Rydbeck’s
mission—despite clear evidence of unlawful military occupation, repression, and
economic exploitation—marks a profound institutional failure. It underscores how
power asymmetries within the international system can foreclose legal remedy and
political recognition for stateless and colonized peoples, even in full view of

international actors who possess both the knowledge and the means to act.

Another key dimension that merits emphasis in concluding this study is the centrality

of natural resource exploitation to Morocco’s diplomatic strategy during and after
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Rydbeck’s mission. The Moroccan leadership appeared to operate on the assumption
that the material value of Western Sahara’s resources—particularly phosphates,
offshore fisheries, and prospective mineral deposits—could be leveraged to secure
international acceptance of its territorial claims. This approach was not merely
rhetorical: Morocco actively pursued bilateral agreements with Spain and other foreign
partners that would enable joint exploitation of Sahrawi resources, thus transforming
economic interests into political alignment. The April 24, 1976, phosphate-sharing
agreement with Spain, negotiated while the UN was still formally engaged through
Rydbeck’s mission, exemplifies how economic entanglement was used to bypass legal
obligations and substitute contractual arrangements for multilateral consensus. Beyond
Western Sahara, Morocco even sought access to Algerian iron ore reserves, including
through proposals that Algeria considered diplomatically aggressive and economically
exploitative—moves that further strained relations and exposed the opportunistic logic

of Morocco’s regional economic ambitions.

While this resource-based diplomacy succeeded in garnering implicit or tacit support
from various international actors, Algeria stood out as the principal state actor to resist
this trend, grounding its opposition not in economic calculations but in a consistent
appeal tointernational law and the right of self-determination. Algeria’s legalist
position, reinforced through its support of the POLISARIO Front and its denunciation of
unilateral exploitation, highlighted the deep normative divide that characterized the
regional dispute. In this context, Morocco’s economic strategy functioned not only as a
mechanism of territorial consolidation, but also as an instrument of soft coercion in
international diplomacy—a calculated effort to replace political consent with
commercial interest, and international legitimacy with resource dependency. That such
a strategy gained considerable traction —particularly among Western and non-aligned
states— speaks to the structural vulnerabilities of a global order where access to

resources too often eclipses commitments to decolonization and human rights.

Although Olof Rydbeck’s mission was initially formally “welcomed” by Morocco, Spain,
and Mauritania, a closer examination of both diplomatic records and the political

context reveals that this support was largely instrumental and tactical, aimed at gaining
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time and legitimacy rather than facilitating a genuine process of decolonization. For
Morocco in particular, the timing of the mission coincided precisely with an accelerated
campaign to consolidate military and administrative control over the territory. While
ostensibly cooperating with the United Nations, Morocco was simultaneously deploying
civil servants, redrawing provincial boundaries, forcibly resettling displaced Sahrawi
nomads, and suppressing resistance through military means, including the reported use
of napalm. These efforts were carried out alongside a coordinated diplomatic offensive,
sending high-profile emissaries to Eastern and Western capitals—including to socialist
parties and non-aligned governments—to argue Morocco’s case and preempt

recognition of the Polisario-backed SADR.

At the same time, Morocco engaged in intensive backchannel diplomacy with Spain,
whose formal legal status as administering power under international law remained
unresolved. Despite having withdrawn militarily, Spain continued to negotiate bilateral
agreements with Morocco concerning the exploitation of phosphate resources at Bu-
Craa and resumed fishing negotiations—measures that signaled increasing Spanish
complicity in Morocco’s fait accompli. Spain’s decision to avoid any substantive
engagement with Rydbeck’s findings or to press for a proper act of self-determination
was not coincidental; it reflected a shared interest in the quiet stabilization of the
occupation, which allowed both powers to secure economic and political advantages
while publicly maintaining an appearance of legal ambiguity. Mauritania’s parallel role,
though less prominent, also aligned with this strategy, as it entered partition and
exploitation arrangements with Morocco while offering no meaningful cooperation with

the UN process.

Rydbeck’s mission thus served, for all three actors, as a convenient diplomatic facade —
a means of deflecting international scrutiny and appearing to honor UN procedures, all
while taking irreversible steps to alter the legal and demographic landscape of Western
Sahara. Far from reflecting a commitment to self-determination, the “welcoming” of the
mission was part of a broader strategy to reshape the conflict into a postcolonial
territorial dispute, managed through bilateralism, strategic silence, and selective

adherence to international norms.
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Nearly five decades after Olof Rydbeck’s mission, the conflict in Western Sahara remains
unresolved, and its core questions—sovereignty, self-determination, and legal
accountability—persist in suspended animation. The diplomatic and political failures of
1975-1976 were not mere historical anomalies; they helped establish the conditions for
the ongoing paralysis of the United Nations in the face of active territorial occupation
and settler expansion. The fact that the UN has since presided over one of its longest-
standing peacekeeping missions without ever organizing a referendum, as initially
promised, is a direct legacy of the moment studied in this dissertation. The Rydbeck
mission did not simply fail—it marked the beginning of the international community’s
gradual disengagement, cloaked in bureaucratic procedures and annual resolutions that

reaffirm principle while doing little to enforce it.

In this context, Western Sahara stands today as a stark example of natural resource
colonialism in the postcolonial age. The same dynamics analyzed in the 1970s—
phosphate extraction, fishing agreements, and foreign investments facilitated by
Morocco without the consent of the Sahrawi people—have only deepened. Recent legal
decisions from the European Court of Justice, which ruled that trade agreements
involving Western Sahara require the explicit consent of its people, have reasserted the
legal framework long ignored by state actors. Yet enforcement remains elusive.
Morocco continues to leverage access to Saharan resources to secure international
alliances, while powerful states, including permanent members of the Security Council,

maintain a deliberate ambiguity on the legal status of the territory.

Most damning, however, is the complete and enduring disregard of the international
community for the suffering of the Sahrawi people. Despite decades of exile, systemic
repression, and ongoing conflict, the Sahrawi remain largely invisible in the diplomatic
arena, reduced to abstractions—mere black dots on a geopolitical gameboard,
maneuvered without agency or voice. The UN Security Council, endowed with the
authority to act, has repeatedly abdicated its responsibilities, prioritizing regional
alliances and political expediency over the human cost of inaction. The silence in the
face of war crimes, forced displacement, and demographic manipulation is not merely a

diplomatic failure—it is a moral and legal indictment of the international system itself.
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And yet, perhaps the most striking continuity is the durability of the Sahrawi struggle.
Against enormous odds—military occupation, forced displacement, diplomatic
marginalization—the POLISARIO Front, the SADR and the Sahrawi people have sustained
a claim rooted not only in international law, but in a lived experience of resistance. If
Rydbeck’s mission revealed the limits of institutional diplomacy in the face of
geopolitical interests, the persistence of Sahrawi demands reveals the limits of
occupation in producing legitimacy. That contradiction remains unresolved, and it will
continue to haunt the credibility of international diplomacy until it is addressed not with
silence or strategic calculation, but with the long-denied promise of self-determination

and dignity.
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Appendix 5

SFM DOC 5

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)
Date: January 30, 1976
From: Political Department (Pol. avdeln.), Leifland
To: Swedish Delegation, New York (SWEDELEG)
Subject: Western Sahara — Potential Role for Gunnar Jarring
- Contact has been made with Gunnar Jarring regarding a possible assignment in
Western Sahara.
- Jarring’s initial reaction is that he has significant difficulties in taking on a new role
due to current obligations.
- Before making a final decision, Jarring wants further details regarding the mission,
specifically:

- How long the assignment would last

- The exact nature of the task — whether it involves preparing a mission or actively
overseeing and implementing measures.
- Sweden notes that Morocco has not yet given consent to the mission. If Morocco

does not agree, the assignment will be abandoned.
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- Sweden is awaiting confirmation on whether UN Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim
still wants Jarring for the role, which will be clarified upon Waldheim’s arrival in New

York.
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Swedish Delegation - New York

Immediate transmission to Rydbeck. Regarding Western Sahara.
Sender: Political Department (Pol. avdeln.), from Leifland.
Date:January 30, 1976.

Subject:Western Sahara.

Recipient: Swedish Diplomatic Officials

- Gunnar Jarring has now definitively informed me that he does not wish to be
considered for the assignment.

- Jarring will arrive in New York next Thursday for the Johnson Conference.

- He will seek contact with you at that time.

End of message.
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SFM DOC 7

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)

Date: February 3, 1976

From: Pol Il de Liungman

To: Swedish Embassies in Madrid, Algiers, and Rabat

Copy to: Various Swedish political and diplomatic offices (KABS, BITR KABS, POL CH,
POL II, POL Ill, Swedeleg New York, Cabinet Stockholm).

Urgent: Western Sahara

- Departure of an official is planned for Wednesday at 19:00 NY time on Iberia flight
25. Arrival in Madrid on Thursday at 07:40 Madrid time.

- Request for Bernstrom to be informed.

- In light of press reports on the situation in the area, we request that by Wednesday
morning we receive updates from the embassies in Madrid, Rabat, and Algiers on the
latest developments.

Signed: Rydbeck

Swedish Delegation, New York
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SFM DOC 8

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)

Date: February 3, 1976, 19:20

From: Swedish Diplomatic Correspondence

To: Swedish Delegation in New York, Cabinet Stockholm, Swedish Embassy in Algiers
Copy to: KABS, BITR KABS, POL CH, POLII, POL IlI

For Immediate Relay to the New York Delegation.

- Waldheim’s decision to send a delegation led by Ambassador Rydbeck to Western
Sahara and involved parties has been welcomed in Algiers.

- The Algerian military force that participated in battles at Amgala has returned to its
base in Algeria. No information has been provided about their losses.

- The Algerian action within Western Sahara was justified as a humanitarian transport
mission, requested by Polisario for military protection.

- Thanks to Egyptian mediation, the risk of continued Algerian military operations
within Western Sahara is currently considered low.

- Approximately 35,000 Algerian troops have been concentrated near the Moroccan
border, particularly in Bechar, Hassi Messaoud, and Tindouf.

- The Soviet Union does not wish for the conflict to escalate further and is only
providing Algeria with enough weaponry to maintain a slight advantage over Morocco.
- A few dozen Soviet military experts have arrived in Algeria for training purposes.

- The presence of Cuban and North Viethamese advisors is officially denied.
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- In Algiers, there is little visible sign of increased military readiness. Industrial
development continues, though some unfinished projects are delayed by a year.

- The Algerian government continues land reforms and social development projects.
The 1976 national budget is balanced, with estimated revenues of 24 billion dinars and
expenditures of 23 billion dinars.

- Domestically, Algeria remains politically stable, and President Boumediene's position
is strong.

- Algiers is hosting several major international conferences, including one on Third

World economic issues, with observers from socialist countries.

Signed: Edelstam
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SFM DOC 9

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)

Type: Report / Handwritten Letter / Telegram

Department: Political Division (Utrikesavdelningen)

Marked as: Secret

Distribution List:

- King of Sweden

- Various Swedish government officials, including secretaries, diplomatic divisions, and
military offices

- Embassies and diplomatic missions in key locations: Washington, Paris, Berlin,

Moscow, Algiers, Rabat, Tunis, Tel Aviv, and others

Content Summary:
This document appears to be an internal Swedish diplomatic report concerning
Western Sahara and North African affairs. The document was classified as secret and

distributed to high-ranking Swedish government and diplomatic officials.
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SFM DOC 10

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)

Date: February 4, 1976, 18:30

From: Swedish Delegation, New York (SWEDELEG)

To: Ambassador Bernstrom, Madrid

Copy to: Cabinet Stockholm, Swedish Diplomatic Offices (KABS, BITR KABS, POL CH,
POL Ill, Exp: Madrid)

Immediate Message for Ambassador Bernstrom, Madrid.
- Thank you for your kind offer to host me.
- To avoid any possible friction between the Swedish team and the Secretariat, we
have decided that Hagard will, at least for the first visit to Madrid, stay in the same
hotel as the Secretariat staff.
- Regarding introductions to the relevant officials in the Spanish Foreign Ministry, | do
not see why you would need to handle it.
- The Secretariat official Minchin already knows them from the Colonial Committee’s
visit, and the Spanish UN delegation in New York has sent people to Madrid.
- I have just learned that the Spaniards expect us to leave for Western Sahara on Friday
morning.
- Thursday’s schedule now includes:

- 12:30 PM - Lunch at Jockey Club with the Head of the Bureau for International
Affairs.
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- 4:00 PM - Meeting with the UN Under-Secretary-General.

- 5:30 PM - Meeting with the Spanish Foreign Minister.

- 6:30 PM - Meeting with the Minister in the President’s Office.
Best regards,
Rydbeck

Swedish Delegation, New York
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SFM DOC 11

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)
Date: 76 02 04
From: Political Division (Utrikesavdelningen)

Marked as: Secret

Type:Report / Telegram / Handwritten Note

Distribution List:

- King of Sweden

- Various Swedish government officials, including secretaries, military divisions, and
foreign diplomatic mission

- Embassies and diplomatic missions in strategic locations: Washington, Paris, Berlin,

Moscow, Algiers, Rabat, Tunis, Tel Aviv, and others
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SFM DOC 12

Foreign Ministry (Utrikesdepartementet)

Date: March 3, 1976

From: Pol lll, Liungman/MB

Swedish Delegation, New York (SWEDELEG) 1976-02-27

Cabinet Stockholm

Subject: Western Sahara

For POL Ill, Regarding Western Sahara

Since the exchange of letters between Mauritanian officials and the UN Secretary-

General has not been published, parts of it are reproduced here.

New York, February 25, 1976

To the Secretary-General,

I have the honor to inform you that the Tripartite Agreement signed in Madrid on
November 14, 1975, between Morocco, Spain, and Mauritania, which was
acknowledged in Resolution 3458 B, provides for the consultation of the population

of Western Sahara through the Jamaa (Legislative Assembly).
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In accordance with this agreement and under the terms of the aforementioned
resolution, the Jamaa will meet on February 26, 1976, two days before Spain's planned

withdrawal from the territory.

My government, which has always worked to ensure that the United Nations plays its
rightful role, wishes that this meeting of the Jamaa be held in the presence and with
the support of a UN representative.

I have therefore been tasked by my government to invite you to designate a UN
representative to attend the Jamaa’s session and possibly record the decisions that
will be made there.

| extend to you, Mr. Secretary-General, the assurances of my highest consideration.
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SFM DOC 13 a)
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SFM DOC 13 b)

L I'- Brwnds:
UTRIKESDEPARTEMEMNTET
S I —ORIGINAL—
Womia 1 Jaghd: (se regiw Dl Dlankesthopia)
CONSTITUTE FULFILLMENT OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTIONS
REFERRED TO ABOVE.
PLEASE ACCEPT, EXCELLENCY, THE ASSURANCES OF MY HIGHEST
® J CONSIDERAT |ON.
KURT WALDHEIM
® H.E. M. MOULAYE EL HASSEN
PERMANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF
MAUR I TANIE. TO. THE UNITED NATIONS
SLUTCIT .
RYDBECK
SWEDELEG NEW YORK
@
o
[ ]
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SFM DOC 16
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SFM DOC 18

o - sip o

THE SECRETARY-GEMERAL
OF THE UNITED RATIORS |

| HAVE THE HOMOUR TO BRING TO YOUR ATTENTION THE FACT T!AT
THE TEHPORARY TRIPARTITE ADHINISTRATION INSTITUTED IN
WESTERM SAHARA UNDER THE HADRID AGREEUENT OF 14 ’OVEVHEQ
1975, CONCLUDED BETWEEN HOROCCO, HAURETANIA AND SPAIN;

WILL COHE TO AN END ON 2R FE BRUARY 1976, IN ACC“QDAUCE]UITH
ARTICLE 2 OF THAT AGREEMENT.

IN ANTICIPATION OF THAT EVENT, WHICH WILL BE MARKED BY !THE
FINAL DEPARTURE OF THE SPANISH GOVERNOR FROM THAT ADHI1-
MISTRATION, THE LOCAL ASSEMBLY (THE DJENMA?A) WILL HOLJ
FOR THAT DUPPos= AN EXTRAORDINARY [EETING ON THURSDA

2€ FEBRUARY 197%,

VE APPEAL C THIS OCCASION TC ALL THE lEfiIBERS OF THE
DJEHNAA WHO ARE OUTSIDE THE TERRITORY TO PARTICIPATE
" THAT UEETING IN ORDER TO EXPRESS THEIR VIEWS F?ECLY

AND WE ASSURE THEN OF FREEDO! OF HOVEMENT UMDER UNITED
NATIONS GUARANTEE, INCLUDING THE POSSIBLILTY OF LEAVI“C
THE TERRITORY IF THAT SHOULD BE THEIR WISH,

| REQUEST YOUR EXCELLENCY TO ARRANGE TO BE REPRESENTED Ev
AN OBSERVER AT THAT HEETING

ACCEPT, SIR, THE EXPRESSION OF NY HIGHEST CONSIDERATION,

DR. AHHED LARAKI ?
HINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS g
OF THE KINGDOM OF HORDCCO !
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SFM DOC 20 b)

SECRETARY-GENERAL,.??

e ————TYTS—
"7, REQUESTS THE GOVERMIENT OF SPAIN, AS THE |

, ADHINISTERING POWER, 1! ACCORDANCE WITH THE OBSERVATIQNS
AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE VISITING (11SS10% AND IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE ADVISORY OPINION OF THE INTERMATIOMAL COURT OF
JUSTICE, TO TAKE INHEDIATELY ALL NECESSARY IEASURES, IN
CONSULTATION WITH ALL THE PARTIES CONCERNED AND INTERESTED,
SO THAT ALL SAHARANS ORIGINATING IN THE TERRITORY HAY
EXEQC|SE FULLY AND FREELY, UNDER UNITED NATIONS SUPERVISION,
THEIR INALJENABLE RIGHT TO SELF=-DETERIIINATION,

SID s

'’a, REQUESTS THE SECRETARY-GENERAL, IN
CONSULTATION WITH THE GOVERNHENT OF SPAIN, AS THE |
ADI1INISTERING POWER, AND THE SPECIAL CONIIITTEE ON THE
SITUATION WITH REGARD TO THE INPLEHENTATION OF THE
DECLARATIOMN ON THE GRANTING OF INDEPENDENCE TC COLONIAL
COUNTRIES AND PEOPLES, TO NAKE THE NECESSARY ARRAMGENENTS
FOR THE SUPERVISION OF THE ACT OF SELF-DETERMINATION
REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 7 ABOVE,.'?

FURTHER, IN PARAGRAPH 4 OF RESOLUTION B, THE GENERAL
ASSEHBLY:

4, REQUESTS HE INTERI!M ADIINISTRATION TO TAKE
ALL NECESSARY STEPS TO ENSURE THAT ALL THE SAHARAN POPULA-

TIONS ORIGINATING IN THE TE??I 02Y WILL BE ABLE TO EXERCISE
THEIR INALIENABLE RIGHT TO SELF-DETERHINATION THROUGH

FREE CONSULTATIOMS ORGANIZED WITH THE ASSISTANCE OF A
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE UNITED MATICMS APPOINTED BY THE '
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SFM DOC 20 c)

Yous EXCELLENCY'S NESSAGE RAISES A NUMBER OF ISSUES WHICH
CUMOULD WAvE HAD TO BE CLARIFIED UNDER THE TERIIS OF THe ABOVE

HESULUT!GHS. HOWEVER, THE PERIANENT REPRESENTATIVE OF SPA N

TO THE UNITED NATIONS HAS INFORMED ME TODAY THAT HIS

GOVERNMENT wWas NOT AWARE OF Yous MESSAGE. UNDER THE EiﬁCUH-
STANCES, AS SPAIN IS BOTH THE ADHINISTERING POWER OF

THE TERRITORY AND A HEMNBER OF THE INTERIN ﬂDHIHISTRﬁTIﬂH,

I AN SURE ‘vou WILL UNDERSTAND THAT | Al NOT IN R POSITION

To consiDer TAKING ACTION WITH REGARD TO YOUR MESSAGE,!

PLEASE ACCEPT, EXCELLENCY, THE ASSURANCES OF MY HIGHEST
CONSIDERAT ION .,

KURT WALDHEIM
SEGHEThﬁYhﬂEHEﬂnL
OF THE umITED HNATIONS

HIS EXCELLENCY

DR, AWIED LARAKI

HiNISTER OF STATE IN CHARGE
OF FOREIGN AFFAlRS

RABAT

Horocp
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SID ¢

TERTIO

SECURITY COUNCIL
THIRTY=F IRST YEAR

A/31/5¢
$/11997
LETTER DATED 26 FEBRUARY 1976 FROII THE PERHANENT
REPRESENTATIVE OF SPAIN TO THE UNITED NATIONS ADDRESSED
TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL

ON INSTRUCTIONS FROII 1Y GCVERNMENT, | HAVE THE HONOUR TO CALL
YOUR EXCELLENCY’S ATTENTION TO THE FOLLOWING:

IN NUHEROUS COIIHUNICATIONS, | HAVE HAD TO INFORM YOUR
EXCELLENCY OF THE WILLINGNESS OF THE SPANISH GOVERNHENT TO

PROCEED, IN AN ORDERLY AND PEACEFUL MANNER, WITH THE DE-
COLON|ZATION OF THE TERRITORY OF WESTERM SAHARA, IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PRINCIPLES OF THE CHARTER AND THE
RELEVANT RESOLUTIONS OF THE GENERAL ASSEIBLY.

ON 20 AUGUST 1974 (A/9714),. THE SPANISH GOVERNHENT
ANNOUNCED THE HOLDING OF A REFERENDUN FOR THE SELF-
DETERMINATION OF THE TERRITORY DURING THE FIRST SIX HONTHS
OF 1075. HOWEVER, THE GENERAL ASSENBLY, IN ITS RESOLUT3ON
3202 (XXIX) REQUESTED THE INTERNATIONAL COURT OF JUSTICE
TO GIVE AM ADVISORY OPIMION AND URGED THE SPANISH COVER'-
ENT TO POSTPONE THE REFERENDUM.
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_SID 7

ALTHOUGH THAT RESQOLUTION PROLONGED SPAIN’S RESPONSIBIL)-
TIES AND CREATED A CLIWATE OF UNCERTAINTY, SPAIN ACCEDED
TO THE POSTPONEMENT BECAUSE THE RESOLUTION RECOGNIZED
THE RIGHT OF THE INDIGENOUS POPULATION OF THE TERRITORY
TO SELF-DETERMINATION.

EXTERNAL FACTORS DID NOT CONTRIBUTE, AS WOULD HAVE BEEN BE-
QUIRED BY RESPECT FOR THE PRINCIPLES AND PRECEPTS OF THE
CHARTE®, TO A CLINATE OF PEACE AMD ORDER: OM THE CONTRARY,
THE AGGRAVATED THE INSTABILITY OF THE SITUATION IN THE
TERRITORY AND THE AREA.

IN A COIIMUNICATION DATED 23 HAY 1975 (A/101795), | INFORKET
YOUR EXCELLENCY THAT, IF THOSE DISTURZIHG FACTORS DID

NOT CEASE, SPAIN WOULD BE OBLIGED TO END ITS PRESEHCE AND
ADIlINISTERING ROLE, FOR WHICK AN APPROPRIATE DATE WOULD
BE SET.

THE SERIOUS SITUATION THAT HAD ARISEN IN THE TERRITORY

LED TO THE CONVENING OF THE SECURITY COUNCIL, ON 20

OCTOBER 1975, AT SPAIN’S REQUEST (S/11851). THE SPANISH
GOVERNMENT ONCE AGAIN INDICATED ITS WILLINGMESS TO ENSURE

A SPEEDY AND PEACEFUL DECOLONIZATION OF THE TERRITORY OF
THE SAHARA, BEING READY TO ACCEPT A TEMPORARY INTERNATIOMAL
ADHIHISTRAT ION OF THE TERRITORY, AS STATED IN YOUR
EXCELLENCY’S REPORT TO THE SECURITY COUNCIL (S/1187&).
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IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECURITY COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 277 (1975),
37° (1975) AMD 390 (1975), THE GOVERNHENTS OF SPAIN,

HORCCCO AND FAURETANIA EHTERED INTO MEGOTIATIONS WITHIN THE
FRANEWORK CF ARTICLE 33 OF THE CHARTER. OMN 14 NOVEHBER 1975,
IN HADRID, AS A RESULT OF THOSE MEGOTIATIONS, A DECLARATION
OF PRINCIPLES WAS SIGNED WHICH IS SET FORTH IN DOCUMEN
§/11880 AND WHICH, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 102 OF TH

H
CHARTER, WAS REGISTERED WITH THE SECRETAR D
1975. IX ITS RESOLUTION 3453 B (XXX), ADOPTED ON 10

DECENBER 1975, THE GENERAL ASSENBLY TOOK NOTE E
AGREEIIENTS CONTAINED IN THAT DECLARATION. IN PARAGRAPH 2

OF THE DECLARATION OF PRINCIPLES, 1T WAS LAID DOWN THAT
THE TERIMINATION OF THE SPANISH PRESENCE IN THE TERRITORY
WOULD BE COHPLETED BY 28 FEBRUARY 197€ AT THE LATEST.

OF TH

IN A COMNUNICATION DATED 19 JAMNUARY 197€, | [INFORI
YOUR EXCELLENCY THAT THE SPAMNISH GOVERNHENT HAD

THE CO-OPERATION OF THE GOVERNHENTS OF NOROCCO A
IAURETANIA WITH A VIEW TO IMPLEMENT ING GENERAL ASSEMNBLY
RESOLUTION 3458 (XXX), AND | OFFERED YOUR EXCELLENCY
CO-OPERATION AND EVERY POSSIBLE AND NECESSARY ASSISTANC
TO THE REPRESENTATIVE APPOINTED BY YOU SO THAT HE MIGHT
PROCEED TO THE TERRITORY AND ASSESS THE SITUATION WIT

R

A VIEW TO ENSURING THE RIGHT OF Al

m -

DETERHINATION, THAT OFFER WAS TO E

COilHIUN ICAT IONS TO YOUR EXCELLEMCY ON 22 AND 30 JANUARY,
ON THE OCCASION OF THE VISIT TO HADRID AND THE TERRITORY
OF THE SAHARA BY ANBASSADOR RYDBECK, THE REPRES
APPOINTED BY YOU, THE SPANISH AUTH P
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* 51D 1n

Al SPAIN CONSIDERS ITSELF HENCEFORTH EXENPT FROH ANY
RESPONSIEILITY OF AN INTERMATIOMAL MATURE IN COMMEX ION
WITH THE ADNINISTRATION OF THE SAID TESRITORY, IN VIEW
OF THE CESSATIOM OF ITS PARTICIPATION IN THE TEUPORARY
ADHINISTRAT ION ESTABLISHED FOR THE TERRITORY.

B) THE DECOLOMIZATION OF WESTERN SAHARA WILL REACH
ITS CLIMHAX WHEKR THE VIEWS OF THE SAHARAN POPULATION
HAVE BEEWN VALIDLY EXPRESSED.

| SHOULD BE GRATEFUL IF YOUR EXCELLENCY WOULD ARRANGE
FOR THIS NOTE TO BE DISTRIBUTED AS A DOCUMENT OF THE
GENERAL ASSENBLY AMD THE SECURITY COUMCIL.

{ SIGHED) JAIME DE PINIES

AHBASSADOR
PERIIAMENT REPRESENTATIVE

RYDEECK

SHWEDELEG MEW YORK KL 195D
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-
o Brecde:
*| UTRIKESDEPARTEMEMNTET
— DRIGINAL —
Kogla Hil: Kighrd: (we reghr pl biankattkopia)
EARB
EITR KABS
FOL CH
POL 111 Kigerd o0 bif Nste Lo Rk
POL II '
Q | & rl&:
SWEDELEG NEW YORK 1976-03-02 P
” - .
' se' AiA R,
P CABINET STHLM bGete #il -
| "RE VAESTRA - SAHARA.
‘ NERAL SEXRETERAREN R|NGDE ﬂln [ Fuanmnnns UTAN lT!' nlss-
RINNAN HA_KONSULTERAT MIG | FRAGAN
NU.VILLE BE MIG_FARA. TILL ALGER|ET Fﬂa m EQRTSATTA mu
Em.ultmm' Mi8SION ¥1.D.. KQNTAKTER-MED DE FLYKTINGAR 50M. -
DER. HAN.FRAMHOLL ATT MANDATET SKULLE WARA DETSAMMA SOM
STA FABEN AV MIN mu OM. JAG SKULLE DOCK |NTE KA
mrru'r MED-ALGER | 8XA VEDERBURANDE ELLER POLISAR|0, TYARTOM,
OMBADS ATT IN Hf.mlﬂs. MAROCKOS OCH nmlErmEus
Iﬂl'l.il.lDE AS OM_ SAMT MEDDELA ATT J
TILL F ANDE Fi’in BESUK | RABAT OCH Inun:cuuﬂ wrr
Eaﬁnwﬁ neamumn ﬂusune

@ | ALGERIETS RAHAL UTTRYCKTE SIN TILLFREDSSTALLELSE MED GENERAL-
SEKRETERARENS BESLUT OCH FURKLARADE ATT ALLA MEDEL SKULLE

STALLAS TILL MITT FORFOGANDE FUR ATT MITT UPPDRAG :
@ | Osis'Pa BsTa Girr. SRLE KA

MAURETANIENS EL HASSAN NOTERADE FAKTUM OM MIN RESA TILL
GERIET OCH MIN BEREDVILLIGHET ATT BESOKA MOUAKCHOTT SAMT
KLH!IIE ATT HAN SKULLE IFDHHEﬂ! SIN REGERING.

MAROCKOS SLAOU| REAGERADE YTTERST MEGATIVT OCH BETECKNADE
GEIEII!LSEKI‘ETEIAIEHE INITIATIV YTTERST MEGATIVT OCH NADE
GENERAL SEKRETERARENS INITIATIV SOM MONSTRUOST. FRAN HMI“%KT
SIDA VILLE H:g ﬂllﬂ HIB Hl AT. T HEHEHLLSEKIEIEIHEH NU E
EN PRAXT)SK ABEL FUR MAROC DET MANDAT ' S0M_JAG
SKULLE SAMDAS Il'l' PR’ HH'ITES. HAN IIIITIIERIDE WALDHEIM FUR

B ATT INTE SKNDA MIG rﬁi ATT BESOKA FL'nmmum | MARDCKOD - n
i ocu MAURETANIEN . KOMSULTAT |ONER -MED “5}, DB;‘ lmn
w ATT_INFORMERAS NAGOT.OM ATT. JAG. STOD TILL FORFOGAN

T B B ol TRASE e

ety & L EaT -—--~"~'
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|
_-._ .n- . Brande:
«.. *| UTRIKESDEPARTEMENTET
— ORIGINAL —
Kopla til: Ragied; (se regler pi blanksttkopi)

ANNAT.

« HAN F INTE FORVANAD

KUNNA RISKERA LEDA TILL EN FURV

DAG, F

KOMMER ATT GALLA OCKSA VID DENNA.

RYDBECK

SWEDELEG NEW YORK

ﬂ HAN ATT SLUTLIGT BESLUT OM AVRESA BUR ANST

oA :i.n HAN HUNNIT AMALYSERA LAGET YTTERL|GAR
. ockSh KONSULTERAT FLER MEDARBETARE 1 SEKRET
OCH |NTRESSERADE LANDERNAS REPRESENTANTER HAR.

ER DEN MAROCKANSKA.

‘ INFOR UTSIKTERNA ATT EN “‘“'T'k'.;,.:ﬁﬁ EITE:E'%E&I& :ﬁLLE

LL MORGOMBAGEN.

E OCH FURMODL |GEN
RIATET-OCH DE BERURDA

JAg :I.%R mFORHEB:T EEHEHLIEKEE'TEHAREH IKVELL OM DE REAKTIONER
JAG MOTT EFULL v

TEHTI;T*\PT PLANERAS ATT JAG RESER T|LL GENEVE | NSTUNDANDE . SN
R ATT MANDAGEN BEN 8 MARS FARA TILL ALGER.

.:Ag UTGAR FRAN ATT DE ARRANGEMANG RURANDE MIN OCH HAGARDS
TJANSTGORING, SOM OVERENSKOMS MED KELLBERG VID MiIN FURA RESA
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| UTRIKEBDEPARTEMENTET

| Eopia oy Aighed: (sn regiar pd blanketthopia)
KABS L//I/
BITR KADS .
POL COH
POL TTT
POL 11 He | {%&QJ
5@ %

SWEDELEG NEW YORK 1976-03-03

CABINET STOCKHOLM

RAETTELSE TILL VART
FEMTE STYGKET RAD FEM LKSt *EN PARTISK LOSNING'®

SWEDELEG NEW YORK
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v 5%7/7//«‘ A

<.
; da,
R Tu{xxz:n':)u\w'rm'vtu'r-:-r ﬁd/ PAOMIZLORT A
. olitinka avdalningen
Tred jo byrfn VU 16=0%=04
O e Mk
BTRANGT PURTROLIC = Undhasduparinmentst Pul. 111
-4 MRS 1976
Vistra Sshara 1//0 /DSIO

¥61 jande har inbernuC av ambasnadtren Aydbeck vid FN-representationen 1

Wew York 1976-03-02:
) /{

. i
s %”W/%,ﬂ}

~ F&NERALSEKRETERMEI RINGDE MI@ | FOERMIDDAGS, UTAN ATT DESS~
INNAN HA KONSULTERAT MIG | FRAGAN, OCH MEDDELADE ATT HAN
NU VILLE BE MIG FARA TILL ALGERIET FOR ATT F TTA M

EXPLORATORY MISSION V1.D KONTAKTER MED DE FLYKTINGAR SOM
. _HA ATT MANDATET SKULLE VARA DETSAMMA SOM
FORSTA FASEN AV MIN MISS|ON. JAG SKULLE DOCK INTE UNDVIKA

KONTAKT MED ALGERISKA VEDERBURANDE ELLER POL|SARIO, TVARTOM,

G OMBADS ATT INFORMERA '&Lcanls‘rs, MAROCKOS OCH MAURETANENS
RVARANDE wsswgasa ROM_SAMT MEDDELA ATT JAG F
STOD TILL FORFOGANDE FOR BESUK | RABAT OCH NOUAKCHOTT OM
RESPEKTIVE REGERINGAR SA UNSKADE.

ALGERIETS RAHAL UTTRYCKTE SIN TILLFREDSSTALLELSE MED GEMERAL-
SEKRETERARENS BESLUT OCH FURKLARADE ATT ALLA MEDEL SKULLE

STALLAS TILL MITT FURFOGANDE FUR ATT MITT UPPDRAG SKULLE KUNNA
w LUSAS PA BASTA SATT.

MAURETANIENS EL HASSAN NOTERADE FAKTUM OM MIN RESA TILL
GERIET OCH MIN BEREDVILLIGHET ATT BESUKA NOUAKCHOTT SAMT
KLARADE ATT HAN SKULLE INFORMERA SIN REGERING.

MAROCKOS SLAOU| REAGERADE YTTERST NEGATIVT OCH BETECKNADE
GENERALSEXKRETERARENS INITIATIV YTTERST NEGATIVT OiH BETECKNADE
GENERAL SEKRETERARENS INITIATIV SOM MONSTRUOST. FRAN HAROCKM%KT
SIDA VILLE HAg STARKT MISSTANKA AT T GENERALSEXRETERAREN NU E
EN PRAKT|SK LOSNING, OACCEPTABEL FUR MAROCKO. DET MANDAT SOM JAG
SKULLE SANDAS UT PA IFRAGASATTES. HAN KRITISERADE WALDHEIM FOR L

ATT INTE SANDA MIG FUR ATT BESUKA FLYKTINGARNA | MAROCKO
OCH MAURETANIEN EFTER KONSULTATIONER MED DE BERURDA REGER |NGARNA.
ATT INFORMERAS NAGOT OM ATT JAG STOD TILL FORFOGANDE FOR ETT

g R R
e — e R
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ANNAT.

JAG HAR |NFORMERAT OEIERALSEK&‘EJERME IKVALL OM DE REAKTIONER

JAG MOTT, HAN FOREFOLL INTE F NAD OVER DEN MAROCKANSKA,
INFOR UTSIKTERNA ATT EN RESA TILL ALGERIET EVENTUELLT SKULLE
KUNNA RISKERA LEDA TILL EN FURVARRAD SITUAT]ON FORKLARADE

HAN ATT SLUTLIGT BESLUT OM AVRESA BUR ANSTA TILL MORGONDAGEN.

DA HAR HAN HUNNIT ANALYSERA LXGET YTTERL|GARE OCH FURMODL | GEN

OCKSA KONSULTERAT FLER MEDARBETARE | SEKRETARIATET OCH DE BERURDA

OCH INTRESSERADE LANDERNAS REPRESENTANTER HAR.

TENTATIVT PLANERAS ATT JAG RESER TILL GENEVE |NSTUNDANDE SON~
DAG, FOR ATT MANDAGEN BEN 8 MARS FARA TILL ALGER.

JAG UTGAR FRAN ATT DE ARRANGEMANG RURANDE MIN OCH HAGARDS
TUANSTGORING, SOM UVERENSKOMS MED KELLBERG VID MIN FORA RESA
KOMMER ATT GALLA OCKSA VID DENNA.
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CAB | NEY srwxm

T FOR KABINETTSSEXRETERAREN. RE VASTRA SAMARA.
® | ANSLUTNING TILL NITT

& JAG MAR IDAG HAFT YTTERLISARE ETT SAMTAL MED GEMERAL-

e DA oo sonaen

EML1GT WALDHEIN rdllm.Ln u'r SOM OM DE
AMAICK AV DET MAROCKAN len mu.l mm
8 GENOM ATT oulnulxl n noo
? oM M1 tv-mmu | RABAT. l.uw
x A:r'r JAG ATER SKALL u A SPANIEN. MAROCKOS-BESKED

® HiN WRITAI‘KI K&Li:& ADE MIG IDAG ATT JAQ
| OCH FUR ULLE BAS VALKOMMEN TILL MAURITAN|EN
MEN um ND|GHETERNA UTTRYCKTE MAN DEN F

FRAGAN OM MIN RESA DIT.

GENERAL SEXRETERAREN KOMMER OCKSA ATT HA ETT SAMTAL MED
NAUR | TAN | ERN. :

OM WALDMEIM FAR POSITIVT uu‘n FRAN
PLANERAS MIN.RESA TENTATIVT PABURJAS uuuu mu 8 MAR

FORTSATTER DARIFRAN ANTINGEN DIR

TILL MABRID
K TILL ALGER. VISTELSEN | ALGER|ET

ELLER VIA

G
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b |

| UTRIKESDEPARTEMENTET

ORIGINAL —

Kopia 8l Aighed: (we regler pi blankenthops)

KUNNA AVSLUTAS DEN 13 ELLER 1A MARS. ﬂ-‘mm uumu
INSISTERAR PA ATT RE INTE Fﬂﬁnl DIREKT
ALGERIET OCHM MAROCKO MASTE JAG DAREFTER uu Vi IHIOPL

FURMODLIGEN FAR JAG VIA GENEVE, MEN JAG VILL INTE UTE-

l.un MIUL1GNETEN ATT STANNA NAGON DAG | ROM | STALLET.
NDER, EVENTUELLT SALEDES, TILL RABAT WAGON AV

mnm 16-18 MARS. AVFARD TILL WOUAKCHOTT AR FOR

TIDIGT ATT UTTALA $1@ OM. JAG FAR ANLEDNING ATERKOMMA.

RYDBECK

SWEDELEG NEW YORK

|!

e i £ e R SR T 7 e e e
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1D 3

THEX TO COMSIDER THAT THE HOLDING OF THE EXTRACRD | MARY
HEETING OF THE JEIAA, UNDER DISCUSSION, AND THE ASSISTANCE
OF A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SECRETARY GENERAL FoR THIS PuR-

FOSE, cannoT CONSTITUTE *#IN ANY CASE & IHPLEHENTAT | 0N
OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE GENERAL ASSENELY RESOLUTIONS WITH
REGARD TO THE EXERCISE oF THE RIGHT OF THE SAHARAN POPU-
LATION To SELF=DETERIINATION®*, 15 TO GIVE AN INTERPRETA-
TION THAT IS BASED NEITHER ON THE HADRID AGREEMENT HOR: ON
RESOLUTION B WHICH ToOK NOTE OF THIS AGREEHENT,

IF, oM THE CONTRARY, WE REFER EXCLUSIVELY TO RESOLUTIOM A,
IT 1S VERY DIFFICULT To AssERT THAT IT HAS GIVEN A PRECISE
DEFINITION OF THE PRACTICAL HODALITIES OF THE INTENDED® COM-
SULTATION, A DEFINITION THAT ALLOWS THE SECRETARY GEMERAL
TO CONSIDER THAT MOROGCO AND MAURITANIA HAVE NOT FULFILED
THE CONDITIONS. OME cay VENTURE TO THINK THAT THIS RESQLU—
TION CONTAINS DELIBERATELY AN AMBIGUITY SO THAT THE ACT
OF SELF-DETERHINAT ION CAN BE PERFORMED IN MANY WAYS anD
ESPECIALLY THROUGH THE REPRESENTATIVES OF THE POPULAT IOM,
OREOVER THE PRACTICE OF THE GEMERAL ASSEMBLY REGARDING THE
IHPLENENTATION OF THE PRINCIPLE OF SELF-DETE=ii|NATION I'S OF
SUCH & VARIETY THAT THIS acT IH ITSELF HAS HAD UP TO NOM AS
HAMY INTERPRETATIONS AS THERE HAVE BEEW SPEC|F|C SITUATIONS,
IT HAY “OT BE InTERPoETER M A SYSTEOATIC LANMER AS LEA“we
"'POPULAR CONSULTATION?*, AW EXPRESSION USED EY THE E:F -
Tary GEMERAL IN HIS PRESS CONFERENCE,
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BVERIGES New York 1976-03-02
STANDIGA REFPRESENTATION

. vIiD
FORENTA NATIONERNA

’ ol 3, Ds Hellgren/su Utvikesrddet Leifland

;989712-20 o UTRIKESDEPARTEMENTET
x till: Ma Lemn
HEMLIG amb. Rabat(unr) " e'
enligt 3 § sekretesslagen. A
¥ /3 19.26 tgdrd se bif listq
Utrikesdepartemaptet .
g Y T
STRANGT FURTROLIGT
. Uppdr i Viistra Sahara o 6/
(1 »i1,) INKOM YD
& - g5 1975
Broder, Gr. Ml
e 11 "ock

of » Nirslutet finner Du en officiell skrivelse med redo-
J¢1[- gbrelse for mitt uppdrag som generalsekreterarens

"gpecial representative". Jag sdnder den pd detta
slitt till Dig istdllet fér att 1ita den gd den vanliga
viigen, d4 jeag kr angeligen att se till att rapporten
icke ges nigon spridning utdver kretsen utrikesministern/
kabinettessekreteraren samt berdrda beskickningschefer
inklusive Madrid,

i~

Addrenss Telabeon Telegmm: Talaxs
£33 Third Aveswe, Mow Yook, N Y, 10022 1212] T415M0 SWIDELEC New Yok naxn
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SVERIGES MM- Legy
. STANDIGA uxvl;;z-xn-n\ﬂou V9% 03 -0
FORENTA NATIONERNA 1976-03-01 Nr. 184FN HP 48
NEW YORK Pol 3, Ds Hellgren/su
1989~ 10 20
Ex till: Maikki Lemne,
t (unr)
HEMLIG
Mlil ;"‘gﬁn‘:}“‘“‘h‘ Utrikesdepartementet
Utrikesdepars |
' STOCKHOLM

77 - [TNK UTRIFEZ PEP.|
%%/ 'DNN:;)TRWS /gf?/f
STRANG? FURTROLICT ';-Z)m T&0 3 J(

Vistra Sahara
3 bil,

Den 31 januari utedgs jag av ¥N:s generalsokreterare till
#( dennes sirskilde representant { frigan r¥rande Vistra
Sahara. Uppdraget gillde att vid kontakter med f&re-
triidare fér den administrerande makten Spanien samt
i Vietra Sahara med olika féretrédare f5r befoliningen
s8ka utrdna vilka f8rutedtiningarna var f3r att genonfdra
den konsultation som SsyTtas { bAde del A och B av
resolution 3458 (XXX). Denna eyftar till att ti111f3rsikra
befolkningen i Vietra Sahars dess xitt ti11 sjilvbestimman-
de. Deesutom skulle Jag underobh;vilkon form FN:s nir-
varo eller samarbetet vid demna konsultation borde ge-
8 staltas,

Redan efter det f&rsta saztalet med den spanske utrikes-
ministern i Madrid den 5 februari stod det klart att
p8jligheterna att genonfdra den "act of self determina-
tion" som omtalas i del 4 av Tesolutionen eller den
"consultation" som dayftas { del 3 skulle onBjliggbras

Addrear Todeton: Tesmna Todar.
K23 Thind Avenve, How Yook, N. ¥, 10022 (212) 7318900 EWEDELIC Mew Tert nasx
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redan av det skillet att Spanien skulle komma att std
fast vid sitt beslut att lémna territoriet senast den
28 februari., Som bekant drog sig Spanien tillbaka full-
stindigt redan den 26 februari, Vid mitt andra samtal
med utrikesminister Areilsza den 13 februari preciserade
han vad han vid det forsta sammantriffandet betecknat
som en Snskan frdn spansk sida att fA in N i bilden fére
fulleténdigt tillbakadragande genom att helt enkelt
konstatera att vad Spanien Snskade var att FN skulle

. intrida i Spaniens stille { den interimistiska admini-
strationen av territoriet tillsammans med Marocko och
Mauritanien.

sl For departementets dokumentation difogas uppteckningar
av de samtal jag hade med den spanske utrikesministern
den 5 och 13 februari.,

Av det uppenbara skilet att F¥ inte b3r sanktionera ett
av framfdrallt Marocko framtvingat fait accompli har
generalsekreteraren inte velat agera pd ett pitt soz
skulle innebiira att denna epanska Snekan uppfylle, Som
framghtt av de telegraz Jag sint under den glngna veckan
har generalsekreteraren inte heller velat komprozettera
. FR genom att sénda en representant att nirvara vid det
nite so= Marocko och Mauritanien arrangerade med den
e k Djemaan den 26 februari,

Redan vid ankomsten till E1 Afun den 7 februari férstod
Jag att Marocko, som med mycket litet mdtt av entusiasm
accepterat generalsekreterarens férslag att utse en
eirskild represestant f3r VEstra Sahara-frdgan, skulle
gora sitt yttersta for att o5ka viea mig att befolkmingen
i Vietra Sahara enhiilligt 815t upp kring, som det ut-
trycktes, dteranslutningen t111 zmoderlandet Marocko.
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Homm@iratrupper, demonstrationer med marookanska

flaggor och kungapertritt, musikgrupper fréin Marakesh
och utvalda grupper som genom talesmin framférde wvil
inrepeterade marockansks slogans etod f8r den yttre
ramen, De marockanska myndighetspersoner och talesmiin
gom jag bereddes tillfHlle att triffa franffrzde den
marockanska uppfatiningen nfigot oliks vid oliks £111-
fillen bercende pd frigestlllningen och omstindigheterma.
Dels framhille att nAgom konsultation med befolkningen 1
Viietra Sahara inte borde genomfBras, eftersom detta
territorium alltid varit en marockansk provins. Som
exempel fHr stunden anfirdes att man inte kunde fire-
etilla elg att innevinarna i Paris skulle kunns t111-
frigas om ein Bneken att bibehflla Parie som en del av
Frankrike, Dels framh$lls att kemsultationen redan genom-
forte den 29 november, dd Djemaan sades n uttalat sig om
trepartefiverenskommelesen i Madrid den 14 samms minad,
Dele firetkte man hiivda att min nirvarc 1 omrddet var
den konsultation som flrutses i del ® av resclution
5458, HErtill kommer att man kategoriskt avvisade varje
form av referendum, MEjligtvie ekulle man kunna tdnks sig
Ftterligare en komeultation av Djemaans Snskan f¥r att,
som man sade, tillfredestiilla FN:e Snekemfl. Det fhre-
faller som om m¥tet med Djemaan dem 26 februari iscen-
satts i detta syfte.

kven om vi fick samstimmigs uppgifter om att delar av
befolimingen h#ll pd att Aterviinda t111 territoriet strar
fire och under mitt bestk - uppgiften bekriftades av den
spanske tillffrordnade generalguvernfiren - kunde jag
konstaters att stora delar av den befolkning, som funnits
i Fl Mun, Smara och Villa Ciesnercs (Dakhla) under tiden
fér kolonialkommitténe miseion, nu helt enkelt inte fanns
pd plats. Kldre personer, kvinnor och barn syntes men vi
triffade och sdg  ytterst fA mlin 1 Aldrarna femtenm ti11
fyztio &z,
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Den marcckanska militéira nirvaron var pAfallande. Vi
transporterades 1 militlrplan, inlogerades 1 det
marockanska hiigkvarteret, f @ hotell Parador, pd flyg-
plateen i E1 Adun etod ett trettiotal militéra plan
uppstillda, F 5, Sabres och Hldre propellerdriwvna
epanings- eller eldledningsplan, deras aktivitet 1

luften kunde vi notera dagligen. En dorgon vaknade

Jag av att en bataljon och hela dess tross lastbile-
transperterades utanfdr mitt hotellféneter. Vid besbket
i Villa Cienercs f6rekom #ven mauritansk trupp. Vid ett
samtal som =mina medarbetare Minchin oech Hagard hade en
kvEll med bl a Gversten Dlimi framkom att han niira fEljt
mina resor, Han presenterades fér =ig féret vid avfizden.
Han bestkte Villa Cieneros dagen fére min ankomst dit
f6r att firviesa sig om att liiget var under kontroll.
Sedan vi Atervint ti11 Furopa, erfor vi att Smara bara
tvh dagar fire mitt besik hade varit plateen fBr strider,
Detta kan ha varit ekiilet i1l varfér sikerhetsfdranstalt-
ningarna vid besdket didr wvar rigorbea. Staden
forefGll i Svrigt vara praktiskt taget tom. Frin samtalet
med Dlimi kan noteras att han férklarade sig vara beredd
att inom en till tre dagar gd mot Tindouf i Algeriet.
Hane respekt f6r FN etrickte sig inte lingre #n att han
framhill att FN visserligen wvarit ndgot att ha 1956, di
Maroeko uppnidde sjElvetindighet,men nu skulle FN inte
liggn oin niea i blét, Han skulle inte tveka att skjuta
PA vilken blA hjlm som in uppenbararsig i Marocko, vari
Vistra Sahara inkluderades.

De desinfektionsoperationer i territoriet soz= leddes
av Dlizi, han anvinde sjilv den termen, gjorde oppositicnm
mot den marockanske oclupanten i det nirmaste omijlig,

Den sapanske tillffrordnade generalguverntren, som jag
triiffade 1 enrum strax efter min ankemet och som gav mig
informationer, som glorde det littare fér mig att uppskatia
vad som senare sades mig, beriittade att det skulle vara
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higet osannolikt om jag triffade pd nlgon som vigade
opponera sig. MEjligtvie ekulle ndgon Folisario-medlem
lyckas smyga sig med em grupp som i Hvrigt bestod av
lojals marockovinner., Ett sddant fall intriiffade niir en
grupp arbetare frin fosfatgruvorna i Bu Craa besbkte mig
i El Adun, Den incident som f8ljde har Jag redan redogjort
fér i sirekild ordning. Jag kan hir pli=ma att statesekre-
teraren i det marockanska inrikesainisteriet, Baeri, dagen
fér den asylebkandens avfErd til]l Eanariefarna sikte f8z-
md honom att kvarstanna, Man edkte liven férsd den spanske
generalguvernren att Endra eitt beslut. Denne farklarade
sig beredd under fBrutsitining att sddant beslut fattades
pl samma pitt som beslut fattats om hans utresa, allted

i min pirvaro, Evillen f8ze wlr avresa frdn territoriet
frigade jag Gversten Valdes om mannen verkligen befunnit
eig i livefara, Valdes svEvade inte pi =llet utan konsta-
terade att enligt hans uppfattning kunde den asylsikande ha
skjutite omglende efter min aviird,

Ett sonat tillfille d& opposition kom +ill uttryck war 1
Smara. En grupp sheiker intervjuades och samtligs uttryockte
esin storas tillfredestillelss Sver Madridiverenskommelsen
utom en som sade att demna hade -:'1"'} tt uttrycka sin upp-
fattning om eller berette tillfElle godkinna. Han tystades
omedelbart gemom att ristnirng medelst handupprickning
genonfBrdes.

Mina slutsatser framgir av rapporten till generalsekre—
teraren, Denna bifogas.

I sazband med min Aterkomst ti1]l New York stilldes frimst
av presssn frigan varfir jag inte besfkte de flyktingar
som vietas i Algeriet. Jag hade sjElv frigat generalsekre-
teraren om demna mGjlighet innan jag reste. Han hade
understrukit att det pd detta stadium av mitt uwppdrag inte
fanne anledning att besfka Algeriet., Diremot h511 han inte
a4 f8r otroligt att han senare skulle be mig fara dit.
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Hir jag Sverlimnade rapporten framhBl]l generalsekreteraren
att han fortfarande hiller dBrren Bppen fBr ett besdk 1
Algeriet. Innan beslut hirom fattas, synes han vilja
analysera situationen som den ter sig sedan Polisarie
utropat Saharas arabiska och demokratiska republik samt
hur OAT:s ministerrid kommer att agera 1 Addis Abeba pd
den rekommendation som befrielsekommittén antog 1 Lourenso
Marques i birjan av februari rérande erkinnande av Folisario
som befrielserdrelsen f&r Vistra Sahara. HErtill kommer att
han miste bli férviesad om att sastliga berérda och
intresmerade stater 1 frigan kommer att kunna medverkas t111
ett sfdant andra steg 1 min mission. Aveikten Hr att ett
bestk i Algeriet skall bygga pf eamma mandat som hittills,
nimligen att utreda buruvids det Er =5jligt att genomfira
en konsultation som gir det =5jligt f6r folket i terri-
toriet att pd ett genuint fritt sttt uttala sig om sin
framtid. Jag har inte ansett det mfjligt att engagera mig
1 en vidare roll soz exespelvis medling mellan Algeriet

esch Polisaric & ena sidan och Marocko och Mauritanien &
den andra.

I skrivande stund vintar jag fortfarande pd besked frin
generaleskreteraren. Ber han mig fara, skall jag sjilvfallet
ptilla =mig till fErfogande,
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"o Dimemie ' ) ’ Navg York e S ian 1. 1.3 1976

The Kinistar of Forelgn Affairs,: Asbassador Rydback, the Secretary
of Stats for Forelgn Affalrs, Hegsrs, Semlto, Agulrrebengoa, I'I:I.:Iu,

- Minchin and Hagard, I
Ihe idniatex of Forelsmn Affairs dsbassador Rydbeck, He sald that
Mm-mhmhhmthumuhﬂmmvuhh
© Weatamn Lahora, . .
- pebassador hydbock sald that, spart from cme incident, the visit had gone

- " wery sacothly, #e wished to make 1t clear al the outsot, however, that he did
C_ " mot fesl that he could say very much concerning the visit, He nevertheloss

' wished to express his gratituds for the sxcesdingly helpful atiitode of the

("g Aoting Covernor-General, Ltd, Col, Valdes, end his colleagus i Villa Clsserce,

. Col. Banenilla, Tholr halp, and the valuabls information which they had glven
him with all frankness, hod besn of the utscst laportance, especlally as the
® testiaony of othors had bosa carefully crehostrated, and wis ewiditl part
of & well planned schess organived by the Koroccans, The information furnished
to him by the Spanish repressntatives at the cutsst of his vislt concerning
the situation prevalling in the Territory had been especially useful because what
he wE¥ was somewhat in contradiction with what the repressntatives of Foroeco

O wanted his to soe, ‘r

Apbassador Fydbeck thought that the twe llaison officers would agres with 1
his imprussion that the numbor of persons in El Aaiun was wuch lesss than its
ﬁ_““‘mﬂmmunn. e had tho lspression that pecpls moved about in order to give
the impressicn that thelr musbers vers greatar than they actually were, This
® was oven more obvious in Villa Cisnercs, where it seemed that only about 1,000
of the original 5,400 inhabitants wers left, Saara was also practically eapty
and here the security situation did mot appoar o be to the full santisfactlon
. of the Morocemn command becauss thers wers seniriea posted around the perlmotor
at iotarvals of about 200 metres, all facing tovards the dessert. In all thres
touns, the pars countered consistod mostly of old people and children.
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He had not besn swrprised that all ths groups which presentsd their views
to hia oxpressod thensolves in-favour of the Foroccan positlcan. The long talks
he had with them wore repetitiona, Thelr statomeats appearcd to have been well
orchostratedaand they all sald the sase things., However, he was not yet ready
1o drox conclusions,

1t was obvlious that most of the young peocple were absest and apparently had
Jeft the Territory, Thes elders told him that their sons had been subverted or
kidnayped, Those groups of young people which did appoar before him as repree
gentatives of the Sahuran youth seesed subduod and he noticed that tho persons
appoaring as spoxesnen for the youth were the sase in il Aalun and Umara, .

Aabanssdor ilyibeck catd that he had met soveral meabers of the Djoaa‘a in
Bl Aafun, Villa Clsnoros and sara, His isprossion was that sany of the moabers
had returned to the Territory Just prior to his visit, Different figures as to
the: nuabers present in the Territory were given to hia, Une eatimate wna 7%,

Conocerning the counclusions to be drawn from his vieit, he sald that he vas
not propared to make :“¥°D. a preliminary asalysis at the prosent stage. On the
other hand, ho was interestod to hear the views of the Spanish Covormment concer=
ning the possibilities for holding a comsultation of the population of the Jesterm
Sahars under existing circumstances. The views of the Covormment in this respect
would be helpful to him in preparing his report to the Socretary-Ceneral,

Ihe iinister eald that the Spanish Covernaent maintained the position that,
in accordance with the radrid agreement, the consultations should be carried out
through the Djesa‘a, Howover it was another question uader what olrcuastances this
could bo done, He noted for instance that the Algeriana claimed that the majority
of meabers of the Djema‘a wore in Algeris whereas Aabassador Rydbsck had boen told
that the majority wers either in the Territory or in lHauritania,

The Spanish Govornment had insisted upon the point in the Madrid agresacat
concerning coasultation of the Djena‘a, because Spain wanted to show, when it
withdrovw froa the Territory, that the will of the population had been respocted,
Howover, that would be Spaln's last message, Spaln was deterained to quit the
Territory.

lle asked if Anbassador fydboeck thought that it would be posaible to hold a
referondua, ’
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-military situation in the Torritory. It was obvious, he sald, that fighting

- J -

Asbaswdor Rydbock sald thet the anever must be negative, He wondered
however, what would bo the reaction of the majority of fosber Gtates of the
United lations, eopocially at Spain's vithdraval, A consultation of the Djeaa's
would probably not weet with the approval of the majority, when Kr, Areilsa
signified his agreonont with this, Anbassador Kydbock wont oa to refer to the

¥as continuing along the dbonlor and that this affected the possibilitics for

& genuine consultation, Hevertholooss, in carxying out his mandate he had

tried to sot aside this aspect of the problea for the time boing, and had put
specific queations to those with whom ho had talked concerning the typo of cone '
sultation which might be possibdle taking into account the charactoristics of

of the Territory and its inhabitants, He had onquired into the alternative poasi-
bilition of a reforenduas, a consultation of the Djema'a and a consultation of
the cheikhs, or hoads of fractions and sub-fractions, He had rocoived no clear-
Mlnuuuono!ﬂnﬂm.ofthopoymuouhmum It had been made
clear, however, that even under norsal conditions a referendum might present
difficultios. Acbassador Rydbeck said that he had no Ssuggestions to put forward
at the present tims, ke was sure, however, that many Nembers of the United
Nations would invoke Spain's responsibilities as administering Pover,

Ihe Hinister sald that ho was fully aware that a stora would crept in the
United Mations if Spain withdrow without having fulfilled all its Tesponsibilities,
However, 'mmotmuhmkonobm.". and Spain could endure vorbal crie
ticisas, He confirmed that Spain would withdraw by 28 Pebruary, That had been
clearly stated in the tripartite agroement, Hodmomtonmonmum

Ambasssdor jiydback answered in the nogative, He added that not only Algeria
but possidly also the Coanitteo of 24 wouwld object, lis experionce of tho Connittee’s

stand in regard to the implomentation of rusolution 151% and tho discussions in
the Sccurity Commcil indicated this, He was, ns a matter of fact, quite oure that
they would not be Prepared to accept such a solution,

liry Areilza then pointed out mtsmnhadnmudumumtory
without any w. ‘The- tenslon thers was increasing ovory day, The coznunique
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‘misslon to achieve, He adaitted that the Secretary-Cenoral had taken the formal

‘He did not hope that the United liations would bo able to create o buffer between

-l =

tnaued alftor the meeting of the day bofove of the Nevoluticnary Council of -
Algerla wan an atiack on everybody else involved in the problem of Westsrn
Sahara, de thought that there was a plan behind this, nasely to mount tenolon
in order to producs a clash, tpain was detwraine not to be involved in such
a developsent. Upaln had already loat a lot of money and bade scldlers had
loat their livos. That was enoughs Ihe situatlon for Spaln was howaver not
too bad since 1t would withdraw on 28 Fetruary. In rogard to the posslbllity
that the Cozaittos of 24 would not accept Spaln position, he acknowledged that
Spain would coze under attack, le indicated that under such circusstances he
would instruct his good friend Asbassador Pinies to keep silent,

'Mx_mmmmtm-uutmmuuhmm as he had
seen 1t, caze as no surprise to him, He enquired what Spain had expocted his

inltistive to sstablish the mission but it was spaln which had inaioted on it.

Tho Minister, speaking frankly said that Spain had, in the past, appealsd to
the United Hations thres, four and even five times for help, The result had not
aluays boon to Spain's satisfaction, MNow Spain wanted to tell the United Hatlons
that when 1t withdrew 1t would lsave behind & vacuum in the Territory. Spain
should be replaced by the Unlted Hatlons and the Socretary=Cenoral should assume
the responalblility for the transfer of esoverclgnty. At present the responaibility
¥as in bobody's hands, Someone had to take up Spain's position and remain Bs &
teaporary administrator together with liprocco and Mouritanis, In addition the
United Hatlons should supsrvise the Territory. : '

A tripartite adsinistration involving the United laticons might placate Algeria.

Algeria and Horooco, o comsidered that Haurltania did not play any rolo.

Hers the Under-:scrstary of ltats intervened and pointed out that the
Algerian Anbassador at a meeting with tho Kinister yesterday had boen extremely
violent in its attitude tovards paln.

JAnbassador Rydbeck informed tir, Arvellea that he would try to most the Gecretary-
General in Vienna ond subait an oral report and then proceed to hew York to draft
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& writton one to be subaitted to Kr, ialdheis on his roturn, It would then be
up to hia Lo declde what furthor steps shouwld be taken,

Iha_ inintox repeated that, in the opinion of his Covernaont, the United
Nations should replace Spain in the adainistration of the Territory.

X, Donito roaarkod that this would probably not be acceptable to Forocco.

Jhe idniztor sald that Spain could not say that it had transferred sovereligaty
over the .ustern sahara to Horocco and Mauritania, because that sovervigaty was
not veated in Spaln == it rested with the ishaditants of the Territory.

Yr, Senito sald that any solution which was acceptable to the United Natioos
4n this repard, would be acceptable to Tpalin,

.- Ihe rinistor esphasized ouce ngain that Spain would not entertain the possi-
bility of remaining after 28 February, If Spain could assist ths United Natlons
in any way, he was prepared to do so, but to remain would creats enormous com=
plications for Spain, because he strongly belleved that the ailitary situation
would grow much worss in the coaing months, Spain vas not willing to be involved,

Jz, Banito added that Korocco and I had asked Spain to leave.

The Undor-iecrotary of Stats stressed that Spain's decision to withdrsx was
not & recent ons, It had first been announced on 23 Fay 1975 and repeatsd oa 14
Noveaber 1975.

Ihe #inister asked Asbassador Hydbeck what, in his opinion, was the ainimn
foraula for self-dotermination which Algeria would accept.

Anbassador fydbeck said that he had not asked Algeris because that was mot
part of his mandate, le thought, however, that Algeria would have insisted upon
a reforendun and would probably not accept a consultation of the Djema’a. It was
difficult to reply since the Polisario had made claiss to the effeot ihat it was
sthe sole spokesson for the Saharan population, He doudted, however, whether
Algoria would bring up that point in the United Hatlons, now,.

Ihe .inistor, concluding the mocting, sald that ho was happy that Asbassador
Rydbock was satisfiod with the co-operation which he had received froz the rspre-
sentatives of Spaln in the Territory. He sald that Spain would take no action
without first informing the Secrotary-General., le hoped that close contact would
be maintained through Aabassador Finies,
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Anbassador Hydbsck sald that he would report fully to the Secretary-
General the substance of this discusslon, ’

Ine <inistor said tha;t he would be in Brussels on Yednssdey, 18 February,
and would be staying at the l[ilton Hotel, He would probably telephons the
Secretary=Ceneral on wednsaday mornlog.

20
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Keeting with H,3. Don Joms Faria ds miﬁ liinutaé of Emﬂ Affairs, held
t the ;ln rdrid Fabry B ho

Bresents :

J Ths Pinister waleomed Artassador Rydbeck, and masd that the Spanish
Governzent win very anxiova %o pes the misaion i‘u::.‘ll.‘l.nd. He was sure that !

oaly
A fow civilian staff, soms of whoa aight remain thereafter, in particulsr in
Bodthern part of the Torritory, but under individual contrmct with Hauritania,

He said that the Spanish Governasht wished to fulfil its obligations to
the United Hations, Ihese wers to decolonize the Territory and to do so on
the basis of consultations with the Feople. These had been its declared goals
8ince 1566, Hewever, after the Green Farch, which Moroeco had mounted very
effectively, the Spanish Government had entered into the hadrid Agresment on
1% Movenber 1975 under pressurs and in order to mavoild ¥lolence, It had dons
B0 because it considored this peefssary in order to maintain peacs, Sg far,
it had not been pozalble to achiays sslf—determination, The agreepant stipulated
that fhhnﬂdhmmnmm#h'a. mmla.t-t-rmnwm-
tlcally split as many meabers of ths former Djema's had disappeared,

Spain was anxious to fulfil all its obligations to the United Hations,
It wished this to be known publicly, Spain will state clearly, when it leaves
the territory that the populaticn of Western Sahars has not had the opportunity
to exsreise its right to solf=determination, It had already informed the horogcan
and Kaurltanian Governments about that, If, as seemad 1ikely, alf=deternination
was not achieved by the deadlins for withdrowal, this would be dus to elrcusse-
mnnbnynnditumtml. hmmzmmnumhmmw
‘that the United katicns comes into the ploture prior to Spain's final withdrawal,

bassador hydbeck was Tully aware of all thae difficulties in the way of
achieving eelf-dotermination, He was harpy to learn that ho would have the full
Bupport and co-operation of thelpanish authorities in the Territory. He sald
that he hod received slmiler assurances frogthe Foroccan and kauritanian
reprosentatives in kew York,

after, his itinerary would depond upon the Secretary-General, It mipght be
neceasary for him to visit othsr ccuniries, but that tould only be docided later,
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{2 strecsed, and the Kinister fully a;reed, that his eandate from-the
Sseretary~Lon=ral did not eall for any involyement in the sediation efferts by
the Arab States and the CAU,

The minister assured Ambassador Exdbeck that he and Kr. Osorioc would glve
hia every possible support and asalstance, in obtalnirg the informatlon neoded
Tor hls roport to the cecretary-General, He sald that Ambessador Hydbeck would
find the siturtion in the Territory very tense and difficult.

sobansador hydback sald that one of the difficultiss sress from the conflict
batween the two pastzoof resolution 3453 (). Mis consultations in Few York
bad mades 1t clear that the views of the different parties did not colncida,

© The ¥inlster sald that when he hsA last sncountersd Hr. Bouteflika, ths
lattar had had misglvinga concernlng the Secretary-Ceneral's decision to sond
A representative to the area, Mr, Bcuteflika had suggentod that the representative
alght be zwedish, _—

. bas: dbee comnentsd that Mr, Bouteflika had apparontly changed.;...
bis position and recently had welcomsd the appointaent of & representative,

Ine Miniatsr maid that he was very pessisiatic regarding the prospects .
for salf-doteraination, He regrettied that efforts to achleve this had not besn L.
made two or three years earlisr when the chances for succeas would have been
greater, He pointed out, ino this connexlon, that he had enly recently assumed
offies. He had the impression that new the Bltuation in the Territory had -
changed and that it vos no longer a pelitical one but a military one. He thought

that under present clrcuzstances 1t was very difficult to know if a consultation: °

could take placa unier conditions which weuld be consldered satisfactory by the
standards of Western surops,

basaad b ltr.nua;l. that his was a fact-finding misslon, He
wished to travel in the Territory to ascortain the situation and, for this,
be would oeed the help of the administering Fower,

The Hinleter sald that outaide tha towns, which eould be visited without
difficulty, there wers military units at all the prineipal contrea within a
t-n_‘.\mt uhich was not clearly defined, Horever, travel by land might be difficult,

He sald that he would be away froa iadrid for approximately oos week from
16 February, He hopsd to meot Ambassador uydbeck eilthor before his departurs
or upon hls retumn, - If necessary, Asbassader Finles could be azked to coame
from hew Hew York to porticipate in the consultaticns.,

Futting a question to Asbassader Rydbock, ho ashed what would thes United
liations do, 1T the Anbassador found that comditions in the Territory made it
izposaible to hold the consultatlons envisared in resolutlon 3450 (XIX), e
explained that Spain was very intercoted to know what steps the Unlted intions
might take becauss, although Spain was withdrasing from the Yerritory, 1t had
continulng interests thers such as the Tishing facilitlea and the phosphate
mines,
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o Fis ashassedor syibock belleved that the United Kations would mot be

- content wilh a sln,le taxcover of the Territory by forocco and jauritania,
tie could not say, however, how the United sations would react. For his part,
be would have to consult the Jecretary-Ceneral. S .

The Minister ropoated that it was a pity no actioa had bees taken 2-3 )
yearo earlicr, ils was very pesslaistic z_gm the possibdbiliti
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REPORT TO THE SECRETARY-GENERAL BY AMBASSADOR OLOF RYDBECK (SWEDEN),
SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL, APPOINTED
ON THE BASIS OF GENERAL ASSEMBLY RESOLUTION 3458 (Xxxx)
CONCERNING THE QUESTION OF SPANISH SAHARA

Terms of reference

1. On 31 January 1976, the Secretary-Ceneral, after consultations with the
parties concerned and interested as vell as with the Chairman of the Special
Committee of 24, appointed me as his Special Representative to undertake a
mission on the basis of General Assembly resolution 3458 (XXX) concerning the
question of Spanish Gahara. I was instructed that my mission at this stege
wvas to be of an exploratory nature. My task vould be to visit Spain, as the
administering Pover, and the Territory for the purpose of: ascertaining the
modalities for the exercise of self-determination by the populations of Vestern
Sahara in accordance vith the above-mentioned resolution and advising the
Secretary-General on the role of the United Nations in such sct of self-
determination.

Itinerary and programme of the mission

2. I left Nev York on I February 1976 accompanied by a staff placed st my
disposal by the Secretary-General. In accordance with my mandate, I proceeded
first to Madrid for consultations with the Government of Spain. I arrived in
Madrid on 5 February and on that day and the following day had separate discus-
sions with the Minister for Poreign Affairs, H.E. Mr. José Maria de Areilza,

and the Minister of the Presidency, H.E. Mr. Alfonso Osorio, and also with senior
officials of their respective Ministries. At these meetingeé, the tvo ministers
explained to me the policy of their Government with regard to the decolonization
of chten)x Sahara and discussed vith me vays and means of implementing resolution
3458 (ox). P

3. On 7 February, I left Madrid for Western Sahara aboard a special airplane
furnished by the Spanish Government and accompanied by two liaison officers of
the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of the Presidency. I arrived
at El Aaifin shortly before midday on the same day. I was met upon my arrival
by the three heads of the interim tripartite administration, nemely the Acting
Governor-General, Lt. Colonel Rafafl de Valdes (Spain), Mr. Driss Bensouds
(Morocco) and Mr. Abdallahi Ould Cheikh (Mauritania). They were accompanied,
axong others, by Mr. Driss Basri (Secretary of State in the Ministry of the
Interior of Morocco), Mr. Driss Slacui (Permanent Representative of Morocco at
the United Nations) as well as the President and other members of the Djema's
of Western Sahara,

4. Immediately upon my arrival, I had meetings, at my request, with the Acting
Governor-General, the tripartite administration, those members of the Diema's
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vho wvere present in El Aaifin, nunbering 36, and vith the Permanent Commission
of the Diema'a, all except two of the ten members of vhich vere present. Later
that day I met jointly with the three heads of the tripartite administration.

5. During the followving tvo days, 8 and 9 February, I resained in El AaiGn,
vhere I had separate meetings with the representatives of Spain, Morocco and
Mauritania on the tripartite sdministration and received a total of seven groups
representing different sections of the Saharan community as vell as representa-
tives of the Front for Liberation and Unity (FLU), and the National Union Party
of the Bahara (PUNS). I aleo met with a group of four people vho said they had
first joined and then left the Polisario Front. After one of these mectings,
there occurred an incident which is described in paragraph 16 belov.

6. The next day, 10 February, wvas devoted to a visit to Dakhla, formerly Villa
Cisneros, in the zone administered by Mauritania, sboard a military airplane
furnished by the Moroccan authorities. In Dakhla T met separately vith the local
Gpanish representative, Colonel Enrique Balenills, and also with the Mauritanian
Governor, Mr. Hamoud Ould Abdel Wedoud, together with Mr. Taibbel Ardi, local
representative of Morocco. In the course of my stay, I had meetings with fourteen
mexbers of the Djema'a who vere present in Dakhla, including three of the six
Saharan deputies to the Cortes of Spain. I also met wvith four groups representing
various sectors of the community, and made a tour of inspection of the town before
returning to El Aeidn.

7. On 11 February, I visited Smara, the second largest town in Western Sahars,
vhere I had meetings with the local suthorities, nine members of the Djena'a and
other groups of Saharans representing different sections of the comsunity. I
repprped to El Asilin during the evening of the same day.

YOuL

8. ’ On 12 February, after a morning devoted to a complete tour and inspection
of El Aajin, I left Western Sahara by air for Madrid vhere, on the folloving day
I had a further meeting with the Spanish Minister of Foreign Affairs and, in

the absence of the Minister of the Presidency, vith the Secretary of State at .
the Ministry, accompanied by senior officials of their respective ministries.

9. On 14 February, I left Madrid for Vienna to report orally to the Secretary
General. I returned to Nev York on 1T February. 4

10. At this stage of my report, I wish to express my sppreciation to the Govern-
ment of Spain and to the representatives of the three Fovers comprising the
interim tripartite administration for the facilities accorded to me in the
discharge of my mandate. I am, in varticular, grateful to the three governors,
and especially to the Acting Governor-General end his representative at Dakhla
for the valusble information which they provided to me, vhich ensbled me to
appraise the situation in the Territory.

General situation in Western Sahara

11. In viev of the specific and limited nature of the mandate entrusted to =e,
1 did not conmsider it appropriate, or desirable for security reasons, to carry
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out a detailed investigation inte conditions prevailing in all parts of the
Territory. 1 4id not therefore seek to visit outlying areas which had recemtly
been, or which might continue to be, the scene of military mctivities. 1
restricted my visite to the three towns which, sccording to the population census
of 197k, contained approximately half of the total population. My direct obser-
vation of the situstion-in these towns, added to the information which was
supplied to me during my wieit, helped me in my assessnent as to whether or

not the necessary conditions existed for a free expression of their wishes by

the inhabitants.

12. Even before my visit to the Territory, relisble reports indicated that the
situation in and mround Western Sahara wes a military one and that fiphting was
continuing in areas adjacent to the frontier with Ageria and in certein other
parts of the Territory, notably arownd Guelts Temsgr and Ausert, wvhich wers
reported to be still cccupied by the forces of the Polisario Front. Although
those last strongholds of resistance wers reportedly occupied by Moroccan and
Mouritanien forces during, or shortly after, my wvisit, it seems clear to me
that the whole Territory remains in  state of tension. This vas nade evident
during my visit by the presence in the Territory of Moroccan and Mauritenisn
fTorces, as well as by movements of troops, frequent nirforce patrols and by
the existence of sentriee and security forces at strategic points. When visiting
Bmara, on 11 February, I noted that sentries had been posted at intervals of
approximately 150 metros along the route into the towm, all of them facing towards
the desert. Indeed, both the Spenish suthorities and the Moroccan Governor,
Mr. Drise Bensouds, in his discussions with me, made clear their opinion that
conditions were not at present conducive to the holding of a popular consultation
because, among other things, of the existing state of tension and the fact that
the populations were dispereed and many mesbers of the Diema's were absent
the Territory. J

. p—
13. My personal chservations in E1 Anifn, Dekhla (Villa Cienercs) and Smara
convinced me that the dispersal of the population had sttained significant
proportions. In all three towns it appeared that the muber of the inhabitants
had substentially diminished and that a large proportion of the youth and young !
adults was absent, the majority of those vhom I sew being either elderly persoms-
or children. This was borne out in my meetings with members of the Djesa'a
and with eheikhs and notables who repeatedly cosplained that their sons hed been,
a5 they put it, subverted or kidnapped to Algerin. In El Aadfin, I gained the .-,
impression that those who remained mumbered far less then half the por=al popu-
laticn and that in Dakhle and Smara there remmined in esch town only betwesn
one and two thousend persons out of & normal population of sbout 5,400 in the
case of Dakhla and ebout 7,300 in the case of Smara., These impreesions were
confirmed by the Spanish representatives.

14, In the towns vhich I visited, the most notsble feature, epart from the
groatly reduced mumbers of inhebitants, was the gbsence of any manifestations of
oppoeition to the integration of the Territory into Moroees and Mouritania.
¥hereas the vieiting miseiom im May 1975 had witnessed massive public demons-
trations in support of independence and hed reported that almost all the Saharans
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vhich it encountercd had opposed the territorial claims of Morocco and Mauritania,

« 1 encountered exasctly the opposite. The public demonstrations which I encountered
upon my arrival in each of the three towns, and also the members of the Diema‘s and
other groups representing sections of the comunity vith vhom I met, all proclaimed al-
most without exception their Moroccan or Mauritenian identity and their acceptance
of the Madrid agrecment of 1k November 1975 as the basis for a permancnt settlement.
The Acting Covernor-General, Lt. Colonel Valdes, wished to attribute thic change
in part to the ingrained tendency of & population accustomed to a life of hardship
in the desert to scek solutions which will ensurc gurvival. This does not, however,
seem to provide a full explanation for gsuch & draxatic change.

15. In any casc I could not fail to note the almost complete absence of any dissen-
ting voice among the Saharans who were previously known to be politically divided.
One explanation for this change repeatedly given to me vas that the majority had

. become disenchanted with the Polisario Front and that they vere now convinced that
the Polisario Front vas serving the interests of a foreign Power. I noted that
many of the statements made by different groups vere couched in very similar terms
and that nearly every group interviewed had its views presented by a spokesman.
Indeed two groups of young people vhich I met in El Aeifin and Smara, both had the

. sane spokesman, who was also the spokesman for the FLU.

16. Two incidents vhich occurred in connexion with my meetings vith repreescnta-
tives of Saharans are significant being the only cases when dissent vas voiced.

The first, a minor incident, occurred during an interviev with & group of sheikhs.
In this case, an elderly sheikh who disagreed vith a statement that the Diema's had
been consulted on the Madrid agrecment and had given its consent thereto, vas
immedintely silenced by the other members of the group. The other incident, more
gerious, occurred in El Aaifn when a member of a delegstion of workers from the
phosphate mining enterprise at Bucra's, handed me surreptitiously a letter suppor-
ting the Polisario Front. liis action vas observed by other members of the group
and led to his secking my protection, asserting that his life was in danger. Since
it was evident that the man was in & state of acute fear, I acceded to his regquest
and arranged for him to be placed under the protection of the Spanish suthorities.
At his insistence, he vas later escorted to the sirport =nd flown out of the Terri-~
tory by the Spanish authorities. He is now reportedly in Algeria.

. 17. It seems clear from the above that the atmosphere in Western Sahara is st
present tense. Whatever the reasons may be, none of the spokesmen for the groups
intervieved expressed opposition to the integration of the Territory with Norocco
and Mauritania. For those who have not left, the transfur of povers would appear

. to be &n accomplished fact demonstrated by the vithdrawal of the already all dut
nominal Spanish presence with de facto control exercised by Morocco and Mauritania.

Modalities for the excrcise of self-determination

18. As my principal tesk wes to explore the possibilitics for implementing Ceneral
Assemdbly resolution 3458 (X0XX), my discussions wvith the Government of Spain, as
the administoring Powver, the interim administration of Western Sahara and the groups
of Saharans with whom I met, verc designed primarily to elicit their vievs and
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suggestions as to the modalitics for the exercise of self-determination and
the role to be played by the United Nations,

19. During my discussions in Modrid with the Spanish Minister of Foreign

Affairs and the Minister of the Fresidency, I wes informed that in the opinion
of the administering Fower there could be no possibility of Bpain carrying out
the terms of part A of the resclution. Bpain eonsidered itself bound by the
Hadrid agreement of 14 Hovember 1975 which provided that consultetions should
take place through the Diema‘'s, as the body constituted to represent the popula-
tions. MHowever, in the light of the military situation in the Territory mnd
Spain's determination to complete its withdrawal by 28 February at the latest,
Epain 4id mot see how an effective consultation which would be acceptable to the
United Wations could be organized under prevailing eircumstances, especially since
some of the members of the Djema's were absent, Spain recognized that without
such consultation, the process of decolenization would not have been completed.
It considered that soverecigmty did not rest with Spain but with the inhabitents
and that therefore it could not be transferred except with their consent., Hever-
theless, having handed over effective contrel to Mauritenia, Spain was powerless
to alter the situation. If the United Notions should docide that o Eenuine

act of self-determination could not be carried out in the prevailing situation,
the Spanish Government's suggestion would be for the United Natioms to fill the
vacuum created by Spein's withdrawal by teking its place in the tripartite

- sdministration until such time as self-determination could be achieved.

20. My discussions with the lesders of the interism administretion in the Terri-
tory also revealed that in the light of the Madrid agrecment there sould be no
question of implementing part A of resclution 358 (X00C). For the Morceecan and
Meuritanian representatives the situstion was very clear, Spain, under the terms
of the mgreement, had recognized the legal tics exigting between Morocco and
Mauritenis and their respective zones and influence in the Territory and the
populations of the Sahara had been reintegraoted with Morcceo mnd Meuritanias, Tt
vas not possible therefore to envieage any other wlternetive, such as independence
for the Territoery. The Moroccan and Mauritsnian representatives both ineisted
that the populations had already expressed their spprovel of the Hadrid agreement;
through the Djema's at a meeting which took place on 20 November 1975. 1/ Thus
there was no need for a further comsultation, Furthermore a referendus vas
inappropriate in view of the fact that the populations had elveys been Moroccan or
Hauritanian and one could hardly ask populetions who comprised a segment of a
nation whéther or not they wished to retain their national identity. In this
connexion the representotive of Moroceco referred to the advisery opinion delivered
by the International Court of Justice of 16 October 1975. The Madrid apreenent

if I was subsequently informed by the Spanich authorities in Madrid that the
Djema's, ot its meeting on 20 November 1975, did not in fact vote to.
approve the Madrid agreement. Furthermore, only 32 mesbers of the Dicma's
were present at the meeting which was convened for the purpoee of informing
the Djema's that the tripartite agrecment had been comeluded and of intro-
dueing the members of the tripartite sdministration, ,
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of 1k November 1975 had, in their view, merely re-established what had alvays
existed, By signing the sgrecment, Spain, they maintained, hed recognized

the links which existed historically between the Territory and Moroceco. The
representatives of Horoceo and Mouritania stated however, that in order to
comply with the provisions of part B of resclution 3450 (XXX}, they were prepared
to hold & further consultstion st which the solution implicit in the Madrid
agreement vould undoubtedly be reaffirmed.

21, As to the modalities of such a consultotion, the Moroccan and Mauwritanian
representatives rejected the holding of a refercndum also on the grounds of the
impossibility of identifying who was, and who wvas not, n Gaharan indipencus to
the Territory. They pointed out that such identification would have presented
great difficulties under novmal circumstences due to the nomadic character

of the populations end that under present circumstances in which the populations

were dispersed, the difficulties would be insurmountable. Furthermore, they

insisted that the tribal traditions ef the Boharans made a referendum winecessary,
ginee it wns the accepted custom emong them to express their wishes through their
tribal chiefs.

03, The Moroccon and Meuritanion representatives hoth considered that the appro-
priaste procedure, which took account of Ssharan customs, would be to consult the
Djemn's, which was the properly constituted body represcnting all sections of the
population of Western Sehara, They pointed owt, and the Gpanish representative
apreed with this, that the Diema'a, s presently constituted, represents not only
the tribal chiefs, but mlso other sections of the commmity and is composed in
part of representatives elected by sdult male suffrape. They admitted that
elections to the Djema's hod not been held since 1573 evd thot, eving to the current
situation, & pumber of its mesbers were absent from the Territory. They believed,
however, that it would be possible to bring together T4, or more then two-thirds
of the total of 103 mesbers.

£3, Wnen I tentatively supgested to them the pessibility of & third alternative
procedure, namely the esteblishment of a constituent mssembly, based on the mem-
wership of the Djema's augmented by the addition of all the heads of tribal .
fractions end sub-frections, they did not exclude the possibility that such & method
of consultation could be envisaged.

I

24, The representatives of Moroceo and Mauritenia maintained that conditions

.were not appropriate for the holding of a consultation ot the present time. In

their opinicn, it should not be held until cilm had been fully restored and attacks
on the Territory from the outside had ceased. '

25, As regards the role of the United Wations in such a consultation, they -
envisaped thot, in the event that it was decided to consult the populstions
through the Djema's what weuld be required would be for a representative of the
United Mations aprointed by the Secretary-General to obscrve the proceedings
and report thereon.

26. In my interviews with the mewhers of the Dlema'a, including its Permanent
Cosmission, mnd elso with the various groups of Saharass vhom I encountered, I
put similar questions. In all cases the response wos the some. They considered
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that the question of the future of the Territory had been decided by the Madrid
agreement and that the populations had overwhelmingly expressed théir wishes to
me. If a further formal confirmation was neccssary, it should be through a
consultation of the Diema'a, as the body legally constituted to represent the
views of the populations. They were all opposed to a referendum. Those in

the zone administered by Morocco contended that they had wamply demonstrated their
identity as Moroccans and that they would not nccepti any referendun vhich placed
that issue in doubt. Many of them contended thut the President of the Dicma'a
vhen he pledged his slleginnce to King Hassan II of Moroceco, had done s0 in

the name of all the populations of the northern zone.

Conclusions

27. My oxploratory talks with representatives of the odninistering Pover, Spain,
have made it clear that Spain io firm in ite decision to leave the Territory by
20 Yebruary at the latest, and that it does not see any possibility of implemen-
ting parapraph 7 of part A of rewolution 3450 (XXX) for the reason that it no
longer exercises an effective control over the affaire of Vestern Sahara.

The withdraval of Spain from the interim administration established through
the Madrid agreement of 1l November 1975 in practice alno makes impossible the
implementation of paragraph I of part D of the resolution after the date of
the Spanish withdraval since the interim administration to vhich the paragraph
addresses itself then will cease to exist.

28. In viev of the tense situation prevailing in the Territory of Western

Sahara and its vicinity and the absence from the Territory of a considerable seg-
ment of its population, it does not seem possible to obtain any assurance that

any consultations undertaken at the present time vould result in a free and genuine
expression of the wishes of all the populations of the Suhara.

29, The de facto situation now prevailing represents a radical change from the
one existing when the visiting mission reported its findings end cven from the
situation on 10 December 1975 when resolution 3458 (XXX) vas adopted. It appears
to me that the Special Committee on the Bituation with regard to the Implementation
of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Coloniel Countries and |
Peoples and eventually the General Assembly itself will have to teke under reneved

consideration how the exercise by the Saharen populations of their right to self-

determination in accordance with resolution 151k (XV) can be guaranteed in the
nev circumstances,
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CABINET STHLM
-« RE VASTRA SAHARA.

LAGET FOR DAGEN IFRAGA OM MIN SAHARAMISSION AR ATT WALDHEIM
SEDAN ETT PAR VECKOR FUR UTDRAGNA OVERLAGGNINGAR MED ALGERIET,

] MAROCKO OCH ?Aunsnmsn RORANDE MODAL ITETERNA FOR M|SS|ONENS

| ANDRA FAS. KARNPROBLEMET AR POLISARIOS OBEROENDEFORKLAR ING.

MAROCKO OCH MAURETA!‘EN SOM UVER HUVUD TAGET SER MED OVILJA

PA MISSIONENS FORTSATTNING, MEN SOM |NTE VILL TA PA ODIUM AV ATT
MOTSATTA SIG DEN, INSISTERAR ATT JAG ENDAST KAN BESUKA

OCH KONFERERA MED REGERINGARNA | *’STATES CONCERNED AND I N=
YgRESTED" ENLIGT RES 3458, VARJE ANNAN KONTAKT VORE ATT GA UTAN-
FOR DET MANDAT SOM DENNA RESOLUTION GER GENERAL SEKRETERAREN.

WALDHEIM HAR |DAG MEDELQT MIG ATT HAN INFORMERAT ALGERIETS
CHARGE D*AFFAIRES _OM _LAGET OCH FORESLAGIT ATT MINA BESUK IN
INSKRANKS TILL ATT GALLA RESPEKTIVE REGERINGAR OCH ATT DE
KONTAKTER MED POL|SARIO SOM GIVETVIS AR OFRANKOML|GA SKER
INOM RAMEN FOR OVERLAGGN|NGAR MED DEN ALGER|SKA REGER INGEN.,
. NAGRA BESOK | FLYKTINGSLAGREN FRAN MIN SIDA VAR OBEHOVL|GA DA
UNHCR SVARAR FOR_DEN HUMANITARA ASPEKTEN. FOR SYFTET MED
?ﬂhgégSlON SOM AR RENT POSLIT!ISKT RACKER DET MED KONTAKTER

LIKSOM FOROVRIGA PARTER HAR WALDHEIM UNDERSTRUKT!| FOR ALGERIET
cunzousmo-xounnen INTE PA NAGOT VIS UTGOR NAGOT ERKAN-
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ALGER | SKE cH.l.IR;gEN HADE OMGAENDE REAGERAT POSITIVT PA
WALDHE IMS UPPLAGGNING, HAN SKALL NU RAPPORTERA TILL ALGER
oCH ATERKOMMA. WALDHEIM KONTAKTAR DAREFTER PA NYTT MAROCKO
OCH MAURETAN | EN.
® PA GRUND AV DEN LANGDRAGNA OMGANGEN_ AV KONTAKTER REAKNAR
#ﬂ: U KNAPPAT MED ATT KUMMA GENOMFURA MISSIONENS ANDRA FAS
| RAN EFTER NORDISKA UTRIKESMINISTERMUTET.
@ RYDBEGK
SWEDELEG NEW YORK
®
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SWEDELEG NEW YORK  1976-05-03
CABINET STOCKHOLM

BRADSKANDE FOR KABINETTSSEKRETERAREN OCH
HEFEN POL 111

BL A MED ANLEDNING AV ATT EN MAROCKANSK OPPOS|TIONSPOL|TIKER
MR BOUABID INOM KORT SKALL BESOKA STOCKHOLM FINNER JAG AN-

LEDNING ATT INSANDA FOLJANDE REDOGORELSE OCH KOMMENTARER

RORANDE ANDRA_DELEN AV MITT UPPDRAG | SAHARA. DETTA SKER
INNAN JAG AVLAMNAT SKRIFTLIG RAPPORT TILL WALDHEIM, MUNTLIG
AVGAVS REDAN | GENEVE, UPPGIFTERNA TORDE DARFOR BEHANDLAS
YTTERST KONFIDENTIELLT.

JAG SAMMANTRAFFADE DEN 29 MARS MED DEN SPANSKE UTRIKESMI-

NISTERN AREILZA. HAN HADE EGENTLIGEN INGET NYTT ATT LAGGA TILL
DEN INSTALLNING SOM SPANIEN REDAN REDOVISAT VID MITT FORSTA
MADR IDBESOK. ENLIGT SPANSK UPPFATTNING HAR MAN LAMNAT VASTRA
SAHARA BAKOM S1G OCH NAGRA MOJL IGHETER ATT SPELA EN AKT|V

ROLL | DEN FORTSATTA UTVECKLINGEN DAR STRANDAR PA DET FOR-

HALLANDET ATT HELA DEN SPANSKA ADMIN|STRATIONEN LAMNAT OM-
RADET.

| MADRID SAMMANTRAFFADE JAG DESSUOTM MED DEN ALGER|ISKE OCH
MAURITANSKE AMBASSADOREN OCH AVHANDLADE PRAKT|SKA FRAGOR OM

MINA BESUK | DESSA LENDER.

IALGER FICK JAG ETT VANLIGT MOTTAGANDE DEN 30 MARS, OM DE
FRAGOR_SOM UPPSTOD MED _ANLEDNING AV ATT ALGERIERNA INSISTERADE
PA BESUK | TINDOUF |STALLET FOR SOM PLANERAT KONTAKTER MED _
POLISARIO | ALGER HAR JAG REDAN REDOGJORT MUNTLIGEN VID BESOK

| DEPARTEMENTET DEN 9 APRIL. SEDAN JAG HAFT KONTAKT MED
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WALDHEIM PER TELEFON, SOM MEDDELADE ATT HAN HELST SAG ATT
SAMMANTRAFANDET MED POLISARIOS FORETRADARE SKEDDE | ALGER MEN
ATT JAG VID EVENTUELLT INSISTERANDE FRAN ALGERISK SIDA BORDE
RESA TILL TINDOUF FOR ATT RET INTE SKULLE FRAMSTA SOM OM GENE-
RALSEKRETERAREN OCH HANS SARSKILDE REPRESENTANT VAR OVILLIGA

ATT SAMMANTRAFFA MED FORETRADARE FOR POLISARIO BESLOT JAS
. SEDAN BOUTEFLIKA SLAGIT FAST ATT MAN FRAN ALGERISK SIDA ANSAG

N BESUK ENDAST | ALGER FULLSTANDIGT MENINGSLOST ATT FARA
TILL TINDOUF,

ALLMANT KAN SAGAS ATT ALGERIERNA OCH FORETRADARE FOR POLISARIO
SOM JAG TRAFFADE_OGNDE | ALGER OCH TINDQUF GJORDE SITT YTTERSTA
FOR ATT MJTT.BESOK | ALGERJET SKULLE BLI SA LANGVARIGT SQM
MOJLIGT, FORE AVRESAN TILL TINDOUF HADE JAG ETT LANGT SAMTAL
MED BOUTEFLIKA OCH FORE AVRESAN DEN 2 APRIL FRAN ALGERIET

MOTTOGS JAG | AUDIENS AV PRESIDENT BOUMEDIENNE.

BADE BOUTEFL IKA OCH BOUMIDIENNE UNDERSTROK DEN |NSTALLNING |
FRAGAN SOM ALGERIET REDAN FRAMF ORT TIDIGARE. BADA UNDERSTROK

FRAGANS BRANNANDE KARAKTAR OCH PEKADE PA DE RISKER DEN MEDFOR

. FOR FREDEN | REGIONEN. | BOUMEDIENNES UTTALANDE TYCKTE JAG
MIG SPARA EN VISS VILJA TILL FORHANDL INGSLOSNING MED HASSAN II,

MEN HAN UTVECKLADE INTE PA VILKA VILLKOR EN SAMFORSTANDSLOS-
. NING SKULLE KUNNA UPPNAS,

VID BESOKET | TINDOUF, SOM OCKSA INKLUDERADE ETT EN TIMME LANGT
BESUK | DET FLYKTINGLAGER SOM LIGGER EN HALV TIMMES BILFARD

FRAN STADEN, STOTTE V| PA SVARIGHETER ATT FA SAMMANTRAFFANDEN
MED POLISARIOS FORETRADARE, EFTER TIMMARS VANTAN KOM DE TILL
STAND. - |DETTA_SAMMANHANG VILL JAG UNDERSTRYKA ATT DET INTE
GJORDES NAGRA FORSOK FRAN DEN ALGERISKA REGERINGENS SIDA ELLER

FRAN VASTSAHARIERNAS TALESMAN ATT FA PERSONER ATT FRAMTRADA
SOM REPRESENTANTER FUOR VASTSAHARAS DEMOKRATISKA OCH |SLAMISKA
= REPUBL IK, TVARTOM VAR DET PAFALLANDE HUR MAN VINNLADE SIG OM
ATT DE VASTSAHARIER JAG TRAFFADE ANTINGEN PRESENTERADES SOM
EEEE%AEI'\F;EAEgg POLISARIO ELLER FLYKTINGLAGERADMINISTRATIONEN
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POLISARIOS TANKAR OM EN LOSNING TORDE VID DET HAR LAGET VARA
VAL KANDA, DE SE FN MEDVERKA IILL gIT MAROCKO OCH K
MAURITANIEN DRAR Sli UNDAN FRAN QMRADET SA ATT REFOLKNINGEN
FRITT SKALL KUNNA FAUTOVA SN SJUALVBESTAMMANDERATT. MAN HYSTE
INGET TVIVEL OM MAN UNDER SADANA OMSTANDIGHETER SKULLE FA SE

EN_ OVERVALDIGANDE MAJORITET AV VASTSAHARIERNA UTTALA S16 FOR
SJALVSTANDIGHET, NAR JAG PEKADE PA ATT PROKLAMERANDE AV REPUBL|-

KEN KUNDE UTGURA EN KOMPLICERANDE FAKTOR SVARADE MAN ENSTAMM|GT
ATT POLISARIO VORE BERETT ATT PA ALLT SATT ME SAMVERKA MED

FN FOR ATT EN KONSULTATION AV VASTSAHARIER NA_SKULLE KUNNA SKE
UNDER.FN2S FULLSTANDIGA BESKYDD, .EN GARANTI FOR.ATT FRAMMANDE

INBLANDNING SKULLE UNDVIKAS.

MAITRE BOUABID, SOM VISSERLIGEN FORETRADER ETT AV OPPOSITIONS-

PARTIERNA | MAROCKO, KOMMER DOCK TILL SVERIGE SOM REPRESENTANT
FOR EN DEL AV DEN LOJALA OPPOSITIONEN | LANDET. DET FINNS AN-

LEDNING FORMODA ATT HAN KOMMER ATT FRAMLAGGA EN SYN PA_FRAGAN
SOM UPPVISAR STORA LIKHETER MED DEN SOM MAROCKO FORETRADER
UTAT. DET HAR JU | SAMSTAMMIGA RAPPORTER FRAN FLERA HALL
HAVDATS ATT OPPOS|TIONEN HELT SOL|DARISERAR SIG MED DEN POLITIK
SOM KUNG HASSAN FOR | FRAGAN OM VASTRA SAHARA. NAGRA BEDOMARE

VILL GA SA LANGT SOM ATT SAGA ATT OPPOSITIONEN MED |STIQLAL-
PARTIET | SPETSEN SKJUTER KUNGEN FRAMF OR SO0G.

MED DEN ERFARENHET JAG HAR AV FORETRADARE FOR DET OFF ICIELLA
MAROCKO, BADE HAR | NEW YORK OCH VID BESOKET | VASTRA SAHARA |

FEBRUAR| ANSER JAG ATT RISKEN AR MYCKET STOR, VAD AN UTRIKESMINIS

TERN ELLER STATSMINISTERN KOMMER ATT HA_ATT ANFORA VID BOUABIDS
BESOK, ATT MAROCKO VID ETT SENARE TILLFALLE KOMMER ATT UTNYTTJA
BESOKET FUR SINA SYFTEN. MED ANLEDNING HARAV SKULLE JAG VILJA
AVRADA FRAN ATT STATSMINISTERN SAMMANTRAFFAR MED BOUABID. fou
OMTALATS | Ms:nnet.gnne TILL S&?BAT DEN APRIL KAN JU ETT SADANT
NEGATIVT_BESKED RORANDE BE HOS STATSMINISTERN FORKLARAS MED
DENNES HART BELASTADE PROGRAM. ~
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JAROCKANERNA HAR SOKT FORA FRAM ATT JAG VID BESOKET | ALGERIET
SKULLE A HA AVVIKIT FRAN MITT MANDZT. HAROM VILL JAG GORA

FOLJANDE KOMMENTAR. MANDATET HAR JAG FATT AV WALDHEIM OCH INTE
AV SPANIEN, ALGERIET, MAROCKO ELLER MAURITANIEN. BADE GENERAL-

SEKRETERAREN OCH JAG SUALV GJUORDE DET HELT KLng FOR MAROCKOS
OCH MAURITANIENS FORETRADARE HAR | NEW YORK FORE AVRESAN ATT
JAG VID BESOKET | ALGERIET SKULLE KOMMA ATT TRAFFA FORETRADARE
FOR POLISARIO, SARSKILT MED TANKE PA_DEN ALGER|ISKA REGER|INGENS
INSTALLNING. DETTA ACCEPTERADES, OM AN MED NAGON MOTVILJA, AV

DEN MAROCKANSKE OCH MAURITANSKE FN-AMBASSADUREN.

WALDHEIM HADE SOKT ORDNA SA ATT SAMMANTRAFFANDET MED FORE-

TRADARE FOR POLISARIO SKULLE SKE | ALGER. NAGOT KLICKADE | DENNA
FRAGA OCH MAN KAN NATURLIGTVIS SPEKULERA OM DETTA SKETT AV TEK-

NéSKA SKAL ELLER ARRANGERATS MED UPPSAT AV ALGERIET. FRAGAN
LOSTES EFTER TELEFONSAMTAL MED GENERALSEKRETERAREN, FOR VILKET

REDOV | SATS OVAN.

WALDHEIM HAR TILL MAROCKO OCH MAURITANIEN SAMT OFFENTLIGT KLART
AVVISAT TANKEN PA ATT JAG SKULLE HA AVVIKIT FRAN MITT MANDAT.

HAN HAR DESSUTOM VADJAT TILL PARTERNA ATT OMPROVA SIN INSTALL-

NING TILL MITT BESUK | DE BADA LANDERNA SA ATT JAG SKULLE
KUNNA FORTSATTADIT | VILKET ANNAT FALL BADA LANDERNAS REGE-

RINGARS SYN PA FRAGAN OM VASTRA SAHARA | NULEGET INTE KAN KOMMA
ATT MEDTAS | GENERALSEXKRETERARENS RAPPORT TILL DEN TRETTIO-

FORSTA GENERALFORSAML INGEN.
RYDBECK

SWEDELEG NEW YORK
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STANDIGA REPRESENTATION
vID
FORENTA NATIONERNA
NEW YORK Utrikesrddet Leifland
UTRIKRSDEPARTEMENTET l L{G
INKOM 11D !
. -7
1976-05-10 2 LU
Bx ti Kab.sekr, 'sl To Mp [Oy TV 1
De Norrman e
ur Leifland, IB
. STRANG? PURTROLIGT
Jhstre Sahara HEMLIG
oo enligt 3 § sekrerenslogen.
® \, (2 »11.) 19.36...05...)\.
Utrikesdepartementet
Broder, s .é\h .....

ol Jag Sversiinder Mifegade uppteckningar av santalen med
(%V utrikesminister Beuteflika denm 30 mars sch presidenten
Beunedienne den 2 april. Jag har damu inte rapperterst
skriftligen till Waldheim em mitt bestk { Algeriet ech
dexna rappert kemmer imte heller alir dem Sverlkmmats
111 hemem att offentliggiras. Samtalwuppteckningaraa
Mxr imte spridas utanfdr ex begrimsad krets.

yg;’h‘ Zl&:’z.’f

OlgT Ryd

|
Addmen Telwban, Telegmm, Twhes
B8 Thlt Avenoe, Now York, N Y. 10023 (113) 75).5%0 SWECELEG Naw York 2141 30
v
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[A1so present Messrs. Benhabyles ad hhqﬂ E
X
sald that Asbassador Rahal had doubtless informed B

Ambassador dydbeck
the Foreign vinister of the talks which they had had earlier in the day, Aabas~
sador Hydbeck had spokon with the Socretary-General concerning the prograase
in Algeria and the Secretary-General's poaition was as follows, The Secretary-
General was very conscious of the extremely delicate problea involved in contacts
With the Frente Follsario, He wished first of all that there be no forsal
contacts with the government of the Saharan Republic as such and that aeetings
with the Frente Folisario should be within the context of Anbassador Ryddeck's
talks with tho Algerian Government, There should be as little publicity as
possible given to these meotings, The Secretary-Goneral had said that Aadassador
] Rydbeck could go to Tindouf if Mr, Bouteflika insisted but he wished Asbassador
Rydbeck to draw Mr, Bouteflika's attention to the risk that such a visit night
lead to an end of the mission, The Secretary-General had stressed the desira-
.bility of the mission continuing, and that the mission pexr ge would not be a
‘ source of friction,

Anbassndor Rydbeck said that the Secretary-General hal asked hia to convey
his good wishes to all concerned for the success of the aission.

dr, 3outeflika welcomed Anbassador Rydbeck on his first visit to Algeria,
The Algerian Governnent had deeply apprecisted the position taken Yy Sweden,
on the question of the so-called Spanish Sahara, and had a particular respect
for Anbassador Aydbeck as an individual since the Algerians knew that he always
had just positions to defend, it had been greatly pleased with his designation
as Special flepresentative of the Secretary-General,

kr. Bouteflika recalled that the Secretary-General by coincidence had been

at tho Airport of radrid when the Foreign Kinisters of Norocco and .auritania
axrived there to sign the radrid Agreeaent. Algeria could not ignore the role
¥hich external pressures upon Spain had undoubtedly played in bringing this
about, for until that time no one, and certainly not Spain, had conteaplated

. that instead of a genuine consultation, there should be a mockery of a consul-
tation with those meabers of the Djema'a who had left the Territory. For Algeria
there could, of courss, be no solution which was not based upon the resolutions
of the General Assembly, and in particular resolution 353 A (XAX)., For Algeria
part A of ‘resolution 3458 (XXX ) was the natural Yasis for a solutiom. If part B

. had not dealt with self-determination it would never have passod. Throughout the
years prior to the adoption of resolution 3458 (AXi) and after its adoption rorocco
and sauritania had expressed themselves in favour of a free and authentic consul-
tation, Suddenly, self-determination becane inadequate for thea and, instead of
& consultation of the people, they insisted upon only & meeting of the Djena'a
composed of those members who had not left the Territory., The Organization of
african Unity, the League of Arab States, Spain and the United sations, none of
them accepted to be pressnt st this parody of a consultation,
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nr., Souteflika commented that even before coming to Algeria, Aambassador
Rydbeck had been doubtless already somowhat persons non grata with norocco,

Continuing, he said that Algeria had no designs on the «estern cahara, It
had no econoaic interests in the Territory and was not prepared to "trade" the
blood of the Saharans for any profit to itself. It stood by the principle of the
right of colonial peoples to self-determination, & right which, in the case of |
the so-called Spanish Sahara had been affirmed in more than a dozen resolutions
adopted by, or at the instance of, the Special Committee of 2. Algeria could
not accept any settlement which was not based upon the free exercise of this right
as a matter of conscience, it was not simply for humanitarian reasons, but because
a very important political principle was at stake, The issus was whethor the
principle of self-determination was to be respected or not. That issue was quite
clear, and that was why Algeria could not accept the position of riorocco and
rauritania, He added thiat Algeria wanted to get out of the prevalling situation
without losing its international creditadility by letting down the Saharan popu-

. lations, especially not when there was a military occupation of the Territory.

) Af the situation was such an sasy one as the Moroccans claia hr, Bouteflika sald
that it would not have been necessary for the soroccans to place an aray of 30,000
soldiers and the entire rauritanian army in the Territory. Today there was one
soldier on each remaining inhabitant in the Territory, he sald,

N AR

é@r. Bouteflika assured Aabassador Rydbeck that his Covernment was not in any
way involved in the proclamation of the Democratlic Arabd Fepublic. 1t would have
been much easier for Algeria to have given recognition to the liberation movement,
Sut the vaharans did not wish to allow a political vacuum to continue after Spain's
withdrawal from the Yerritory. nae found it difficult, however, to accept the
deviousnoss of the United sations and its hesitancy to recognize the Republic as
a legitimate entity since, after all the uUnited sations, or rather, the Fourth
Comaittes of the Asserbly, had already sccepted the Fremte Folisario as an authentic
spokesman for the Saharan people, iie believed that the United liations tended to
lean towards rorocco and added that the Secretary-Gencral should preserve his right
to discuss with the Frente Folisario.

3T

He sald that the Jestern Sahara was & one-party State, and consequently any
Saharan whoa Anbasssdor Rydbeck might meet would be a member of the Frente
Polisario., The saze situation prevailed in Algeria and other countries in Africa,
' whonthog;ﬂynndmmgvmmn-uwmmmgmual
distinction to be made betwesn them, In view f this juridical distinctlon,
there should be no difficulty for Asbtassador Rydbeck to mset individuals as members
of the party rather than in their capacity of meaders of the govermaent, He was
sure, for example, that Ambassador Rydbeck had met the delegation of the Frente
. Polisario which had attended the 30th session of the Cemeral Assembly, It had
included both the President and the Foreign dinister of the new Saharan government,

Ar. Douteflika was not happy with all the cosplications which had been raised
in regard to this visit, While the United Sations appearsd to de bluffing, .Jdorocco
and sauritania hod presented it with one fait accoapli after another, It was
time that the United Nations confronted the real issues, For exaaple, there was
no point to Asmbassador Rydbeck's visit to Algeria unless he was preparsd to visit
Tindouf, mest with the Saharans, including the refugees and ascertain the facts of
the situation, If all that Aabassador Rydbeck was sxpected to do was to ascertain
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the pooiilon of Algeria on the Saharan question, that could have been done quite
casily by talking to Anbassador fahal in mew York,

The Visiting sission in its report had said that almost all the Saharans
encountored by it appeared to support the independence movement, how several
months later, one could fairly say that all the inhabitants were for independence,
Wihat Anbassador Aydbeck had seen in the Territory did not, of course, reflect
the real situation as many of those whom he had met were in fact noroccans who
had supplanted the Saharans, after the latter fled to the liberated areas, In
fact, the behaviour of the soroccan invaders had strengthened the determination
of thebaharans to go on fighting for independencs,

ar. Bouteflika repeated that he suspected the United iations was “playing"
with the situation. If so, it might find itself obliged to pay a heavy price,
‘e Algerian Government had done its best to prevent thesituation from deteriora~
ting. It had limited the incidents at Angala by refusing to respond to Aorocco's
challenge., However, so long as there was no genuine consultation of the wishes
of the oaharan people as to their future status, Algeria would continue to refuse
to recognize the clains of norocco and rauritania to the Yerritory,

nr. Bouteflika said that the situation in “estern Sahara posed a problem of
security for Algeria. There was no doubt that norocco was part of one sphere of
influence and vauritania of another., It was well known that military bases were
involved, and that thesc bases could be utilized to exert pressure on the Arab
world, e pointed to a recent agreement of the same nature that Spain had
ontered into,

Algeria's position was well known. Algeria considered that the gquestion of
the sahara was a problem for the international community and one which could
not be solved by bilateral or trilateral negotiations, Algeria wanted to be
neither more nor less involved than any other State which shared the common
responsibility of trying to uphold internationally accepted principles, including
the basio rights of peoples. It was well-known that a large segment of opinion
in Spain considered that there had been a “sell-out™ by the Spanish Government.
sr. Bouteflika said that it was necessary to address onesclf to the Jaharaouis

while at the sane time one should see to it that the juridical problem was avolded,

Anbassador nydbeck..thanked sr, Bouteflika for having given a very clear
explanation of Algeria's-position, 3ut he wanted to be sure that there was no
misunderstanding concerning the purpose of his visit to Algeria, as the Secretary-
General did not want to make only a gesture or to amislead anyone, There had nover
been any understanding that Anbassador nydbeck should not see the Saharans in
Algeria, including Polisario. Jdoth sorocco and hauritania quite understood that
he would,especially as the purpose of the mission was to make avallable to the
Secretary-General all relevant information which could help hin in arriving at the
best possible arrangements for an exercise of self-determination, Ambassador
Rydbeck sald that he was perfectly ready to see Saharans, including members of
the Frente Polisario, and expected to do so, 7The question was where and how the
meetings should take place, The sole objective in his discussions with Ambassador
Aahal and now with Mr, Bouteflika, was to try to ensure that the mission did not
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exacerbate tenslon but on the contrary helped to allay it,'[he Secretary-Seneral
had no intentlon of allowing himsolf to be pressured or intimated by anyone.
Anbassador Aydbeck sald that nothing in the situation was of such a nature that
one should avold to investlgate everything to establish what the possibilities
were for a true act of self-determination. HNe could, howsver, not possibly stay
more days in Tindouf,

He pointed out that the Secretary-lensral in his consultations stressed
that tho goal had been to make the mission a contributlon to efforts in finding
peaceful solutiohs and that the mission in itself ashould not lead to controversy.

The Seoretary-Cencral had been aware of the possibility of problems, The
phase of the mission was not complete, But he wanted to have the results of it
before sending his Speclal Hepresentative on the second leg,

. rr, doutefliksa sald that when Algeria recognized the Saharan Hepublic, it
nade quite clear in its announcement that it fully supported the principle of
self-determination and its actlon in no way precluded the further application
of that principle, Algoria's position had not changed subseguently,

. ‘[he Ssharans had themselves taken the same position when they proclaimed the
Hepublic,

The situation was not very different from that which had confronted Algeria
when it declared its indepocndence from France for 1t was many years before Algeria
won recognitlon as an independent State., ‘the purpose of such a declaration in
the case of the so-called ipanish Jahara was to avold the appearance of & political
vacuum after Lpain's withdrawal from the Territory.

1

wr, Jouteflika sald that when the Lecretary-Gensral had been arranging the
-present visit in consultation with the four governments, he (nr. Bouteflika) had
been out of personal contact with the jocretary-General for several weeks, Conse=
quontly, it wes posslble that the Secretary-General might have entered into agree-
mants which he, nr. Jdouteflika, did not know about, rdowever, hr, Boutefliks could
be¢ expected to respoct any agreements to which he was not a party. He
emphasiced that the situation concerning -estern tahara was potentially very
explosive since Algeria and aorocco-had broken off diplesatic relatlons and was

. much more serious than appeared on the surface,

Anbassador Aydbeck sald that during the first phase of his mission he had
remarked both the absence of a large segment of the population of .estern sahara
. from the Territory, and alsc the incapacity of Spain to control the situatlon,
These were two factora which made the implementation of the Asseably's resclution
ecalling for self-determination wery difficult, if not impossible,

a [ said that the purpose of his mission was to obtain the
views pf all parties concerning the method whereby the Saharans should exercise
thelr right to self-determination. During the first phase of his wisit, he had
sought the views of representative groups of Jaharans as well as those of the
authorities. e prepared to follow the same approsch in Algeria, He asked if
the Algerian Govermment had any suggestions to make.
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or. Bouteflika sald that hls Government could not supgest an appropriate
method at the present time. Circunstances would have to change firat, Lowever,
Algeria's policy waso to support whatever method was choson by the saharans ther=
selves so long as it did not lead to a parody of justice. ile repeated that Algeria
had no vested interests in tha -estem iahara and only insisted that the saharans
be glven an opportunity to sxpreas their genulne wishes free of any constraints. |
Algeria would accept whatever resulted from such a consultatlon.

Algerin itself had never had any difficulty in agreeing to & referendun
organized by France as the eolonlal Power, The sltuation in Yestern sahars Was,
however, different because the Territory had been transferred from one colonizing
Power to another. in this case, tnere had to be some international guarantes of

freedom of expression. }
1]

Ainbansador lydbeck sald that in his personal opinien, such a guarantes would ',.
.' e essentlal. :
As to the appropriate method of consultation, one possiblility ne had envisaged

was for the population to be consulted through thelir sheikhs, However, scme seharan
elepents, notably the youth, geemed to reject thelr traditional autherities as valld

. Apokesmen. |
Az, Jouteflika assured Ambassador Rydbeck tnrat Af the saharans could all volce
thelir opinlons freely, all age groups would say what they wanted and thelr views -

would be identical. [t must be renemberad, however, that soae of the chiefs had

been influsnced by the opanish authorities (to whom they owed thelr posltions and
other favours). e considered that the only loglcal method for carrying out & genulne
consul tation would be by & referendun of all the pecple, lie was aurs that this would
show overwhelming support for independence. He pelieved that the saharan pecple had
become oo pblitically consclous that the sense of natlonality was noW wvery strong

and that this had noticembly affected the status of the chiefs as interlocutors for

the people.

jie did not think that the nomadic charncter of Saharan soclety precluded the
hodding of a referendum, alr communication was so good that it was possaible to
travel easily throughout the Territory. Also the people had little diffieulty 1in
® coming tpgether, as for the falr at Tindouf, i
1
1

1f the saharan pecple really were Horoccans, why did serocco fear & referandus?

Tg say tnat the gueostlon was now e¢losed, was Slaply & NOTroccan argusent to avold ]
discussion, The fact that the spanish authorities had planned to hold a referendum, "

. proved that 1t was possible.

ar, douteflika said that Jpain's withdrawal from the Territory had created &
very grave situation. it ped left a politlcal vacuum. opain must beseveraly blamed
for not having lived up to iis responsibilities as the adninistering Fower.

asbassader rydbeck remarked that when he had visited the Terzltory, Spain had
to all eifect surrendsred any power to influence the situation, because there ware
only 200 spanish officials remaining in the ‘Territory.
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, looking at the situation objectively, said that Af Spain |
had turned over its authority to sorocco and hauritania without consulting the
poople, then it was the responsibility of those who took over either to legiti~
mise their presence by obtaining the assent of the people or to withdraw, leaving
the people to decide their own status, Otherwise, it was morely & transfer from ,
one form of colonial rule to another, |

completely revised its stand,

spain had alvays sald that there must be self-determination, it had now r
|
Asbassador fydbeck thought that the decision to withdraw had been taken 1
during & period when spain was wholly concerned with internal problems, I
believed that the withdrawal had been orchestrated by a .

Power other than sorocco. :

seturning to the question of «r. sydbeck's programse, ir, Souteflika said
that by visiting Tindouf, anbassador dydbeck would be able to balance what had
been told to him during his stay in “Western sahara, by obtaining the views of
the majority of the population who had fled to Algeria. ‘his was vital for
the objectivity of his mission. 7he contacts with the Saharan refugees would
enable him to seo the true spirit of the Saharan people, who were auch braver, |
more determined, more politically aware and more civilized than one aight taink, §

Anbassador Hydbeck could certainly not think that his visit to -estern F
Sahara had given hia a complete picture of the situation, une would hardly go to
South Africa to study what the africans subject to apartheid really thought.

He was dismayed at the lack of consistency shown by many States in regard
to this question, For exasmple, France supported norocco in its opposition to & |
referendun and in its claim that the Saharan population was too saall to cons-
titute a viable State, Yet France had conducted two referenda in Kayotte and M
was trying to organize another in Djibouti. It spparently did not consider F
that tnese were micro-states. l

|
i
{
'
i
‘

T § pointed out that by visiting Tindouf, Anbassador Ayddeck
would bo enabled to hear the views of the majority of the members of the former
Djema'a wno had left the Territory, ii¢ had already devoted more.than one i
meoting to hearing toe views of the minority who reamained in the Territory.
rir. Bouteflika expressed the wish to meet with Asbassador Hydbeck upon his
return from Tindouf.

ed t beck w cave for Tindouf £
rni t ve o AL

Zetum,
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[Frosident Bousedienne was accompanied by Ar, Boutefliks/

Anbassador Hydbeck said that the Secretary-Ceneral had asked hia to
convey his greetings to Prosident Boumedienne, Asmbassador Rydbeck had returned
fron Tindouf on the previous day, While there he had met with the Secretary-
Ceneral and other leaders of the Frente Policario as well as with meabders of
the Djema'a and other groups of 3aharans, He had not met with the “"government
of the Democratic Arab Repudlic of Sahara.”

His meeting with the Frente Polisario leaders had been very interesting,
They had made it clear that they expected help from the United hations and that
they would accept an act of self-determination under United Nations supervision.
It was also clear that they did not consider present circuastances made possidle
the holding of such an act,

in reply to a question by President dousedienne, hr, Rydbeck said that his
nission so far had reached no significant new developments, He sald that after
a stay in Geneva he would visit Horocco and Mauritania, He would be surprised
if Morocco and Hauritania changed attitude,

President Boumediennz asked whether Ambassador Rydbeck expacted to e
received in horocco and dauritania, He remarked that Sweden was not very
popular in those countries, He added that this fact honoured Sweden,

bassado: be sald that his nationality was not material as he was
reprosenting the Secretary-General, He was aware that there had been some
reaction to his visit in Algerias, however,

enne observed that both horocco and dauritania had
declared that the question of the decolonization of destern Sahara was closed,
It d that Asb dor Rydbeck had re-opened it,

bassador beck said that both norocco and hauritania had stated that
the question was closed before he left kew York but they nevertheless had been
willing to receive hin, 'There was no indication that their attitude had changed
when Ambassador Rydbeck spoke to the Secretary-General upon his return from
Tindouf, It had been made absolutely clear to both the Moroccan and dauritanian
Persanent Representatives in New York that Anbassador Rydbeck would seet with
representatives of the Frente Polisario during the visit to Algeria. In New
York there had been no opposition tg this,.

Certain things could have happened which would have put an end to the
nission., Onc of these could have been recognition of the government of the
Saharan Republic. rowever, Anbassador fydbeck had made it clear that he would
not meet with any persons representing the government ss such, He had, on the
contrary, met the leaders of the Frente Polisario.

President Sounedienne said that Aabassador Aahal had informed him adout
some of the observations which Ambassador Rydbeck had made on the situation
which he found in Z1 Aaiun, ° Aabassador hydbeck had been very observant and had
accurately deascribed the situation in the Territory.
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Anbassador Hydbeck sald that he had seen & great many empty houses in
&l Amiun and even more in Dachla and Samara,

Eresident doumedienne sald that there were more than 30,000 horoccan
troops, -police and adsinistrators in the northern reglon alone. lHe could cite
the nases of the allitary units involved, If desired. There was famine among
the civilian population remaining im the north, and the exodus continued,

He sald that the new colonial regise was more oppressive than its prede-
cessor, for it could be described in no other way than as a form of colonialiss,
&lnce rorocco and rauritania had acted completely outside the rules of inter-
national law, As a matter of fact the colonialisa of today was worse than the
cplonialisn of yesterday.

He sald that the Saharan Liberation Army now held about 200 Acrpccan and
dmuritanian prisoners of war, Algeria found itself obliged to shelter literally 1
tens of thousands of refugees,

For Algeria, there was a moral dilemsa. Algeria s the justice of
the mﬂl&ﬂum;. it was prepared to give thea arns Wmﬂd not send thea to
their death. 'hat was why it was isportam. that the internmational comsunity
should be made fully aware of their situatiosm,

ambassador Hydbeck sald that he had been impreased by the group of young
adaninistrators of the refugee casmps who he had met at Tindouf, They ware very
articulate and had obvicusly thought things out wery carefully,

President Sounedienne asked if Asbassador fydbeck had been told of the
atrocities commltted by the cceupying forces and thelr use of mapalm against
the Saharan populatlion.

Aabassador Fydbeck replisd that these were matters for the internatlonal
Red Cross and the United hations High Commissioner for Refugees to investigate,
He had heard reports of such things, but it was mot within his mandate from
the Secretary-General to investigate theam, idls task was a very specific one,

. nt B saidthat it was a problem for the condolence of
the whole international community and underlined that the UNHCE should send
a representative,

. He was convinced that the exodus of refugees would continue and that the
Liberation Army would maintain its assistance so long as the occupation conti-
nued, morocco would never be able to subdues the Saharan people, The situation
was & real menace to the peace and stability of the reglom.

fe believed that wing Hassan did mot fully appreclate the serlousness of
the situation. hauritania merely followed Forocco's lead, The Kauritanlan
army was now little more than & sectlom of the moroccan army for it receives
its orders from the roroccan Aigh Comsand, Units of the horoccan army were
in #auritaniz and the latter would not be able to get rid of them without a
struggle,

He wondered what was to prevent Senegal from following the example set by
horoceo and launching s "Gresn Harch” into Gaabls.
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io hoped that the oecretary-(eneral would publish Ambassador Kydbeck's
report.

Anbassador nydbeck said thal the Secrviary-General was not ragalend

“% sulnit a report on action taken by him on the basis of resolution 358 (XXX),
—

but believed that he might decide to do so.

Ambassador Rydbeck sald that his report to the Secrctary-Ceneral would
reflect the fact that he had received the information he needed fron the Govern-
ment of algeria, re added that he would, of courss, make two reports to the
Secretary~General, The first would be an oral report, which would be followed
by a written one,

President Joumedienne hoped that Azbassador Aydbeck would call the
Secretary-General's atiention to the fact that there had been serious develop-
meénts which could affect the tranquility of the reglon. Contrary to what
khorocco believed, the Saharan dossier was not closed, neither on the legal level
nor on the ground,

rne thought that the United iations had a very important role to play, If
alng nassan was willing to see reason, he thought a solution could be arrived
at. In his opinion, King Hassan was capable of resolving the situation by
hinself,

A solution must be found with the assistance of the United sations,

The Saharan people were determined to continue their resistance and they
would undoubtedly receive arms from outside, Algeria had been accused of
providing arms and fostering the Saharan liberation struggle for its own pur-
poses, but it had not done so. Algeria's only interest was to arrive at a
solution that was in conformity with intermational law, Algeria had no economic
interests in western Sahara - whether in regard to its phosphates, fisheries or
any other. It rejected any barter arrangement because 1t wished only to support
international morality and the principles laid down by the United hations,.

President Soumedienne concluded the audience by assuring aAzbassador
Rydbeck that the Government of Algeria would resain alvays at the disposal of
the Secretary-General to facilitate his task,
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@ | “AN NOTERAT EN MARKANT ANDRING | DEN ALGERISKA

ATTITYDEN | SAHARA-FRAGAN. ALGERIETS AM3ASSADUR RAHAL
. SO EN TID VISTATS | ALGERIET HADE EFTER ATERKOMSTEN
HIT FRAMHALLIT BETYDELSEN AV SEWEGALS MEDLING SOM
ALGER|ERNA TIDIGARE NEDVARDERAT. SENEGALS MEDL|HNGS—
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HANS ATERKOMST UTAN ATT HAN MED ENS EN ANTYDAN BERORT
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WALDHE I BERATTADE ATT DEN KINESISKE UNDERGENERAL SEKRE-
TERAREN TANG SOM AR ANSVARIG FQR DEKOLOMN | SER I NGSFRAGOR
{FRAGASATT O, NAGON RAPPORT FRAN GEMERALSEKRETERAREN

ILL GENERALFORSAML INGEN UVERHUVUD TAGET BEHOVER LAMNAS.
FORSAML | NGENS RESOLUTIONER KRAVER DET INTE DIREKT.

SKULLE ALGERIET INTE INSISTERA KANSKE ANDRA FORMER KUNDE
FINNAS FOR GENERALSEKRETERAREHN ATT INFORMERA FORSAML INGEN
OM ATT HAN AGERAT | FRAGAN.

RYDBECK

1 SWEDELEG NEW YORK

194




Appendix 91

SFM DOC 34
e
r—. 3 ':"
: « UTRIKESDEPARTEMENTET [J RAPPORT [] HANDBREV cmmmxfm
Pelitels avdeiningen ru:—wm
Arer Lo
Pol I 06 . | & [Sgsidndien 1976:06-2
e \ostra Selaro
Overlamnes f8r kdnnedom [ Juwm st [ |jamee st e [ = K HEMUGSTAMPLAS
O Kammgen ) Sromanks Shetechdebaredn ,Eu ol Aaei .'Uum_.g e
I e | Srotunntr Adatndeg - Revvartaban . 4] reecha ROMevaiitbe
] Chef Arbatadep [ Sestunshs Besadudep 1) Armburabns Péavivining D) Svanche Unanenclelet
) Chel Sestududen 1) Srwtuachs Pinamsdep e Jr0A e A O] Sounchn et
0] Ot Pinamadep [ Stotmnat s Phrrvarséey O Epartondivdonden D) Oyl
) Chaf Phewversdes ] Seuteneds Hamduindep o ) ammarbalioghen . lem D Sanifbroninges .
([0 Oel Hamdalodep . . ) Soctussh r Lndrtridag O®bamion  Citspertebdet ... 3
[0 Ohal bnbatrivhep [0 Mwtamats Jurdiervhadug T B pmineryinen SR [ i
1] Ohel Jordhrvhadep ] Setnnshs Sontttiaden DOm0 . e B [ et . Tem
D) Ol Jowtitiadep ) Sewtnashs Knmmmunihdop ) Sechubetprninnn B L
‘ ) Ol Kawemunibdop [0 Swtvanhs Kommundep AN Asvenaryd . . 2 o [ —
) Ol Knmmndep ) Sewtuachs Sediidep D va A e i
(] Ohef Sociaidep . ) Svtnahs UM dog 0 e -0 o
D) Ol Ui dop 2 hawhs bnd dop w0 Mot basks - %__Ai__
. ) Soeter Lidhamn [ bawkr Il Y L iy
2] Sowter Lifhary 1) hase Jurdorchadeg e 0wy s L et e———
() owter Lol - [ avhs Kmmmnibdeg ) Tebeunpraienn S « FE— e o
1) Uhrnimaden/Utnishatior . 41 an [0) hanks Sediebden B 8 e SR —. 0. - P——
() Usihamunsharons sebs . [ hohs i g e o T | - —— e
Ul sovtibution b sebs O me - 1) Marihn Blions svamcie dod — RR—
Morre basbich mloger e JG Maatve ) hhing J N v———
P ropresamtetonen 9 - _ e [ 1o L) Mmpe
jn.‘. Ao [ Meliaghors 1) Kipanbame [ Ovke o —
) Seiprnd [ e & ] - Dta
jhh x| berte 04 L) Swdbmpnt Cveg ) Wenasews
[ Avkare b | 2 o P O e D) Candvndel [ Swmbonrgrape
[T S — [ Athan O ovae ) ettt 0 Wi | b ded Oemtre
- Comnde 18 o (1) Beem [ Heey ) Omewn DO bymided [ hertedel
] D] Merdatvine o | Mg [ ek [ ekt O Temte
Mol e 4 wn J0) Bogded ) bt 1) swdieis [ B [] el Avie
Ovwrign Aden seh ) Bemghed ) Do ) Menghang 04 7] lnbarre DM 0ol [ Wellngten
. —'A--l- 12 aa | Conbprrn [ Mamad et [ Conde Lumigur [ Toharnn e
) Adds Abwbs  SOubarans [ Lages ) enrwvie e
Oviige Atriaa ¥ 0a |[) Dure-Sebunss [ Kinshase 0 Lenwke [ Meirubd
) begend O tesnse iws D) Ovetemsie [ lime O Mentvidon [ Suntiage
Iu—... 11 0 | Bemaitia [ Cormems [ Mavanns [ Masien ) Ovie
[ Antwrsepan [t ) it O Mo Yok ) Tpet
Vies Basde [ Ovionge T Laningrad D) Mvnampalis ] Do da Sunsive
Lomedet 13 on | Hambry [ Landien 2 Mantvant ] Sam Praecion
|

7 3-0L 2 oAb tod, R [Tl 12 l

Dup U 33 17311, 30 bl & 30 ex ™ Owtenn Voy Toooen
AL St et

195




